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In 2018, the Vietnamese U23 football team has 
phenomenally ignited the national trust in Vietnamese 
sports. This phenomenon has proven that victory 
does not reside in the trophy, but rather in the hearts 
of Vietnamese team’s fans, which these young 
players have fully won through their wholehearted 
and highly determined playing style. In the same vein,  
DHG Pharma, given significant challenges in the market, 
has endlessly strived for constant devotion, which 
enabled itself to proudly consolidate its special position 
in the specialists’ and public’s hearts. It has successfully 
retained its TOP 40 most valuable trademarks in 
Vietnam as well as its leading position in the domestic 
pharmaceutical industry. 
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Dear Shareholders, Investors, Partners and all employees, 

The year 2017 has been a hinge year for Vietnamese 
pharmaceutical companies, especially for leading 
enterprises such as DHG Pharma. Encountering 

increasingly fierce competition with multinational 
pharmaceutical corporations, pressure from more highly 
demanding standards in medicine productions, and the 
tightened regulations from the Ministry of Health (MOH) 
in relation to the centralised bidding activities of ETC – 
hospital channel, DHG Pharma identifies the year 2017 
as a period for strengthening its internal competence 
with respect to all aspects: management, standards and 
productivity, cooperation with strategic partners, etc. to 
prepare for its future sustainable growth. 

In 2017, DHG Pharma has successfully restructured its 
distributing system in accordance with the new, modern 
and more effective model: exchanging and operating the 
warehouse system in a way that guarantees the product 
volume, time for delivery and good product preservation; 
restructuring the sale system and expanding its market in 
a more specialised manner, aiming to guarantee revenue 
of big customers and increase sales to retail customers. 
DHG Pharma is currently upgrading the production chain 
for its effervescent tablets in accordance with PIC/s 
standard and preparing required conditions for meeting 
PMDA standards, EU for its strategic production lines. 
Although the business performance in 2017 did not 
reach the expected targets, remarkable efforts from all 
DHG Pharma staff established the crucial foundation for 
its positive business results in upcoming years. 

• Net revenue reached VND 4,063 billion, achieving 
93% of the set target, grew 7.4% compared to 2016. 

• Profit before tax reached VND 719 billion, achieving 
90% of the set target, dropped 5% compared to 2016. 

Besides these financial figures, DHG Pharma continues 
to be awarded with positive reviews and high position in 
prestigious ranking systems in relation to management 
and national brands. It is honoured in Top 40 most 
valuable brands, Top 50 of best listed companies by 
Forbes Vietnam. These are evidence for DHG Pharma’s 
endeavour in constructing its image and culture through 
its activities and contributions to community and society.

DHG Pharma has continuously promoted opportunities 
for its cooperation with strategic partners, especially in 

collaborating with Taisho shareholders to improve the 
effectiveness in its production activities and partnering with 
Vietnam Dairy Products Joint Stock Company (Vinamilk) 
to develop and distribute nutritional and healthy products, 
aiming to serve Vietnamese increasingly high demands. 

It is projected that the pharmaceutical market would 
become even more harshly competitive once the 
Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for Trans-
Pacific Partnership (CPTPP) becomes effective in 2019 
when the import-export tax applied to pharmaceutical 
products is reduced. Domestic pharmaceutical products 
will directly compete with those from neighboring countries 
such as India and China. In preparing to welcome this 
challenge, in 2018, the Board of Directors has always 
worked closely with the Executive Board so as to provide 
timely directions for production activities, closely targeting 
the three objectives approved in the Annual General 
Meeting: the net revenue of VND 4,017 billion (with 
production grows 15%); the target profit of VND 768 billion; 
and enhancing the competing capacity for DHG Pharma in 
the context of global integration.

The Board of Directors firmly believe that, with a carefully-
developed and suitable business strategy with specific 
plans for action and execution, compounded with highly 
competent, determined and responsible leaders and 
staff, DHG Pharma will confidently overcome challenges 
and obstacles to accomplish its expected targets in its 
production and business. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors of DHG Pharma, I would 
like to express my deepest gratitude and appreciation to 
all customers, shareholders, authorities and departments 
of Cantho City, and Ministry of Health for their meaningful 
support, contributions and trust in DHG Pharma over the 
years, and we look forward to continuing to receive your 
support in the future.

Chairman 
  
 
 

NGUYEN CHI THANH

MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Net revenue in 2017

VND Billion 
up 7.4% compared to 2016

4,063

With nearly 45 years of development,  
DHG Pharma always prides itself 
on being a leading pharmaceutical 
company, with the largest 
market share among domestic 
pharmaceutical companies in 
Vietnam. DHG Pharma has acted 
in accordance with the mission of  
“always providing high quality 
products and services to satisfy the 
aspiration for a more beautiful and 
healthier life”.
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OUR FOUNDATION  
FOR DEVELOPMENT IS   

KNOWLEDGE & CREATIVITY

OUR PRIDE IS   
DHG PHARMA’S 

CULTURES & IDENTITY

OUR LONG-TERM GOAL IS   
MUTUAL PROSPERITY  

WITH PARTNERS 

OUR WAYS OF DOING 
BUSINESS ARE WITH   
 RESPONSIBILITY, 
COOPERATION, & 

PROMOTION

OUR COMPETITIVE 
ADVANTAGE IS   

THE SUPERIOR 
DIFFERENTIATION

OUR HIGHEST 
COMMITMENTS ARE   
QUALITY, SAFETY,  
& EFFECTIVENESS 

OUR ACTIVITIES ALL 
CENTERED AROUND   
THE BENEFITS OF  
THE COMMUNITY

Core values

VISION - MISSION - CORE VALUES

Vision

DHG PHARMA ALWAYS PROVIDES HIGH 
QUALITY PRODUCTS AND SERVICES TO 
SATISFY THE ASPIRATION FOR A MORE 
BEAUTIFUL AND HEALTHIER LIFE.

Mission

 BEAUTIFUL&  
HEALTHIER LIFEHEALTHIER LIFE

For a  more
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Figures in: VND Billion

Indicators 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Income statement  

Net revenue 3,391 3,913 3,608 3,783 4,063

Gross profit 1,628 2,131 1,413 1,713 1,783

Profit before tax 782 722 701 757 719

Profit after tax 593 534 593 689 642

Profit of shareholders of the parent company 589 533 589 686 642

Balance sheet  

Total assets 3,081 3,483 3,363 3,945 4,087

Current assets 2,233 2,386 2,221 2,746 2,939

Non-currents assets 848 1,096 1,142 1,199 1,148

Liabilities 1,081 1,189 842 1,076 1,328

Owner’s equity 1,999 2,294 2,521 2,870 2,759

Charter capital 654 872 872 872 1,307

Cash flow

Net cash inflows from operating activities 484 301 475 645 460

Net cash outflows from investing activities (468)            (334)     (369) (278) (192)

Net cash outflows from financing activities    (122)        (82) (183) (185) (322)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (106) (115) (78) 182 (53)

Cash and cash equivalent at the beginning of the period 719 613 498 421 603

Cash and cash equivalent at the end of the period 613 498 421 603 550

Basic financial ratios 

Gross Profit Margin 48.0% 54.5% 39.2% 45.3% 43.9%

Pre-tax profit margin 23.0% 18.5% 19.4% 20.0% 17.7%

ROS 17.5% 13.6% 16.4% 18.2% 15.8%

ROA 21.7% 16.3% 17.3% 18.8% 16.0%

ROE 32.3% 25.0% 24.6% 25.5% 22.8%

Shares information

Number of shares 65,376,429 87,164,330 87,164,330 87,164,330 130,746,071

Treasury shares 10,130 10,130 222,380 - -

Outstanding shares 65,366,299 87,154,200 86,941,950 87,164,330 130,746,071

Basic earnings per share (VND/share) 6,758 5,169 5,748 4,485 4,367

Dividend (VND) 3,000 3,000 3,500 3,500 3,000

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS  
2013 - 2017

DHG PHARMA AT A GLANCE

The Company’s name in Vietnamese : Công ty Cổ phần Dược Hậu Giang

The Company’s name in English : DHG Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company

Abbreviation : DHG Pharma

Stock sticker : DHG (listed on HOSE)

Head office : 288 Bis Nguyen Van Cu, An Hoa Ward, Ninh Kieu District, Cantho City

Charter capital : VND 1,307,460,710,000

Owner’s equity (as at 31 Dec 2017) : VND 2,759,094,413,820 

Telephone : (8429) 23 891 433 

Fax : (8429) 23 895 209

Email : dhgpharma@dhgpharma.com.vn

Website : www.dhgpharma.com.vn

Certificate of business registration 
and tax code : 1800156801 
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3

4

On 14 Sept 2017 in Ho Chi Minh City, Forbes Vietnam held a 
ceremony to honor Vietnam’s 50 best listed companies in 
2017. This was the fifth time Forbes Vietnam made this list, 
and DHG Pharma has been proudly voted and honored in  
4 consecutive years. 

As the first international business publication in Vietnam, 
Forbes creates this list with the aim to select and honor the 
best companies on the stock market, based on financial 
information in terms of revenue, returns on sales, the growth 
rate and long-term prospects in the economic sectors in 
which the business operates.

With the desire to help DHG Pharma’s customers manage 
their businesses more effectively, ensuring transparency and 
creating trust with the customers, DHG Pharma has applied 
science and technology in setting up a mobile application 
called DHG Co-Prosperity (App). This is considered a solid 
advance of DHG Pharma in the customer-care journey. All 
activities, from tracking sales and payments, to monitoring 
promotion programs for better purchasing decision making, 
are easily done on smartphones. In addition, customers 
are able to thoroughly explore all DHG Pharma’s products, 
thereby their end-users will be consulted more effectively. 

DHG Pharma distinguishes itself for treating customers as associates for long-term attachment and  
co-prosperity. DHG Pharma takes care of and builds stable relationships with customers through activities 
from its heart.

STRENGTHENING ITS POSITION IN 
BEST LISTED COMPANIES IN VIETNAM TOP 50

WITH CUSTOMERS BY HEART  
FOR ALMOST HALF A CENTURYATTACHING

RETAINING 
IN VIETNAMESE PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRY

STRENGTHENING ITS POSITION IN   
MOST VALUABLE BRANDS IN VIETNAM

THE LEADING

TOP 40

1

HIGHLIGHTS IN 2017

2

In 2017, DHG PHARMA continued to retain the leading 
position in Vietnamese pharmaceutical industry in terms 
of revenue, profit and production capacity. The Company 
ranked 2nd among leading companies in terms of Pharmacy 
channel and was the sole domestic pharmaceutical 
manufacturer in the Top 10 pharmaceutical companies 
operating in Vietnam.

According to IMS Report Quarter 4/2017, DHG Pharma 
continued to retain its 2nd position in the Pharmacy 
channel and ranked 6th among all foreign and domestic 
pharmaceutical enterprises in Vietnam.

In early July, 2017, DHG PHARMA prided itself on being 
top of all companies in the same industry in the “Top 40 
Most Valuable Brands” for two consecutive years, voted 
by Forbes Vietnam with its brand valued at more than  
60 million USD. DHG Pharma’s presence in “Vietnam’s 
Top 40 most valuable brand” evidently testifies the 
successful process of brand building, not only through 
quality products and reasonable prices but also through 
efficient and diversified activities in marketing and 
communication activities. On these bases, DHG Pharma 
has increasingly enhanced its value and affirmed its 
position with shareholders, investors, customers and 
consumers.

POSITION
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INVESTMENT IN HUMAN RESOURCES 
AS THE FOUNDATION FOR DEVELOPMENT 

DHG Pharma always aims for a harmonious combination 
between the Company’s benefits with those of 
employees with a desire to bring happiness to the 
employees, motivating them to work more effectively and 
attach to the Company. DHG Pharma endlessly invests 
and develops the quality of human resources to meet 
market demands. These activities enable the Company’s 
staffs to be increasingly creative, improve skills, seize and 
master technology.

7

Since Apr 2017, DHG Pharma has started to transform and 
operate the three central warehouse systems, ensuring the 
quantity of goods, delivery time and good storage demands.

Besides the traditional channel - pharmacies, agents, 
and hospitals, DHG Pharma is the pioneer in developing 
modern distribution channels. In 2016, DHG Pharma’s 
products were available at 05 major supermarkets (Aeon, 
Big C, Satra, CitiMart and Guardian), and the Company 
developed 03 major pharmacy chains (Pharmacity, Phano 
and Mediacare) in 2017. DHG Pharma is currently having 
more than 25,000 customers and 06 brands with its 
revenue reaching over VND 100 billion.

9

PROMISING COOPERATION 
WITH THE STRATEGIC SHAREHOLDER 

DHG Pharma’s strategic shareholder - Taisho has 
supported the Company by sending their experts and 
personnel to join DHG Pharma’s senior Executive Board. 
DHG Pharma upgraded the effervescent line in accordance 
with PIC/s standard and is preparing conditions for several 
strategic products to meet PMDA and EU standards; which 
aims to promote the Company’s quality system to a more 
highly standardized and professional level. Moreover, 
DHG Pharma is in collaboration with Taisho to carry out 
the “Increasing the productivity of Supply Chain” Project, 
helping the Company set up strategic inventories, creating 
suitable ordering system in line with the production and 
business plan (Just in time).

8  TAISHO

BEING AN ENTERPRISE WITH A PROFESSIONAL, 
 WIDESPREAD AND DIVERSIFIED NETWORKDISTRIBUTION

BUILDING A DEDICATED  
BRAND WITH THE JOURNEY HUMANITY

Since 2016, DHG Pharma has gradually shaped the 
new strategy for the coming years, which promotes  
DHG Pharma branding as a symbol of humanity.  
In accordance with this strategy, a series of activities are 
oriented to the community from the North to the South.

In 2017, DHG Pharma organized 02 times of blood 
donations with a participation of 186 employees, 
donated 241 blood units which are stored at Cantho 
City Hematology Center. For two consecutive years,  
2016 - 2017, DHG Pharma pioneered in promoting 
the image of the health sector through the 
gameshow “Special White Blouse Mission”,  
building a beautiful image of health workers in the white 
blouse. In addition, the Company also carried out 80 
programs of free medical examination and treatment for 
more than 45,800 turns in provinces and cities across the 
country with a total expense of over VND 3.3 billion.

5

LIFTING THE FOREIGN  
OWNERSHIP LIMIT (FOL) TO 100%

The Annual General Meeting (AGM) 2016 and the  
General Meeting by solicitation of written consents (for the 
1st time in 2017)  approved the FOL lifting to 100% (room 
lifting). Simultaneously, the AGM has authorized the Board 
of Directors (BOD) and the Board of Management (BOM) 
to establish a project team that takes charge in solving 
any issues related to FOL lifting on the basis of conformity 
with Vietnamese law, seizing opportunities and strengths, 
minimizing challenges and impacts on the strategic goals 
until 2020 as well as on vision, mission, core values and 
trademark of DHG Pharma. 

At the AGM 2017 dated 28 Mar 2018, the BOD submitted 
to the AGM the plan for merging DHG PP1 and DHG 
Pharma Ltd. to form a dependent accounting Branch of 
DHG Pharma in Hau Giang Province. It is projected that 
after the merger, DHG Pharma continues to carry out FOL 
procedures with State Securities Commission of Vietnam 
and Vietnam Securities Depository in Quarter 3/2018. 

6

HIGHLIGHTS IN 2017
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40
TOP

MOST VALUABLE  
BRANDS  

IN VIET NAM

50
TOP

BEST VIETNAMESE  
LISTED COMPANIES 

50
TOP

VIETNAM’S  
BEST PERFORMING 

COMPANIES

22
VIETNAMESE HIGH 

QUALITY GOODS

YEARS

10
TOP

BEST ANNUAL REPORTS 
FOR 10 CONSECUTIVE 

YEARS

2
TOP

SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT REPORT

In early July 2017, DHG Pharma prided itself on being in the 

“Top 40 Most Valuable Brands” voted by Forbes Vietnam with 

its brand valued at more than USD 60 million.

Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong, Acting General Director of  

DHG Pharma was given Top 50 best Vietnamese listed 

companies reward by Forbes Vietnam.

Mr. Tran Ngo Toan Phuc - DHG Pharma’s representative was 

given the certificate of Vietnamese High-Quality Goods in 2017.Mr. Tran Ngo Toan Phuc - DHG Pharma’s representative 

in the event honoring Top 50 Vietnam’s best performing 

companies in Vietnam organized by Vietnam Investment 

Review Magazine.

Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga, a BOD member of DHG Pharma 

received a medal for winning the best annual reports for  

10 consecutive years.

Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga, a BOD member of DHG Pharma 

received the second prize for the Sustainable Report in 2017.

DISTINGUISHED &  
SPOTLIGHT AWARDS IN 2017

TOP
MOST VALUABLE  
BRANDS IN VIET NAM

voted by Forbes Vietnam (valued at USD 60 million,  
ranked 22nd in Vietnam and ranked 1st in the health sector). 

40CONSECUTIVE 
YEARS 

CONSECUTIVE 
YEARS 

CONSECUTIVE 
YEARS 

CONSECUTIVE 
YEARS 

CONSECUTIVE 
YEARS 

CONSECUTIVE 
YEARS 

RUNNER UP 
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT REPORT

TOP
BEST VIETNAMESE 
LISTED COMPANIES

voted by Forbes Vietnam.
50

TOP
VIETNAM’S BEST 
PERFORMING COMPANIES

organized by Vietnam Investment Review Magazine.
50

VIETNAMESE HIGH QUALITY GOODS  
voted by consumers.

TOP BEST ANNUAL REPORTS
being 01 of 04 companies that received a medal for  
10 consecutive years winning the best annual report.

10

1918 www.dhgpharma.com.vn
ANNUAL REPORT 2017

REACHING 
TARGETS



DHG Pharma’s prestige and branding have been unitedly 
constructed, throughout its 44 years of establishment and 
development, by successive generations. In such a process, 
experience of previous generations have provided a solid 
foundation and paved the way for its combination with the creativity 
and strengths characterised in subsequent generations who are 
highly qualified and professionally trained. Such an integration 
has created a harmonious and solidated unity that is willing to 

welcome any challenges in the global integrated marketplace. 

      UNITED 
           STRENGTHS

INTRODUCTION OF DHG PHARMA
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2010

Successfully implemented the strategy “tripod”: 
shareholders, customers and employees.

2011

Successfully implemented the “Factory Productivity 
Improvement Project” and the “Project to improve 
performance of subsidiaries”.

2012

The topic “Today’s solution is tomorrow’s issue” 
brought high efficiency to the company in cost 
control, risk management and policies.

2013

Completed the construction of the new  
Non-Betalactam factory and DHG Printing and 
Packaging 1 Plant Project in Tan Phu Thanh Industrial 
Zone.

2014

Celebrated 40th years of establishing DHG 
Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company and 10 years 
of equitization.

2015

Laid the groundwork for restructuring and internally 
preparing for the new growth period.

2016

The first year of the five-year strategy 2016-
2020, the beginning of sustainable and effective 
development.

2017

Smooth transitions of the 2 senior positions in the 
Company: Chairman of the BOD and General Director.

2017
40 YEARS OF DEVELOPMENT  
- 10 YEARS OF EQUITIZATION

SUSTAINABLE AND EFFICIENT DEVELOPMENT

2010 - 2014

KEY MILESTONES

1974

DHG Pharma was formerly the 2/9 Pharmaceutical 
SOE Factory and was founded on 02 Sept 1974  
at Kenh 5 Dat Set, Khanh Lam Commune, U Minh 
District, Ca Mau Province. Now it is known as Van Khanh 
Commune, An Minh District, Kien Giang Province. 

Post 30 Apr 1975

The Civilian Medical Board of the South-West 
was dissolved; the 2/9 Pharmaceutical SEO was 
designated to be under the management of Hau 
Giang - Department of Health.

1982 
Hau Giang Pharmaceutical Integrated Factory was 
established based on the consolidation of three 
units: 2/9 Pharmaceutical SOE Factory, Secondary 
Level Pharmaceutical Company and the Medicinal 
Materials Station. 

1988 
People’s Committee of Hau Giang province decided 
to merge Medical Material and Equipment Supply 
Company into Hau Giang Pharmaceutical Integrated 
Factory.

02 Sept 2004

Hau Giang Pharmaceutical Integrated Factory 
equitized to become DHG Pharmaceutical Joint 
Stock Company.

2006

DHG Pharma’s stocks were listed on HOSE and have 
been officially traded from 21 Dec 2006.

2007

Reconfirmed the vision, mission and 7 core values. 
Increased the charter capital from VND 80 billion to 
VND 200 billion.

2008

Implemented modern and effective management 
tools: 10.5S and Balance Score Card.

2009 

Successfully implemented the strategy -  
20/80 products, customers and personnel.

2/9/1974 LISTED ON HO CHI MINH STOCK EXCHANGE

PRECURSOR OF DHG PHARMA

2006 - 2009
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OTHER BUSINESS LINES

Printing and Packaging Fuji Medic Clinic Raw materials trading

DIETARY SUPPLEMENTS AND COSMECEUTICALS

PHARMACEUTICALS

BUSINESS LINES & 
MARKET REGIONS 

The core business lines of DHG Pharma and its subsidiaries are divided  
into 3 main product lines, comprising of:

In addition, DHG Pharma and its subsidiaries also provide several supporting services 
such as distribution of pharmaceuticals, raw materials trading, processing, printing, 

packaging, tourism and mobile clinic.

BUSINESS LINES

 COSMECEUTICALS 

PHARMACEUTICALS

DIETARY 
SUPPLEMENTS  

Stroke prevention 
JAPANESE RAW MATERIALS Liver care

Analgesic - Antipyretic

2524 www.dhgpharma.com.vn
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MERCHANDISESFINISHED PRODUCTS SERVICES

Fuji Medic Mobile Clinic

Finished products sales are 
sales from DHG Pharma’s in-
house products that have been 
considered the Company’s core 
business. For management 
and branding development 
purposes, DHG Pharma divides 
its product portfolios, based 
on treatment functions, into 10 
categories: Antibiotics (Cate 1), 
Analgesic - Antipyretic (Cate 2), 
Respiratory (Cate 3), Nutrition 
(Cate 4), Musculoskeletal (Cate 
5), Gastrointestinal (Cate 6), 
Neurology - Ophthalmology 
(Cate 7), Cardiovascular - 
Diabetes (Cate 8), Hepatobiliary 
(Cate 9), Skin care (Cate 10).

In order to effectively utilize 
the distribution network, DHG 
Pharma distributes its products 
to partners such as Mega, MSD, 
etc. and trades raw materials.

After lifting the Foreign 
Ownership Limit to 100% 
(room lifting), DHG Pharma 
is not permitted to distribute 
pharmaceuticals in accordance 
with the regulations on foreign 
ownership limit.

Services sales are sales from 
external operating activities of 
subsidiaries such as DHG Travel 
and Fuji Medic as well as income 
from distribution commission.

SALES BREAKDOWN BY FUNCTIONS

% OF TOTAL SALES% OF TOTAL SALES% OF TOTAL SALES

SALES  
FROM 2013 TO 2017

SALES  
FROM 2013 TO 2017

SALES  
FROM 2013 TO 2017

75.2% 23.4% 1.4%
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(Figures in: VND Billion) (Figures in: VND Billion)(Figures in: VND Billion)

With the desire to bring a more 
beautiful and healthier life to 
all walks of life, DHG Pharma  
constantly improves its 
product quality, studies and 
collaboratively develops high - 
tech pharmaceuticals products. 
One of the most important 
strategies of DHG Pharma 
is to retain its position as the  
biggest Generic pharmaceutical 
enterprise in Vietnam.  
At present, the Company 
has 250 pharmaceutical visa 
numbers with a wide range of 
product categories.

In recent years, dietary 
supplements and cosmeceuticals 
are gradually gaining its 
popularity in Vietnam, playing an 
important role in supplementing 
necessary nutrients for user’s 
body, preventing diseases, and 
improving their health. Taking 
cognizance of this importance, 
the Company has continuously 
promoted its research and 
cooperation in developing 
dietary supplements and 
cosmeceuticals.  At present, the 
Company has 60 registered visa 
numbers for dietary supplements 
and cosmeceuticals. 

DHG Pharma and its subsidiaries 
also provide several supporting 
services such as raw materials 
trading, outsourcing, printing 
and packaging, tourism services 
and mobile clinics. These 
business areas added value 
to DHG Pharma, expanded its 
networks and strengthened 
its stable relationships with 
customers. However, due to 
restricted business lines after 
FOL lifting, DHG Pharma will 
cease its services in distributing 
pharmaceutical products, 
trading raw materials, etc.

% OF TOTAL SALES% OF TOTAL SALES% OF TOTAL SALES

SALES  
FROM 2013 TO 2017

(Figures in: VND Billion)(Figures in: VND Billion)(Figures in: VND Billion)

SALES  
FROM 2013 TO 2017

SALES  
FROM 2013 TO 2017

9.3%82.3%
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SALES BREAKDOWN BY BUSINESS LINES

8.4%

DIETARY SUPPLEMENTS  
& COSMECEUTICALS 

PHARMACEUTICALS OTHERS 

BUSINESS LINES & 
MARKET REGIONS 
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Vietnam
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40 
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33.5 22.0

EXPORT SALES 2013 - 2017 (Figures in: VND billion)

DHG Pharma has developed its sales network in export 
markets such as Laos, Cambodia, Myanmar, Singapore, 
Malaysia, Moldova, Russia, Mongolia, Nigeria, Ukraine, 
Yemen and etc.

The export sales is targeted to reach USD 4.5 million (VND 
101 billion) by 2020 from targeted investments for the 
export markets. 

Export sales  
in 2017

VND billion 
up 19.1% YOY50

MARKET REGIONS

DHG Pharma’s Pharmaceutical 
products, Dietary supplements 
and Cosmeceuticals are mainly 
distributed to domestic and 
foreign customers through 
the two following distribution 
channels:

• Pharmacy channel: agents, 
private pharmacies, hospital 
pharmacies, distribution 
companies and retail stores …

• Hospital channel:    hospitals,  
clinics and medical centers...

DHG Pharma maintains  a 
widespread distribution system 
from the North to the South.

≥500
Hospitals  

nationwide

≥ 25,000
Customers

(of which over half of 
the customers are loyal 
customers, long-term 

customers and members  
of the “Co-Prosperity 

Club”.)

BRANCHES 
NATIONWIDE

36

Being an enterprise with the largest and most diversified distribution network in the country, DHG Pharma’s products 
are available at all pharmacies in all provinces and hospitals nationwide. As at 31 Dec 2017, DHG Pharma’s 
distribution system has the following outstanding features: 

≥1,500
Sales staff

≥162
Supermarkets, 
convenience 

stores and 3 major 
pharmacy chains   

(Pharmacity, Phano, 
Mediacare).

BUSINESS LINES & 
MARKET REGIONS 

Truong Sa 
Island

Hoang Sa 
Island

Phu Quoc

Con Dao 

Phu Quy
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On 3 Oct 2016, the BOD approved of the Company 
transitioning the corporate model of 11 distribution 
subsidiaries to branches directly under the parent 
Company.

Dissolution progresses are as follows: Completed 
all dissolution procedures for 09/11 subsidiaries, the 
remaining 2 subsidiaries have not been dissolved: TOT 
Pharma and B&T Pharma.

For TOT Pharma: On 19 June 2017, the BOD approved 
the policy from dissolving to transferring the entire charter 
capital of TOT Pharma One Member Limited Company 

DHG Pharma has redeemed 100% of the charter capital of 
Song Hau Pharma (SH Pharma). SH Pharma is expected to 
be dissolved in Quarter 2/2018. The Company’s operation 
shall be transferred to the representative office in Vi Thanh. 

On 07 Feb 2018, DHG Pharma changed the name of 
its branch from DHG Pharma Branch in Cantho to DHG 
Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company - Mekong Branch. 

On 28 Mar 2018, the AGM 2017 approved the merger of 
DHG Pharma Ltd. and DHG PP1 to be a dependent cost-
accounting branch of DHG Pharma in Hau Giang Province 
- hereinafter referred to as Hau Giang Branch.

TRANSITION OF CORPORATE MODEL IN 2017

PROJECTED CHANGES OF CORPORATE MODEL IN 2018

by way of open bidding. On 31 July 2017, the Company 
completed transferring all rights and obligations of the 
Company within the scope of capital transfer at TOT 
Pharma to the transferee.

For B&T Pharma: the company has not been dissolved 
in 2017 as Ben Tre Tax Department is finalizing the 
company’s personal income tax.

On 14 July 2017, the BOD approved the dissolution of   
DHG Travel One Member Limited Company (DHG 
Travel). The official date of dissolution is 31 Dec 2017. 
All procedures for the dissolution of DHG Travel are in 
progress.

CORPORATE MODEL

No. Model in 2017 Targeted model in 2018

1. DHG Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Plant in 
Cantho - under the parent Company DHG Pharma Remain unchanged

2.
DHG Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Plant in Hau 
Giang - a wholly-owned subsidiary of DHG Pharma - 
DHG Pharmaceutical One Member Limited Company

DHG Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Plant in Hau Giang  
- under Hau Giang Branch of DHG Pharma

3.
Printing and Packaging Plant in Hau Giang - a wholly-
owned subsidiary of DHG Pharma - DHG Packaging 
and Printing 1 One Member Limited Company

Printing and Packaging Plant in Hau Giang  
- under Hau Giang Branch of DHG Pharma

4. Vinh Hao Algae Processing Joint Stock Company 
(SPIVIHA) Remain unchanged

5. Fuji Medic Limited Liability Company (Fuji Medic) Remain unchanged

6. DHG Travel One Member Limited Company Dissolved

7. Song Hau Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company 
(SH Pharma) Dissolved and converted into Vi Thanh branch

DHG PHARMACEUTICAL 
MANUFACTURING PLANT IN CANTHO

DHG PHARMACEUTICAL  
MANUFACTURING PLANT IN HAU GIANG

PACKAGING & PRINTING 
PLANT IN HAU GIANG (RAW MATERIALS SUPPLYING )

DISTRIBUTION NETWORK  
36 BRANCHES

(This model has been applied since 01 Jan 2018)

POLYCLINIC
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DHG TRAVEL ONE MEMBER LIMITED 
COMPANY (DHG TRAVEL)

 
Official operation date: 01 Apr 2008
Time of dissolution: 31 Dec  2017
Head office: Cantho City
Charter capital: VND 05 billion
Business lines: Domestic travel services and advertising 
services.

FUJI MEDIC CO., LTD  
(FUJI MEDIC)

 
Official operation date: 27 July 2016
Head office: Cantho City 
Charter capital: VND 26.946 billion  
Business lines: Polyclinic and dental clinic 

SONG HAU PHARMACEUTICAL JOINT 
STOCK COMPANY (SH PHARMA)

 
Issuance date of enterprise registration certificate 
and investment certificate: 20 July 2007
Head Office: Vi Thanh City, Hau Giang Province
Charter capital: VND 05 billion (At present, DHG Pharma 
redeemed 100% of the charter capital)
Business lines: Trading of pharmaceuticals, medical raw 
materials, devices and tools, dietary supplements and 
cosmeceuticals.

VINH HAO ALGAE PROCESSING JOINT 
STOCK COMPANY (SPIVIHA)

 
Official operation date: 01 Apr 2008
Head office: Vinh Hao, Tuy Phong, Binh Thuan Province
Charter capital: VND 12 billion
Business lines: Manufacture and trading of Spirulina 
Algae

100%
owned by DHG Pharma

51%
owned by DHG Pharma

100%
owned by DHG Pharma

31.36%
owned by DHG Pharma

SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES

Companies that are owning more than 50% of DHG Pharma’s share capital/equity: None

Companies in which DHG Pharma is owning more than 50% of share capital/equity

As at 31 Dec 2017, DHG Pharma had a total of 05 subsidiaries (DHG Pharma Ltd., DHG PP1, DHG Travel, SH Pharma and Fuji 
Medic) and 01 affiliate (Spiviha). 

DHG Pharma is restructuring its operating system in a streamlined and efficient direction. Additionally, the Company is 
implementing its FOL (Foreign Ownership Limit) lifting policy. 

It is targeted that in 2018 only one subsidiary - Fuji Medic and one affiliate - Spiviha shall be remained after DHG Pharma 
restructures its system.

DHG PHARMACEUTICAL ONE MEMBER 
LIMITED COMPANY 

Issuance date of enterprise registration certificate and 
investment certificate:  16 Aug 2010.

Head office: Tan Phu Thanh Industrial Zone, Chau 
Thanh A District, Hau Giang Province

Charter capital: VND 540 billion

Business lines: Manufacture and trading of 
pharmaceuticals, dietary supplements and cosmetics.

DHG PACKAGING AND PRINTING 1 ONE 
MEMBER LIMITED COMPANY (DHG PP1)

Official operation date: 01 Jan 2014

Head office: Tan Phu Thanh Industrial Zone, Chau 
Thanh A District, Hau Giang Province

Charter capital: VND 80 billion

Business lines: Manufacture of corrugated paper and 
paperboard and containers of paper and paperboard; 
manufacture and trading of plastic, aluminum and 
paper containers; Printing services.

100%
owned by DHG Pharma

100%
owned by DHG Pharma
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Deputy General Director  
in charge of Finance and Back - Office

Finance Dept. Chief Accountant

Accounting 
Dept.

Accountants  
of Branches Construction 

Dept.

Environment 
Dept.

Legal Dept.

IT Dept.

Investment

Management 
Accounting

Finance/IR

Finance  
Director

Distribution Center 
Director

THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORY

Regional 
Warehouses 

System

Transportation 
System

Deputy General Director  
in charge of Marketing

Pharmacy Channel  
Director 

Hospital - Bidding 
Channel Director 

Marketing  
Director

Strategic 
Marketing

Communication

International 
Business 

Development

Trade 
Marketing

Regional 
Director

Regional 
Director

Team leader

Distribution 
branch system

ORGANIZATIONAL APPARATUS

Deputy General Director 
in charge of Production & Supply Chain 2

Production  
Director

Technical  
Director

Quality  
Director

Human Resources 
Director

Supply Chain 
Director

Factories RD & Construction 
Standards Dept.

Quality 
Management 

Dept.

Human 
Resources 

 Dept.

Electrical & 
Mechanical Dept.

Regulatory 
Affairs Dept.

Internal Control 
 Dept.

Quality Control 
 Dept.

Administration 
 Dept.

Deputy General Director 
 in charge of Production & Supply Chain 1

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

GENERAL DIRECTOR

Finished raw materials & 
packaging warehouse

Packaging Plant

Purchasing Dept.

Planning Dept.

The organizational apparatus has been applied since 01 April 
2018 and it is divided into 3 Sectors including Marketing, 
Finance & Back - Office, Production and Supply Chain. All 
Sectors smoothly collaborated together to form a unified and 
cooperative team and create the strength for a sustainable 
development of DHG Pharma in the future.
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Mr. JUN KURODA

Non-executive BOD Member 
Born in: 1956

Professional qualifications: MBA 
at Golden Gate University, School of 
Management, USA 
Positions held in other organizations
President Director at PT. Taisho 
Pharmaceutical Indonesia Tbk, 
Compania International de Comercio, 
S.A.P., I de C.V. (Mexico), Taisho 
Pharmaceutical California Inc.
Managing Director of Taisho 
Pharmaceutical Singapore Private 
Limited
Chairman of the Board of Taisho Co., 
Ltd. Shanghai
Director of Hoepharma Holdings 
Sdn. Bhd. (Malaysia), Taisho 
Pharmaceutical (M) Sdn Bhd. 
(Malaysia), Osotspa Taisho 
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Thailand), 
Taisho Vietnam Co., Ltd.
Employment history

From 1984:  Taisho Pharmaceutical 
Co., Ltd. (Japan)
2010 - 2011: Director at International 
Business Headquarters - Taisho
2012 - Now: Managing Director, 
Head of International Business 
Headquarters  - Taisho
15/08/2016 - Now: Member of the 
BOD Term III - DHG Pharma 

Ms. DANG THI THU HA

Non - executive BOD member 
Head of the Audit and Risk 
Management Subcommittee 
Born in: 1973

Professional qualifications: Master 
of Business Administration (Business 
Administration Institute)
Positions held in other organizations
Deputy Head - Investment Dept. 3 - SCIC
BOD member - Vietnam Dairy Products JSC 
(Vinamilk)
BOD member - Binh Minh Plastic JSC
BOD member - Vinacontrol Group JSC
BOD member - Benovas Oncology JSC
Employment history
07/1995 - 06/2000: In charge of Import/
Export Dept. - Hanoi Kitting JSC
09/2000 - 03/2007: Supervisor of Accounting 
Compliance Dept. - Mizuho Bank Hanoi
06/2007 - 06/2008: Employee  of Corporate 
Finance Consulting Dept. - Trang An 
Securities JSC 
07/2008 - 08/2012: Specialist of Capital 
Management Dept. 4 - SCIC
08/2012 - 06/2015: Deputy Head of Capital 
Management Dept. 4 - SCIC
06/2015 - Now: Deputy Head of Investment 
Dept. 3- SCIC
07/2017- Now: Member of the BOD Term III 
(2014 -2018) - DHG Pharma

Mr. TRAN CHI LIEM 

Independent BOD member 
Head of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Subcommittee 
Born in: 1950

Professional qualifications: Assoc. 
Prof. - Dr. - Doctor of Medicine.

Positions held in other organizations
Senior specialist in Health Sector 
Employment history
1967 - 1975: Civil Medical Service of 
Kien Giang province.
1976 - 1983: Vice principal of Kien 
Giang Medical College.
1983 - 1987: Principal of Kien Giang 
Medical College.
1988 - 1998: Director of Kien Giang 
Medical Service.
1999 - 2010: Deputy Minister of 
Ministry of Health.
02/2010: Retirement.
28/04/2014 - Now: Member of the 
BOD Term III - DHG Pharma 

Mr. PHAN MINH TIEN

Independent BOD member 
Member of the Strategic 
Subcommittee
Born in: 1970

Professional qualifications: Bachelor 
of Business Studies (Moscow Institute 
of Management, Russia) 
Positions held in other organizations
Marketing Executive Director - Vietnam 
Dairy Products JSC (Vinamilk) 
Employment history
2008 - 2013: Deputy General Director in 
charge of Food Sector - Unilever Vietnam
2013 - 2014: Marketing Director - 
Samsung Vietnam
2014 - Now: Marketing Executive 
Director - Vinamilk
04/2018 - Now: Independent BOD 
member Term III - DHG Pharma

PROFILE OF  
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE BOARD 

Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong 

Member of the BOD
Member of the Strategic Subcommittee
Acting General Director 
Born in: 1974

Professional qualifications: EMBA _ UBI (Belgium)
Positions held in other organizations
Chairman of the BOD of Song Hau Pharmaceutical 
Joint Stock Company (SH Pharma)
Employment history 
1993 - 1999: In charge of advertising programs, 
Sales & Marketing - Unilever Vietnam, Vietnam Food 
Industries JSC, Foremost Vietnam.
2000 - 01/2003: Employee of Planning Dept. - Hau 
Giang Pharmaceutical Integrated Factory.
02/2003 - 09/2004: In charge of product development 
and branding activities of Hau Giang Pharmaceutical 
Integrated Factory.
09/2004 - 10/2005: Branding Manager, Vice Head of 
Marketing Dept. - DHG Pharma.
10/2005 - 04/2012: Marketing Director, Head of 
Marketing Dept. - DHG Pharma
05/2012 - now: Deputy General Director - DHG Pharma
04/2006 - 04/2009:   Member of the BOD Term I  
- DHG Pharma
04/2010 - Now: Member of the BOD Term II and Term III  
- DHG Pharma
09/2017 - Now: Acting General Director - DHG Pharma

Mr. NGUYEN CHI THANH

Chairman of the BOD
Head of the Strategic Subcommittee 
Born in: 1972

Professional qualifications: Master  
(National Institute for Japanese Policy Studies)
Positions held in other organizations 
Deputy General Director of State Capital Investment 
Corporation (SCIC)
Vice-chairman of the BOD of Tien Phong PlasticJSC
Member of the BOD of Vietnam Dairy Products JSC 
(Vinamilk)
Member of the BOD of Military Commercial Joint Stock 
Bank (MB Bank)
Member of the BOD of Vietnam Broadcasting Tower 
Investment JSC
Employment history
1995 - 2006: Deputy Head -  Department of Foreign 
Exchange Management - State Bank of Vietnam
10/2006 - 11/2008: Deputy Head of the Strategic 
Department - SCIC
11/2008 -06/2010: Head of the Strategic Department - SCIC
07/2010 - 04/2013: Head of the Risk Management 
Department - SCIC  
04/2013 - 08/2014: Head of the Capital Management 
Department 3 - SCIC
09/2014 - 01/2015: Director of Southern Branch - SCIC
02/2015 - 07/2015: Head of the Capital Management 
Department 3 - SCIC
07/2015 - Now: Deputy General Director - SCIC
10/2017- Now: Chairman of the BOD Term III (2014 -2018) 
- DHG Pharma

Mdm. PHAM THI VIET NGA  

Non-executive BOD member 
Deputy Head of the Strategic Subcommittee 
Born in: 1951

Professional qualifications: Ph.D in Economics  
(HCMC University of Economics) & BSc (Pharma)  
(University of Medicine and Pharmacy).
Positions held in other organizations
Chairwoman of the Board of members of DHG Pharma Ltd. 
Chairwoman of the Board of members of Fuji Medic 
Employment history
07/1980 - 07/1986: Head of Thot Not Drugstore. 
07/1986 - 04/1988: Director of Hau Giang Medical - Material 
Supply Company.
04/1988 - 09/2004: Director of Hau Giang Pharmaceutical 
Integrated Factory.
09/2004 - 07/2012: Chairwoman Term I and Term II cum 
General Director of DHG Pharma.
07/2012 - 04/2014: Chairwoman Term II of DHG Pharma.
05/2014 - 08/2017: Member of the BOD Term III cum 
General Director of DHG Pharma
09/2017 - Now: Member of the BOD Term III of DHG Pharma.
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Ms. Le Thi Hong Nhung 

Member of the Strategic Subcommittee
Finance Director 
The BOD’s Secretary  
Born in: 1981

Professional qualifications: EMBA - UBI (Belgium)

Employment history

2004 - 2005: Credit officer - VietinBank Cantho.

2006 - 6/2010: Financial and Investment Analyst  
- DHG Pharma.

07/2010 - 08/2016: Head of Investor Relations Board (IR) 
- DHG Pharma, the BOD’s Secretary (since Nov 2011).

08/2016 - 04/2017: Head of Finance Dept., the BOD’s 
Secretary - DHG Pharma. 

05/2017 - Now: Finance Director cum Head of Finance 
Dept., the BOD’s Secretary and the person in charge of 
Corporate Governance (since Jan 2018) - DHG Pharma.

Mr. LAM DIEU PHI  

Member of the Strategic Subcommittee 
Marketing Director 
Born in: 1977

Professional qualifications: EMBA - UBI (Belgium)

Employment history 

2003 - 09/2004: Employee of Planning Dept.  
-  Hau Giang Pharmaceutical Integrated Factory.

09/2004 - 2006: Head of Product Development Team 
- DHG Pharma.

2006 - 2007: Head of Branding Management Division 
- DHG Pharma.

2008 - 2009: Head of Product Development Division 
- DHG Pharma.

2009 - 06/2012: Strategic assistant for General 
Director of DHG Pharma, Deputy Head of Marketing 
Dept. - DHG Pharma and Deputy Director of Research 
Center - DHG Pharma.

06/2012 - 04/2016: Head of Marketing Dept.  
- DHG Pharma.

04/2016 - Now: Marketing Director - DHG Pharma.

Mr. Ho Buu Huan 

Chief Accountant 
Born in: 1980

Professional qualifications: Master of Finance - 
Banking (Cantho University)

Employment history

2003 - 2004: Accountant - Cantho Motilen 
Construction Materials.

12/2004 - 2011: Banking accountant - DHG Pharma.

11/2011 - 10/2014: Deputy Head of Financial 
Management Dept. -  DHG Pharma.

11/2014 - 07/2016: Chief Accountant of DHG Pharma Ltd. 

07/2016 - 12/2016: Person in charge of Accounting 
cum Head of Accounting Dept. - DHG Pharma. 

01/2017 - Now: Chief Accountant,  
Head of Accounting Dept. -  DHG Pharma.

PROFILE OF  
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE BOARD 

Mr. TOMOYUKI KAWATA  

Member of the Strategic Subcommittee 
Deputy General Director in charge of 
Production, Supply Chain, Training and 
Technical Transfer
Born in: 1966

Professional qualifications: Bachelor Degree of 
Pharmacology (Tokyo University of Pharmacy and Life 
Sciences), Japan

Employment history 

04/1990 - 09/2010: Manager of Domestic Production, 
Japan Headquarters -Taisho Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. 
Japan. 

10/2010 - 03/2013: Manager of Overseas Production 
Management of International Business Headquarters - 
Taisho Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Japan.

04/2013 - 03/2014: General Manager of Okayama Plant 
- Taisho Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Japan.  

04/2014 - 09/2014: Head of Quality Control of 
Domestic of Production, Japan Headquarters - Taisho 
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Japan. 

10/2014 - Now: Director of International Technical 
Operations - Taisho Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Japan. 

10/2017 - Now: Deputy General Director in charge 
of Production, Supply Chain, Training and Technical 
Transfer - DHG Pharma. 

Ms. NGUYEN NGOC DIEP

Deputy General Director in charge of 
Production and Supply Chain 
Born in: 1968

Professional qualification: Postgraduate education 
junior - PGJ.

Employment history

12/1991 - 06/1995: Employee of QC Dept.  
- Hau Giang Pharmaceutical Integrated Factory.

07/1995 - 12/1996: Deputy Head of QC Dept.  
- Hau Giang Pharmaceutical Integrated Factory.

01/1997 - 06/1997: Deputy Head of R&D Dept.  
- Hau Giang Pharmaceutical Integrated Factory.

06/1997 - 09/2004: Head of QC Dept.  
- Hau Giang Pharmaceutical Integrated Factory.

09/2004 - 04/2012: Head of QC Dept. - DHG Pharma.

05/2012 - Now: Deputy General Director  
- DHG Pharma.

Mr. LE CHANH DAO 

Deputy General Director in charge of 
Finance and Back - Office 
Born in: 1959

Professional qualifications: Master of Business 
Administration (HCMC University of Economics).

Employment history

1984 - 1985: Head of Planning Dept. - Hau Giang 
State-owned Livestock 1 Factory.

1985 - 09/1989: Deputy Head of Planning Dept. - Hau 
Giang Livestock United Factory.

09/1989 - 11/1989: Deputy Head of Accounting Dept. - 
Hau Giang Pharmaceutical Integrated Factory.

11/1989 - 03/1997: Chief Accountant - Hau Giang 
Pharmaceutical Integrated Factory.

03/1997 - 09/2004: Deputy Director - Hau Giang 
Pharmaceutical Integrated Factory.

02/09/2004 - 28/04/2014: Member of the BOD Term I 
and Term II - DHG Pharma.

09/2004 - Now: Deputy General Director  
- DHG Pharma.
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PROFILE OF PREDECESSORS

INTRODUCTION OF 
DHG PHARMA

Mr. HOANG NGUYEN HOC

Chairman of the BOD
Born in: 1957

Professional qualifications: Master 
of Business Administration.
Employment history 
1999 - 2003: Deputy Director of 
Department of Entrepreneurial 
Finance - Ministry of Finance.
2003 - 2006: Director of Department 
of Entrepreneurial Finance - Ministry 
of Finance.
2007 - 05/2016: Deputy General 
Director of SCIC.
 05/2016 - 09/2017: Deputy General 
Director in charge of SCIC.
28/04/2014 - 25/10/2017: BOD 
Chairman Term III - DHG Pharma. 

Mr. LE DINH BUU TRI

Vice Chairman of the BOD
Born in: 1970

Professional qualifications: Master of 
Commerce and International Finance 
(University of Leeds Metropolitan, UK), 
Faculty of Law (HCMC University).
Employment history  
2000 - 2001: Lawyer, Deacons Law Firm.
2001 - 2005: Legal Director of Manulife 
Insurance Company, Vietnam.
2005 - 2006: Deputy General Director 
of Manulife Asset Management 
Vietnam Co. Ltd. 
2006 - 2007: General Director of 
Manulife Asset Management Vietnam 
Co. Ltd.
2007 - Now: Director of the Southern 
Region Branch of SCIC.
25/04/2009 - 28/04/2014: Member 
of the BOD Term II - DHG Pharma.
28/04/2014 - 25/10/2017: Vice 
Chairman of the BOD Term III  
- DHG Pharma.

Mr. SHUHEI TABATA

Independent BOD Member
Born in: 1954

Professional qualifications: Bachelor 
of Marine Biology (Hokkaido University).
Employment history 
28/04/2014 - 24/03/2017: Independent 
BOD member Term III - DHG Pharma. 

Mr. DINH DUC MINH

Member of the BOS
Born in: 1977

Professional qualifications: Master 
of Investment Management (Coventry 
University, UK).
Employment history 
03/2003 - 11/2007: Assistant for  
the General Director - TNT Ltd. Co.
08/2008 - 08/2010: Investment 
executive of SCIC.
05/2012 - 06/2016: Manager, 
Institutional Research & Investment 
Advisory for Saigon Securities Inc. (SSI)
04/2009 - 04/2011: Member of the 
BOS Term II - DHG Pharma.
28/04/2014 - 28/12/2017: Member of 
the BOS Term III - DHG Pharma.

PROFILE OF THE CURRENT BOARD  
OF SUPERVISORY TERM III (2014 - 2018)

Mr. TRAN QUOC HUNG

Head of the BOS
Born in: 1958

Professional qualifications: Bachelor of Economics 
- Accounting (University of Economics HCMC)

Employment history

1979 - 1983: Teacher - Ben Tre Commercial School.

1983 - 1988: Chief Accountant - Hau Giang Medical 
Material Supply Company.

1988 - 06/2007: Accountant of Financial 
Management Dept. - DHG Pharma.

06/2007 - Now: Supervisor of HR Dept. -  DHG Pharma.

09/2004 - 05/2012: Member of the BOS Term I and 
Term II - DHG Pharma.

05/2012 - Now: Head of the BOS Term II and Term III  
- DHG Pharma.

.

Mr. TRAN TRUNG KIEN  

Supervisor 
Born in: 1976

Professional qualifications: Master of Finance 
(Academy of Finance).

Employment history

2000 - 2004: Lecturer at Baoviet’s Training Center  
- Baoviet Holdings.

2004 - 2005: Insurance Management Specialist  
- Baoviet Holdings.

2005 - 2010: Head of Human Resource Division  
- Baoviet Holdings.

2010 - 2017: Specialist of Investment Dept. 4 - SCIC.

2017 - Now: Specialist of Dept. of General Planning - SCIC.

03/2018 - Now: Member of the BOS Term III  
- DHG Pharma.

Ms. NGUYEN PHUONG THAO  

Supervisor
Born in: 1976

Professional qualifications: Master of Business - 
Finance and Banking (Monash University - Australia). 

Employment history

05/1997 - 03/2002: Employee at VID Public Bank.

05/2002 - 07/2005: Master of Business - Finance and 
Banking - Australia.

08/2005 - 08/2006: Employee at MB Bank. 

08/2006 - 07/2007: Employee at VID Public Bank. 

08/2007 - Now: Employee of Investment Dept.3 - SCIC. 

04/2012 - Now: Member of the BOS Term II & III  
- DHG Pharma.
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Acting General Director - Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong (left) on behalf of DHG Pharma’s leaders  
and employees expressed his gratitude to the former Chairman - Mr. Hoang Nguyen Hoc.

PERSONNEL CHANGES  
OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE BOARD

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Members of the BOD Term III (2014 - 2018) prior to 26 October 2017

Mr. Hoang Nguyen Hoc Chairman
Mr. Le Dinh Buu Tri Vice Chairman
Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga Member
Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong Member
Mr. Tran Chi Liem Member
Mr. Jun Kuroda Member
Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha Member

Current members of the BOD Term III (2014 - 2018)

Mr. Nguyen Chi Thanh Chairman  
Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga Member
Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong Member
Mr. Tran Chi Liem Member
Mr. Jun Kuroda Member
Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha Member
Mr. Phan Minh Tien Member

Personnel changes

Mr. Shuhei Tabata Independent member of the BOD resigned on 24 Mar 2017
Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha Member of the BOD appointed from 28 July 2017
Mr. Hoang Nguyen Hoc Chairman of the BOD resigned on 25 Oct 2017
Mr. Le Dinh Buu Tri        Vice Chairman of the BOD resigned on 25 Oct 2017
Mr. Nguyen Chi Thanh Chairman of the BOD appointed from 26 Oct 2017
Mr. Phan Minh Tien Member of the BOD appointed from 28 Mar 2018 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORY TERM III (2014 - 2018)

Members of the BOS Term III (2014 - 2018) prior to 28 December 2017

Mr. Tran Quoc Hung Head of the BOS
Ms. Nguyen Phuong Thao Supervisor
Mr. Dinh Duc Minh Supervisor

Members of the BOS Term III (2014 - 2018) at present 

- Mr. Tran Quoc Hung Head of the BOS 
- Ms. Nguyen Phuong Thao Supervisor
- Mr. Tran Trung Kien Supervisor

Personnel changes

Mr. Dinh Duc Minh Supervisor resigned on 28 Dec 2017
Mr. Tran Trung Kien Supervisor appointed from 28 Mar 2018
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DHG Pharma, with its flexible strategies, treats challenges as 
opportunities. Its promotion of business channels and exports 
could be viewed as a sharp reaction to changes in the market. 
In addition, the fact that Taisho becomes a strategic shareholder 
has presented both parties with meaningful opportunities for 
cooperative activities in relation to product distribution in each of 
these companies’ existing markets. This cooperation also created 
favorable conditions for effectively exploiting their resources 
and improving their prestige and competitive capacity in both 

Vietnamese and international pharmaceutical markets. 

      FLEXIBLE 
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Source: Drug Administration Department of Vietnam (DAV)  

VIETNAMESE PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRY SCALE  
AND DOMESTIC PHARMACEUTICAL MARKET SHARE

CHALLENGES FOR VIETNAMESE PHARMACEUTICAL ENTERPRISES

Besides having to import up to 90% of raw materials, domestic 
enterprises occupy approximately half of Vietnamese drug 
market. The remaining half is dominated by foreign products, 
which are significantly higher in price and quality. Despite 
current weaknesses compared to foreign companies, 
Vietnamese pharmaceutical enterprises are seeking to shorten 
the gap, especially in technology and high quality human 
resources. It is hoped that in the near future, Vietnamese 
pharmaceutical industry will increasingly grow up and positively 
contribute to the economic development of the country.  
Thanks to this development, Vietnamese people will possibly 
enjoy the best pharmaceutical and medical services.

 Domestic drug consumption 
 Total value of drug consumption

90%
OF IMPORTED RAW MATERIALS

DOMESTIC ENTERPRISES  
OCCUPY APPROXIMATELY HALF  
OF VIETNAMESE DRUG MARKET

LEGAL REGULATIONS

PRODUCTION RAW MATERIALS

RESEARCHES

Firstly, legal regulations on the industry have not adjusted timely in accordance 
with market volatilization or have been very slow in upgrading, which makes 
it difficult for enterprises to access. At present, domestic pharmaceutical 
companies are already approaching international standards such as EU-GMP 
or PIC/s whereas the legal environment has not been updated, which exhibits 
much inadequacy. 

Secondly, production raw materials depend too much on imports. This 
dependence makes the pharmaceutical industry vulnerable to external factors 
such as exchange rate fluctuation or supply shocks.

Thirdly, with limited research capacity due to the shortage of financial resources 
and high quality human resources, domestic pharmaceutical companies are 
still focusing on the production of low-price generic drugs. As such, with poor 
competitive ability, these companies have to compete both with each other 
within the industry and with generic drugs imported from many countries 
around the world. 

PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRY

OVERVIEW OF  
VIETNAMESE PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRY IN 2017

Drug spending per capita in Vietnam since 2005 and forecasted figures until 2028  (Figures in: USD/person)

Source: International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health; MDPI.
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OVERVIEW OF VIETNAMESE 

IN 2017

Pharmaceutical industry, which plays 
a strategic role in taking people’s 

health, receives special attention from the 
Government and relevant ministries and 
industries. This  industry also features a high 
growth rate and attracts substantial investment 
in Vietnam. Its  compound annual growth rate 
(CAGR) from 2012 to 2017 reached over 
12.7%, which is higher than the average rate 
of Asian countries.” 

In 2017, Vietnamese pharmaceutical market reached 
USD 4.7 billion (estimated by the Drug Administration of 
Vietnam), experiencing an increase of about 11.8% over 
the previous year and being projected to continue to 
achieve a double-digit growth in the next 5 years. 

As the population increases rapidly, the per capita 
income rises sharply and people’s intellectual standards 
are improved, demand for medicines will further grow. 
Drug spending per capita in Vietnam has increased  
from USD 9.85 in 2005 to USD 22.25 in 2010 and nearly 
doubled in 2015 (USD 37.97). The annual average 
growth in drug spending achieved  14.6% between 2010 
and 2015, which is expected to remain at an annual  
growth rate of at least 14% per year by 2025.  
The drug spending per capita in Vietnam is projected to 
double to USD 85 in 2020 and USD 163 in 2025.  
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

REPORT ON 
PERFORMANCES IN 2017  

& PLANS IN 2018

SUBJECTIVE FACTORS

 Quarter 1: Implementing transformation of warehouse model. The initial step in transforming the central warehouse  
 model was not well-prepared, the Company faced many difficulties in delivery, affecting the business results.

 Quarter 2: Transitional period of senior managers affected the sales staffs’ psychology.

 Quarter 3: Evaluation on the sales staff, new recruitment and replacement.

 Quarter  4: Production did not meet sales demands due to sudden increases in consumption. The factories have  
 also changed several production procedures. Planning method was not effective with many limitations,  
 and some equipment was used exceeding its capacity.

OBJECTIVE FACTORS

Outsourcing (dependent on partners): in order to reduce inventories, partners cut back their orders by VND 56 billion.

Product distribution for partners (dependent on partners): Partners adjusted their plans in 2017, which resulted to  
a drop in net revenue by VND 43 billion.

PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENTS IN 2017

THE RESULT OF BUSINESS PERFORMANCES IN 2017

Targets Plan 2017 Performance 2017 % achievement  
of 2017 Growth 2017/2016

Net revenue 4,369 4,063 93.0% 7.4%

Profit before tax 800 719 89.9% -4.9%

Profit after tax 643 -6.7%

The business targets were not strictly managed and 
executed which led to the results of revenue target reaching 
only 93% and the profit target only 90%. Accordingly, the 
financial ratios including ROS, ROA, ROE did not achieve 
the strategic objectives set for the year.

Changes in the macro environment and bidding 
regulations in the health industry have caused confusion 
for enterprises in orienting their factory standards. 
However, DHG Pharma is in the process of upgrading its 
factory standard and improving its technology in order 
to timely replace branded pharmaceuticals, providing 
patients with access to reduced medical expenses. 

With regards to tax obligations of the entire DHG Pharma 
Group in 2016, in accordance with the conclusion of 
the General Department of Taxation on 29 Dec 2017,  
DHG Pharma had to adjust and pay its additional CIT of  
VND 24.4 billion and further paid for a penalty of  
VND 6.4 billion for underdeclaration.

SHORTCOMINGS IN 2017

NATIONAL STRATEGY ON DEVELOPMENT OF VIETNAMESE 
PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRY UP TO 2020 WITH A VISION TOWARD 2030

SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES UP TO 2020

OBJECTIVES ORIENTED BY 2030

On 10 Jan 2014, the Prime Minister signed 
the Decision No. 68/QĐ-TTg approving 
the national strategy on development of 
Vietnamese pharmaceutical industry up 
to 2020 with a vision toward 2030. 

DRUGS PRODUCED DOMESTICALLY SHALL BASICALLY MEET DEMAND OF USAGE, 
SPECIAL-CURE DRUGS MAY BE PRODUCED; TAKING THE INITIATIVE IN PRODUCTION OF 
VACCINES AND BIOLOGICAL PRODUCTS FOR EPIDEMIC PREVENTION, RAW MATERIALS 
FOR PREPARING DRUGS MAY BE PRODUCED. SYSTEM OF TESTING, DRUG DISTRIBUTION, 
CLINICAL PHARMACY, DRUG INFORMATION SHALL BE EQUAL TO THE ADVANCED 
COUNTRIES IN REGION.

GENERAL OBJECTIVES: Adequately, timely 
supply medicines with quality and rational prices 
according to the disease structure respectively 
with each socio-economical development stage 
and ensure medicine usage to be safe and rational. 
To attach special importance to medicine supply 
for subjects belonging to social policy, people of 
ethnic minorities, the poor, residents in remote and 
isolated regions.

Timely supply 100% of preventive and curative drug demand.

To strive to produce 20% of raw materials demand for domestic medicine production, drugs 
produced domestically occupying 80% of total value of drugs consumed in year, in which 
drugs from materia medica shall occupy 30%; vaccines produced domestically shall meet 
100% of demand for expanded vaccination and 30% of demand for service vaccination.

To strive to attain 40% generic drugs produced domestically and imported  
with circulation registration number already assessed bioequivalence and bioavailability.

100% of medicines-trading establishments under the drug distribution system meet good 
practice standard, 50% of testing establishments and 100% of establishments of examining 
and verifying medical biological products and vaccines meet good practice standard (GPS).

50% of central and provincial hospitals have clinical pharmacy divisions, 50% of district-
level and private hospitals have clinical pharmacy operation.

Attain rate of 2.5 pharmacists/ten thousand people, in which clinical pharmacists  
shall occupy 30%.

2

3

4

5

1

6

VISION  

2030

OVERVIEW OF  
VIETNAMESE PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRY IN 2017
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DHG PRINTING AND PACKAGING 1 
ONE MEMBER LIMITED COMPANY  
(DHG PP1)

Net revenue in 2017

VND 225.3billion

DHG PP1 was established to supply 
packaging, aluminum and input paper for the 
pharmaceutical plant and dietary supplement 
plant of DHG Pharma. Printing activities for 
marketing, annual reports and calendars for 
employees and partners... are also carried 
out by the company. The new plant of  
DHG PP1 has officially come into operation 
since 01 Jan 2014. At the AGM 2017 dated 
28 Mar 2018, the Meeting approved the 
merger of DHG PP1 into its parent Company -  
DHG Pharma as DHG Pharmaceutical Plant 
Branch in Hau Giang (hereinafter referred to 
as Hau Giang Branch). 

BUSINESS SITUATION: In 2017, the revenue 
achieved VND 225.3 billion, down 0.5% and 
profit after tax reached VND 35 billion, down 
5.2% YOY. 90% of the revenue of DHG PP1 
was dependent on the parent Company - 

DHG Pharma; as such, when the parent company’s orders dropped, 
the revenue of DHG PP1 was also affected even though the revenue 
from external trading reached VND 40 billion, up 10% YOY.

Figures in: VND Billion

  2015  2016  2017 

Net revenue 172.0 226.4 225.3
Profit before tax 29.0 36.4 34.6
Profit after tax 29.0 36.6 34.7
Profitability ratios

ROS 16.9% 16.2% 15.4%
ROA 21.0% 22.7% 23.9%
ROE 204.0% 31.4% 43.3%

Source: Audited financial statements of DHG PP1.

Business results 2015 - 2017

DHG Travel was established to provide 
customer care services, tourism and 
personnel training for DHG Pharma.  
On 14 July 2017, the BOD approved the 
dissolution of DHG Travel in order to  
re-structure the company’s organizational 
system in a streamlined and effective manner. 
The dissolution time was 31 Dec 2017. 

BUSINESS SITUATION: DHG Travel’s 
business results were largely contributed by 

Figures in: VND Billion

  2015  2016  2017 

Total assets 6.9 6.8 5.3
Owner’s equity 5.1 5.5 5.0
Net revenue 64.2 52.5 56.5
Profit before tax 1.7 0.6 0.3
Profit after tax 1.3 0.5 0.2
Profitability ratios  

ROS 2.0% 1.0% 0.4%
ROA 19.1% 7.5% 4.7%
ROE 25.9% 9.2% 5.0%

Source: Audited financial statements of DHG Travel.

Business results 2015 - 2017

DHG TRAVEL ONE MEMBER 
LIMITED COMPANY (DHG Travel)

Net revenue in 2017 

its parent Company - DHG Pharma through customer care programs 
upon travels. In addition, DHG Travel also provided tourism services to 
outsiders, contributing to increase revenue and profit for DHG Pharma  
when consolidating its financial statements. Each year, about  
VND 15 - 20 billion of net revenue is generated. In 2017, the external 
tourism service experienced a rise of 22.8%. 

VND 56.5billion

THE BUSINESS RESULTS 

Figures in: VND Billion

  2015  2016  2017 

Total assets 658.7 1,098.6 999.9

Owner’s equity 124.0 1,037.9 540.0

Net revenue 539.5 1,156.4 1,730.8

Profit before tax 169.6 497.1 783.1

Profit after tax 169.3 497.9 783.4

Profitability ratios  

ROS 31.4% 43.1% 45.3%

ROA 25.7% 45.3% 78.4%

ROE 136.5% 48.0% 145.1%

Source: Audited financial statements of DHG Pharma Ltd.

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

ASSESSMENTS ON 

OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES

DHG PHARMACEUTICAL ONE 
MEMBER LIMITED COMPANY  
(DHG PHARMA LTD.)

DHG Pharma Ltd. was established to operate 
the new pharmaceutical plant of DHG Pharma 
at Tan Phu Thanh Industrial Zone, Hau Giang 
Province. DHG Pharma Ltd. has 02 plants, 
Non-Betalactam and Betalactam, that meet 
GMP-WHO standard. The Non-Betalactam 
Plant has come into operation since Apr 2014. 
The Betalactam Plant was granted GMP-
WHO certification on 11 Aug 2015 and has 
come into operation since Oct 2016. At the 
AGM 2017 dated 28 Mar 2018, the Meeting 
approved the merger of DHG Pharma Ltd. into 
its parent company - DHG Pharma as DHG 
Pharmaceutical Plant Branch in Hau Giang 
(hereinafter referred to as Hau Giang Branch).  

Business results 2015 - 2017

Net revenue in 2017

up 49.7% compared to 2016
VND1,731billion

high profit margin, which resulted to a sharp increase in profitability 
ratios. Besides, in order to utilize the company’s cash efficiency, term 
deposits with high interest rate have been developed, which generated 
a financial income of VND 10 billion for the Company.

PROFIT MARGIN: DHG Pharma Ltd. has maintained a very high profit 
margin compared to other industry peers from 2015 to 2017. ROS in 
2017 was favorable thanks to a strong growth in revenue, effective 
cost-control and tax incentives.

BUSINESS SITUATION: The revenue of  
DHG Pharma Ltd. in 2017 reached VND 
1,730.8 billion, experiencing a growth of 49.7% 
and profit after tax achieved VND 783.4 billion,  
up 57.3% over the same period. The main 
reason for the higher growth in revenue and 
profit of DHG Pharma Ltd. in 2017 compared 
to that of 2016 is the relocation of the 
Betalactam Plant in Oct 2016. The Betalactam 
plant produces the majority of products with 
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SPIVIHA was established in 2008 in Vinh Hao, 
Binh Thuan province where the natural mineral 
water source is located. The location is suitable 
for growing natural Spirulina algae, providing 
high-quality inputs for producing DHG Pharma’s 
SPIVITAL product upon the value chain.

 Figures in  2015  2016  2017 

Production volume Kg 1,863 3,009 6,775
Consumption Kg 2,699 5,907 6,527
Net revenue VND million 1,858 3,146 3,270
Profit before tax VND million (866) (2,040) (1,628)
Profit after tax VND million (866) (2,040) (1,628)
Total assets VND million 12,507 10,463 8,939
Owner’s equity VND million 12,397 10,356 8,728
Charter capital VND million 12,000 12,000 12,000
Earnings per share VND (722) (1,703) (1,357)
Growth 

Net revenue % (26.6%) 69.3% 3.9%
Profit before tax % (68.6%) 135.6% (20.2%)

Business results 2015 - 2017

VINH HAO ALGAE  
JOINT STOCK COMPANY (SPIVIHA) 
(Affiliate)

Investment objectives: It is invested is to create 
a stable source of raw materials for the production 
of Spivital and other biotech products. 

Due to difficulties in product consumption, 
production fell below break-even point, and 
provision for decline in value of inventories was 
recorded at VND 2.5 billion for algae production 
before 2014. Hence, the business results of SPIVIHA 
in this period did not satisfy expectations.  

THE BUSINESS RESULTS of SPIVIHA have been 
improved since 2016. The revenue doubled over the 
same period. However, due to the fact that the output 
did not reach the break-even point and provision for 
decline in value of inventories must be deducted, 
the company’s losses have not been recovered. 
SPIVIHA is projected to earn profit in 2018. Spirulina tank.

FUJI MEDIC LIMITED  
LIABILITY COMPANY (FUJI MEDIC)

SONG HAU 
PHARMACEUTICAL JSC

SH Pharma, which was established on  
01 Jan 2008 has 51% of the charter capital 
owned by DHG Pharma. The purpose for  
DHG Pharma to invest in SH Pharma is to 
better utilize the distribution system and to 
develop sales in Hau Giang region including 
DHG Pharma’s in-house goods and products 
of other companies.

Sales activities of SH Pharma as well as other 
subsidiaries and distribution branches are 
consistently implemented in accordance 
with the guidelines, policies and regulations 
of the parent Company. It is this compliance 
that has created a unified and sustainable  
development throughout the entire 
distribution system of DHG Pharma. 

In 2017, DHG Pharma increased its ownership  
from 51% to 99.6% at SH Pharma. As at the  
first quarter of 2018, DHG Pharma owned  

100% of the charter capital of  SH Pharma. In order to restructure its 
operation in the distribution system and implement the FOL Lifting 
policy of the AGM, the BOD approved to transfer SH Pharma’s operation 
to be a branch under DHG Pharma in 2018. 

BUSINESS RESULTS IN 2017: The company achieved 97.5% and 
143.2% of the plan in terms of revenue and profit, respectively, which 
depicted a growth of 49.0% compared to 2016. The company has 
also restructured the distribution system by establishing a central 
warehouse system, helping the company save costs and bringing 
outstanding growth in profit..

In 2017, the Company’s activities were mainly recruiting and training 
employees, investing in equipment and machines for laboratories and 
buses, setting up an accounting system under the system of the parent 
company - DHG Pharma, and looking for partners,etc, which resulted 
in insignificant revenue and profit. In addition, it took the company  
04 months to fulfill the paperwork requirements for the business permit 
in 2017. As such, the business results in 2017 are lower than that of the 
initial expectation (revenue achieved VND 2 billion, recording a loss 
of VND 3.5 billion). It is projected that when the investment activities 
are completed in 2018, there will be a remarkable growth in revenue.  
By 2020, the company will start to make profit.

Net revenue in 2017

Figures in: VND Billion

  2015  2016  2017 

Total assets 58.9 65.7 67.0

Owner’s equity 41.5 42.7 49.1

Net revenue 108.8 127.0 120.9

Profit before tax 9.1 7.7 11.5

Profit after tax 8.1 6.1 9.2

Profitability ratios  

ROS 7.5% 4.8% 7.6%

ROA 13.8% 9.3% 13.7%

ROE 19.6% 14.3% 18.6%

Source: Audited financial statements of SH Pharma.

Business results 2015 - 2017

Fuji Medic was established in July 2016 
from three partners including DHG Pharma, 
Nomura Trading Co., Ltd, and Japan Medical 
Laboratory Co., Ltd with the rate of charter 
capital from each partner at 51%, 30% and 
19%, respectively. The core business line of 
the company is mobile clinic.  

VND121billion

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Figures in: VND Billion

Company’s name Relationship 31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016 Remarks

DHG Pharmaceutical One Member 
Limited Company

Wholly owned 
subsidiary  540 540

It is targeted to merge into the parent Company on 
01 Apr 2018.

DHG Printing and Packaging 1 One 
Member Limited Company

Wholly owned 
subsidiary  80 80

Song Hau Pharmaceutical Joint Stock 
Company 

99.6% owned 
subsidiary 21.99 2.55 Increased ownership ratio from 51% to 99.6%   

(Owned 100% of the charter capital).

DHG Travel One Member Limited 
Company

Wholly owned 
subsidiary  5 5 Implementing dissolution procedures.  

Dissolution time: 31 Dec 2017.

B&T Pharmaceutical One Member 
Limited Company

Wholly owned 
subsidiary  5 5 Completing dissolution procedures. Dissolution time: 

31 Dec 2016.Tax procedures are being finalized.

DT Pharmaceutical One Member 
Limited Company

Wholly owned 
subsidiary  - 5

Completed dissolution procedures.

HT Pharmaceutical One Member 
Limited Company

Wholly owned 
subsidiary  - 5

CM Pharmaceutical One Member 
Limited Company

Wholly owned 
subsidiary  - 5

A&G Pharmaceutical One Member 
Limited Company

Wholly owned 
subsidiary  - 5

ST Pharmaceutical One Member 
Limited Company

Wholly owned 
subsidiary  - 5

TG Pharmaceutical One Member 
Limited Company

Wholly owned 
subsidiary  - 5

Bali  Pharmaceutical One Member 
Limited Company

Wholly owned 
subsidiary  - 5

VL Pharmaceutical One Member 
Limited Company

Wholly owned 
subsidiary  - 5

TV Pharmaceutical One Member 
Limited Company

Wholly owned 
subsidiary  - 5

TOT Pharmaceutical One Member 
Limited Company 

Wholly owned 
subsidiary  - 5

Transferred the entire charter capital of  
TOT Pharma under the form of open bidding, 
earning VND 9 billion.

Fuji Medic Limited Liability Company 51% owned 
subsidiary 13.7 13.7

TOTAL 665.7 696.3 

CAPEX ACTIVITIES
Capex plans in 2017 were approved at VND 152.5 billion and 
disbursement value as at 31 Dec 2017 was recorded at only 

VND 24.2 billion (16% of the 2017 plan). Due to significant market 
fluctuations, investment portfolios have been temporarily suspended 
for priority settlement of difficulties in the business through 
restructuring activities of the  distribution system.

PROJECT: “BUILDING THE EFFERVESCENT SACHET 
PRODUCTION LINE TO MEET PIC/S STANDARD”

Investment location: DHG Pharma Ltd. Address: Kiosk B2- B3, Tan Phu Thanh Industrial Zone - Phase 1, Tan 
Phu Thanh Commune, Chau Thanh A District, Hau Giang Province. 

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES:

• Enhancing competitiveness in bidding.

• Satisfying standards of importing countries to export standard products.  
First and foremost is to meet Malaysian importing standards.

• Meeting production cooperation conditions with foreign partners in the future.

APPROVED INVESTMENT VALUE: VND 35 billion. Disbursed as at 31 Dec 2017: 
VND 7.3 billion. Implementation progresses: 

• Completed acceptance of most categories. 

• Currently implementing tools and equipment category and personal protective 
equipment (PPE). 

• DHG Pharma will welcome Malaysian inspectors (NPRA) for an assessment 
in Mar 2018 and it is projected to be granted GMP PIC/s certificate in  
Dec 2018.

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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In 2017, DHG Pharma retained its leading position in the Vietnam 
pharmaceutical industry in terms of revenue, profit and production 
capacity. DHG Pharma ranked 2nd among leading companies with 
regards to Pharmacy channel and it is the sole domestic pharmaceutical 
manufacturer in the Top 10 leading pharmaceutical companies in Vietnam.

According to IMS Report in Quarter 4/2017, DHG Pharma continued to 
maintain in Top 2 with regards to Pharmacy channel and Top 6 among 
the total of foreign and domestic pharmaceutical enterprises in Vietnam. 

Initiated to develop a new model of sales system.

Fully completed and filled managerial personnel and direct sales 
personnel for the system in accordance with the new model of the sales 
system and structure. 

Established and operated 03 central warehouses to ensure the quantity 
of goods, delivery time and good storage.

In addition to the traditional channel such as pharmacies, agents, 
hospitals, etc.,  DHG Pharma was the pioneer in developing the modern 
distribution channel and increasing exports.

As at 31 Dec 2017, the number of customers was over 25,000 (up 10% 
YOY). In which, more than half of them are loyal customers in the Club.

06 brands achieved their sales over VND 100 billion. 

Sales of the hospital channel  accounted for over 10% of that of the sales sector.

customers, up 10% YOY

brands achieved their sales  
over VND 100 billion

leading pharmaceutical 
companies in Vietnam

over 25,000

6

TOP10

“JBSL and DHG Pharma jointly prevent stroke” Festival.

STRATEGY - BEING THE 
BIGGEST GENERIC 
MANUFACTURER IN 
VIETNAM

STRATEGY - BUILDING 
A PROFESSIONAL, 
DIVERSIFIED AND 
WIDESPREAD 
DISTRIBUTION NETWORK

1

2

STRATEGIC 
PERFORMANCES

In 2017, DHG Pharma retained its leading position in 
Vietnamese pharmaceutical industry in terms of revenue,  
profit and production capacity. DHG Pharma ranked 2nd 
among leading companies with regards to Pharmacy channel 
and it is the sole domestic pharmaceutical manufacturer in the  
Top 10 leading pharmaceutical companies in Vietnam.

REPORT ON 

IN 2017

BEING THE 
BIGGEST GENERIC 
MANUFACTURER IN 

VIETNAM

PROMOTING DHG PHARMA 
BRAND AS A SYMBOL OF 

HUMANITY IN CONTRIBUTING TO 
THE SOCIETY AND ENHANCING 

THE QUALITY OF LIFE

MAXIMIZING THE 
ENTERPRISE VALUE 

AND INCREASING THE 
BENEFITS OF ALL 
STAKEHOLDERS

BUILDING A  
PROFESSIONAL,  

DIVERSIFIED & WIDESPREAD  
DISTRIBUTION NETWORK

BEING A LEADING 
ENTERPRISE IN APPLYING 

SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY 
IN OPERATION (INFORMATION, 

GOVERNANCE, R&D AND 
MANUFACTURE)

IMPROVING AND 
DEVELOPING CRUCIAL 

RESOURCES

6 
STRATEGIC 

PERFORMANCES 
IN 2017
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STRATEGY -  BEING A 
LEADING ENTERPRISE 
IN APPLYING SCIENCE 
AND TECHNOLOGY 
IN OPERATION 
(INFORMATION, 
GOVERNANCE, R&D 
AND MANUFACTURE)

customers

for more than  

18,000

products were declared 
bioequivalent to  
brand name drugs

38

Information and corporate governance

Developed BI (Business Intelligence) system for a dynamic analysis and 
rapid response to management demands.

Implemented and completed automatic orders on Emobiz and BFO  
(Biz Force One).

Became a leader in applying IT on mobile devices for the management 
system and transaction management; building a transparent 
relationship between customers and the Company in the business 
process by using DHG Co-Prosperity App. As at 31 Dec 2017,  
18,152 customers installed the App.

Conducted weekly training sessions for 100% of the sales team, 
teamleaders and all staffs, using an application named “Magic Mirror” 
with more than 5,000 training question packages. This application has 
significantly improved skills, qualifications and knowledge of the staff  
in a time-saving and cost-effective manner. IMPLEMENTATION  

OF 

Implemented 
and completed 
automatic orders

eMobiz
BFO

Co-Prosperity App

Production and R&D Activities

Completed Phase 1 of PIC/s project, applied the dossiers of 02 Hapacol 
products to the National Pharmaceutical Regulatory Agency (NPRA)  
of Malaysia.

Completed re-evaluation of GMP WHO for the production lines of 
finished medicinal products in DHG Pharma Ltd.. 

The laboratories at DHG Pharma’s plants continued to meet  
ISO/IEC 17025 standard.

As at 31 Dec 2017, 38 products were declared bioequivalent to  
brand name drugs and 7 products have been manufactured by high - 
technology.

Successfully collaborated with the Institute of Biotechnology and Institute of 
Medicinal Materials to further promote research and development activities.

DHG Pharma’s products are strictly complied with ISO/IEC 17025,  
GMP-WHO, GLP, GSP, GDP, GPP standards under the process of 
production, storage and distribution as well as regulations of the  
Ministry of Health, Drug Administration of Vietnam, Department of Food 
Hygiene and Safety and local health departments.

4

For 2 consecutive years, DHG Pharma has coordinated to produce the 
program “Special White Blouse Mission”, this gameshow has built a 
beautiful image of health workers in white blouses; depicted these health 
workers’ daily-life activities, which promoted the public’s understanding 
of doctors and improved the image of doctors and the health sectors’ in 
people’s hearts.

Organized 2 times of blood donations with 186 blood donors and a 
total of 241 blood units stored at Cantho City Hematology Center. The 
Company carried out 80 free medical examinations with 45,850 patients 
nationwide with the total amount of nearly VND 3.3 billion. In Hau Giang 
in particularly, 7 medical examinations were carried out to support  
4,650 people with a total amount of nearly VND 250 million. 

In addition to healthcare programs, direct counseling, skills training for 
customers and their employees, DHG Pharma also organized special 
programs for these customers’ family members as follows:  

1,106 students who are customers’ children participated in a summer 
program named “Hoi quan - I love Vietnam” organized by DHG Pharma 
aiming to help them grow maturely and confidently. 

• 30 health-care workshops were organized for more than  
3,500 customers’ parents. The program “Parents’ day” (Vu Lan) in the 
theme “Sweat of Mothers” was held for 13,767 customers. 

• The program called meeting for discussing strategies that was highly 
appreciated by customers was conducted with a participation of  
422 customers in Phu Quoc island where 286 customers were honored 
with the VIP Award.

STRATEGY - PROMOTING 
DHG PHARMA BRAND AS 
A SYMBOL OF HUMANITY 
IN CONTRIBUTING TO THE 
SOCIETY & ENHANCING 
THE QUALITY OF LIFE

patients nationwide

customers

customers participated  
in the strategic meeting 
organized in Phu Quoc

80 free medical 
examinations with

The program  
“Parents’ day” in 
the theme “Sweat of 
Mothers” was held for

45,850

13,767

422
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Selecting, recruiting for replacement, 
developing high-quality human resources 
based on the Company’s competency 
framework and development orientation; 
Improving the training of skilled staffs to 
boost productivity.

In order to achieve the strategic goals 2016-2020, DHG Pharma has 
focused on consolidating its internal resources and synchronously 
implementing key solutions to prepare resources for successful 
competition in the new business context, and retain its commitments 
with customers, employees and the community. Specifically as follows:

• Dividend in 2017 is projected to be 30% in cash, in which 25% was 
paid in advance, with the remaining of 5% expected to be paid after the 
approval of the AGM 2017.

• Payables to the State budget in 2017 was VND 306.6 billion, in which 
VND 186.9 billion was contributed to the State budget in Cantho City 
and VND 79.9 billion to Hau Giang Province. 

• Through the Company’s policies on recruiting, training and developing 
HR, DHG Pharma has created jobs and increased income for local 
people as well as promoted the development of the economy. 

• The Company ensured the quality of information disclosed to 
shareholders, investors, partners, customers and the community, 
which contributed to the retention of its prestige. DHG Pharma’s Annual 
reports have always been on top over the years.

STRATEGY - MAXIMIZING 
THE ENTERPRISE VALUE 
AND INCREASING THE 
BENEFITS OF ALL 
STAKEHOLDERS

Implemented the ‘Standardize Corporate Governance Flowchart’ 
project and the corporate governance process. By  31 Dec 2017,  
170 processes were issued. 

Applied the SCM (Supply Chain Management) to improve production 
process, storage and transportation.

Applied the KPI (Key Performance Indicator) to enterprise management 
for all positions in the whole Company. 

The Company fulfilled its responsibilities with employees through the 
following activities: periodic health check-up for all employees and 
specialized health examination for employees taking charge of heavy 
work and in toxic environment as well as VIP health examination for 
staffs and their family. 

Complied with regulations on work safety and health care,  
fire prevention and fighting, and environmental protection.

Fully implemented the labor protection requirements with annual 
plans for trainings on food safety and hygiene for its employees. The 
Company has an on-site fostered policy for employees, who contacted 
directly with chemicals, raw materials and uncovered products.

STRATEGY - IMPROVING 
AND DEVELOPING 
CRUCIAL RESOURCES

Fully provided personal protective equipment  
at work.

Payables to the State 
budget in 2017 

VND306.6Billion

of dividend in 2017  
are in cash

30%

5
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The year 2017 has witnessed dramatical changes that DHG Pharma made to its distribution system, aiming to 
achieve the strategic goals of building a professional, deep, widespread and diversified distribution network a reality. 

In 2017, some highlights of the distribution system are as follows:

The Board of Management of DHG Pharma

Constructing 03 large central 
warehouses in Cantho,  
Ho Chi Minh City and Hanoi 
to professionalize its logistics 
system which enables 
products to be delivered to 
customers quickly and the 
inventory strictly controlled and 
to avoid losses, etc.

DHG Pharma implemented 
the management process, 
debt collection and product 
delivery with fixed schedules, 
monitored and collected debt 
in accordance with the plan, 
controlled and evaluated the 
proportion of debt collection at 
the units.

Aiming to train and develop highly qualified and professional employees, 
DHG Pharma has put into use the APP Magic Mirror on the smartphones 
to periodically train, test and evaluate staff’s knowledge. As a result, all 
employees participated sufficiently and promptly whenever and wherever 
they want, created emulation atmosphere in the units and among the 
regions across the country. This also helped the Company to timely 
encourage and award individuals with outstanding achievements in the 
activities of the Company.

More than 1,500 employees 
of the sales sector have 
currently contacted and 
made transactions with more 
than 25,000 customers, 
including pharmacies, private 
enterprises, hospitals and 
medical centers to distribute 
DHG Pharma’s products to all 
customers in 63 provinces.

In 2016, DHG Pharma products 
have been launched in five big 
supermarkets (Aeon, Big C, 
Satra, CitiMart and Guardian). 
In 2017, DHG Pharma has 
continued to develop three 
major pharmacies (Pharmacity, 
Phano and Mediacare).

1

4 5

2 3
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ACTIVITIESMARKET
DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM

Developed a master plan for all activities of categories and brands to 
optimize the strength in order to achieve the highest efficiency.

Fully focused on each target group of customers through various but 
well-linked tools to increase consumers’ loyalty which helps create a 
solid foundation for brands as well as optimize cost-effectiveness.

Fully dedicated in coordinately producing the program  
“Special White Blouse Mission” that honors health workers who 
work wholeheartedly days and nights to fulfill the noble responsibility.  
The program promotes and implements regular supportive activities 
and sponsorships to health workers, medical institutions, and primary 
education level, etc., which creates a special impression in the minds 
of customers. Television game show “Special White Blouse Mission”

DHG Pharma’s strong and impressive promotion activities have contributed significantly to 
its achievements and retention of its leading position in the market. Some of its outstanding 

promotion activities in 2017 included:

Surpassing the planned targets for 6 brands with the achieved sales of over VND 100 billion.

Sponsoring numerous news programs in the golden time with a focus on advertising on major 
television channels to affirm the prestige and trademark of the brands.

Organizing numerous seminars and conferences to introduce and promote high-quality 
products, to raise customers’ awareness of new and signature products of the Company to 
create added value for consumers. 

2

4

3

1

customers have installed the 
App - DHG Co-Prosperity

≥18,000
Enhancing the interaction and transparency between 
customers and DHG Pharma through its deployment of the 
App “DHG Co-Prosperity” to help customers control and 
keep track of all information related to sales, transactions, 
payment, and promotion, etc. Furthermore, information is 
also communicated to customers quickly, professionally and 
cost-effectively. As at 31 Dec 2017, over 18,000 customers 
have installed the application with over 490,000 times of 
information transmitted.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS

Some highlights of the research   
and development in 2017:

Successfully inplemented 11 new products, including  
1 sustained-release product and 4 bioequivalent products.

Improved the effervescent production process to shorten 
the production time as well as to increase output in order 
to meet demands, improve quality, reduce losses, etc.

Successfully connected for joint research with the 
Institute of Biotechnology, Institute of Medicinal Materials, 
Cantho University, and other prestigious research 
centers, both within and outside Vietnam, etc. This 
connection establishes the foundation for cooperation in 
researching and developing products from biotechnology, 
with scientifically clinical-proven results and achieving 
bioequivalence to bring about efficacy in support, 
treatment, and health care.

On 22 Mar 2018, DHG Pharma and Vinamilk held the 
ceremony for signing the memorandum of strategic 
cooperation, which strongly focused on a close 
collaboration for research & development (R&D), 
marketing, and distribution of different product lines and 
dietary supplements. This cooperation builds a bridge to 
introduce partners, customers from one side to the other 
as well as to implement scientific research activities to 
create newly added values.

Research and development in the period  
2016 - 2020 focused on the following resolutions:

Investing in research and development 
is a prerequisite to create a differentiated 
product system, which increases the 
Company’s competitive advantages. 
DHG Pharma has a abundant financial 
resource to supply for research activities.

Researching and registering at least  
5 off-patent products per year.

Developing at least 05 new products 
from the application of biotechnology to 
create distinguished features in the dietary 
supplements and cosmeceuticals.

Strategically cooperating with leading 
specialized research institutions in Vietnam.

Orienting to joint research activities and 
projects with other countries.

1

3

4

2

QUALITY MANAGEMENT & QUALITY CONTROL

Completed Phase 1 of the PIC/s Project, submitted the 
documents for factory registration in accordance with 
PIC/s standard and dossiers of two effervescent products 
to the NPRA in Malaysia. Malaysian inspectors have 
evaluated the effervescent line in compliance with the 
PIC/s standard in Mar 2018.

Granted the Accreditation of Foreign Manufacturers 
certificate_PMDA Japan.

The Company’s plants were approved by the  
Drug Administration Department of Ethiopia and Nigeria 
as satisfying the requirements.

The Vilas has regularly reviewed and continued to accredit 
the laboratories in accordance with the requirements of 
ISO/IEC 17025.

DHG PP1 continued to be certified ISO 15378 (version 2011).

Re-inspected the GMP WHO for the production line  
of medicines produced from herbals.

Improved the quality of liquid medicines, creams 
and standardized the production process of herbal-
originated tablets.

PRODUCTION ACTIVITIES

In 2017, DHG Pharma Ltd. Plant maintained 
its stable operation and played the most 
important role in production activities of  
DHG Pharma, contributing 75.2% of volume 
and 81.7% of its value. 

DHG Pharma has continued to boost the capacity of 
its Betalactam Plant with high-value products to utilize 
financial efficiency.

DHG Pharma has regularly ordered raw materials and 
packaging in bulk to provide not only for internal production 

In 2017, the total production volume of two plants reached 
3,948 million units, featuring a decrease of 10.6% over the 
same period and reaching 89.5% of the annual plan. The 
production value reached VND 4,097 billion, depicting 
a decrease of 1.8% compared to 2016 and reaching  
95.3% of the yearly plan.

Total production volume

million units, reaching  
a production value of VND 4,097 billion

3,948

PRODUCTION, RESEARCH

but also for external business to take advantage of price 
negotiation, optimize cost-effectiveness and selection 
of prestigious suppliers. Simultaneously, the Company 
has improved the purchase through the strict supplier 
evaluation system.

With its desire to strengthen the value chain to increase 
profits and build a strong and sustainable business, 
Taisho Pharmaceutical JSC has continuously sent  
12 to 17 experts to support DHG Pharma to rebuild critical 
processes under the PIC/s-GMP standard, improve 
product quality, manage and recommend measures 
to reduce production costs, innovate various technical 
aspects of production, and train employees to become 
more professional, etc.

A production line at DHG Pharma’s Plant.

QUALITY ACTIVITIES
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(For more information on HR activities, please refer to Human Resources Development, page 106)

In collaboration with E&Y, DHG Pharma  
has issued & implemented “Competency  
Dictionary of DHG Pharma”, which 
forms the foundation for evaluating 
employees, designing training programs 
and developing career development 
roadmap for all staffs.  

Number of employees for the period 2013 - 2017  
(Figures in: employee)

4,000 

3,000 

2,000 

1,000

3,2052,9442,876

20172016201520142013

2,830 2,964

Market 
Sector 

47%

Back-Office 
Sector 
32%

Production  
Sector 
21%

HUMAN RESOURCES STRUCTURE IN 2017

Human  
resources by 

functional 
groupsMale 

59%

Female 
41%

Human  
resources by 

gender

HUMAN RESOURCES

As an enterprise with over 3,000 employees, extensive 
distribution channels, and turnover of over VND 4,000 billion  
etc., DHG Pharma places its core value on human 
resources. All activities of the Company are planned 
and conducted on the basis of the key principles of  
“responsibility, cooperation, and incentives”, which 
also functions as the main foundation for the building of 
its manpower as well as for attracting and retaining its 
talented staffs.

On these bases, DHG Pharma’s employees have been 
increasingly creative, fulfilled their skills, and mastered and 
confidently taken control of technology. It is these young 
generations’ creativity and enthusiasm with the thought 
of “dare to think, dare to do” that has greatly contributed to 
the Company’s success in building trust from consumers, 
customers and investors. These achievements have 
enabled DHG Pharma to maintain its leading position in the 
pharmaceutical industry in terms of revenue, profitability, 
scale, and production capacity for many consecutive years.

ACTIVITIES OF BACK-OFFICE SECTOR

FINANCE - ACCOUNTING

Completed 04 projects to improve the application 
of technology in corporate governance:

(1) Project of automatic budget planning and  
 management;

(2) Project of planned product cost and  
 automatic accounting; 

(3) Project of automatic investing portfolio 
 management; 

(4)  Phase 1 - the project to develop an internal  
 corporate governance report of the Company.

Built a new system for accounting management, which provides a 
detailed, automatic and scientific mechanism for effective management 
of the Company’s budget and investment portfolios.

Effectively utilized banking services to create added value for  
the Company.

Strictly monitored the compliance in operating the system and 
improving its processes of corporate governance.

Renovated and improved the quality of information provided through 
analytical reports, budget reports, management reports, etc. to help 
the Executive Board make quick, accurate decisions in a timely manner.
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PERSONNEL CHANGES IN TERMS OF MANAGERIAL TITLES APPOINTED BY THE BOD

1 19 Jan 2017 Appointment of Mr. Ho Buu Huan as Chief Accountant BOD’s Decision 
No.002/2017/QĐ.HĐQT

2 03 May 2017 Appointment of Ms. Le Thi Hong Nhung as Finance Director BOD’s Decision No. 
020/2017/QĐ.HĐQT

3 03 May 2017
Approved the establishment of the Internal Audit Committee 
under the BOD that has come into official operation effectively 
from 03 May 2017

BOD’s Decision No. 
023/2017/QĐ.HĐQT

4

01 Sept 2017

Removal of Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga as General Director  
and Legal Representative of DHG Pharma

BOD’s Decision 
No.049/2017/QĐ.HĐQT

5
Appointment of Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong as Legal 
Representative and Acting General Director of DHG Pharma 
within 6 months

BOD’s Decision 
No.055/2017/QĐ.HĐQT

6 28 Feb 2018
Continuous appointment of Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong  
as Legal Representative and Acting General Director of  
DHG Pharma until 31 Dec 2018.

BOD’s Decision 
No.027/2018/QĐ.HĐQT 

7 01 Sept 2017

Removal of Ms. Tran Thi Anh Nhu as HR Director and member 
of the Nomination and Remuneration Subcommittee. 
 
 Removal reason: reaching mandatory retirement age.

BOD’s Decision No. 
057/2017/QĐ.HĐQT

8 01 Oct 2017
Removal of Ms. Diep Bich Huong as Production Director. 
 
Removal reason: reaching mandatory retirement age.

BOD’s Decision No. 
058/2017/QĐ.HĐQT

9 25 Oct 2017
Appointment of Mr. Tomoyuki Kawata as Deputy General Director 
in charge of Production, Supply Chain, Training and Technical 
Transfer within 1 year

BOD’s Decision No. 
060/2017/QĐ.HĐQT

10 01 Jan 2018 Appointment of Mr. Atsushi Toyoshima as  
Supply Chain Director of DHG Pharma within 1 year

BOD’s Decision No. 
065/2017/QĐ.HĐQT

11 01 Jan 2018 Appointment of Ms. Le Thi Hong Nhung as the person in  
charge of corporate governance

BOD’s Decision No. 
066/2017/QĐ.HĐQT
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The competency framework incorporates core, behavioral and 
professional competencies that have been comprehensively and 
consistently built in accordance with the business development 
orientation and its operation, which is in alignment with the general 

development trend of the sector and international practices
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DHG TRA DMC IMP OPC

2017

ROS 15.8% 13.9% 15.5% 10.1% 9.1%

ROA 16.0% 18.0% 17.4% 8.0% 9.5%

ROE 22.8% 24.4% 22.6% 10.1% 15.7%

2016

ROS 18.2% 11.4% 13.1% 10.0% 10.0%

ROA 18.8% 17.1% 16.3% 9.0% 11.5%

ROE 25.5% 23.0% 20.1% 11.0% 15.7%

Source: Audited consolidated calculated financial statements of DHG Pharma.

Source: Audited financial statements of Companies throughout the years

Distribution sales reached VND 951 billion, up 35.4% 
compared to 2016. In implementing the FOL lifting policy 
in accordance with the AGM’s resolution, revenue and 
profits from pharmaceutical distribution, raw material 
trading and etc. will be lost when DHG Pharma implements 
FOL Lifting in 2018.

Export sales reached VND 50 billion, up 18.3% and 
accounting for approximately 1.2% of the sales structure. 
The Executive Board is focusing on boosting export sales 
through its strategic partner - Taisho, and upgrading the 

Financial indicators in terms of profitability ratios in 2017 
are all lower than those of 2016. The decrease in ROS and 
ROA is resulted from the drop of 6.7% in profit after tax due 
to the adjustments of tax department and the increase 
norms in the denominator. In particular, the net revenue 
increased by 7.4% and total assets increased by 3.6%. 
The drop of ROE will be analyzed, using DuPont method.

Targets 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Gross profit margin 48.0% 54.5% 39.2% 45.3% 43.9%

In which:      

  Gross profit margin of in-house goods 53.6% 58.8% 51.5% 54.0% 55.3%

  Gross profit margin of merchandises 3.7% 7.9% 3.3% 4.8% 5.3%

Pre-tax profit margin 23.0% 18.5% 19.4% 20.0% 17.7%

ROS 17.5% 13.6% 16.4% 18.2% 15.8%

ROA 21.7% 16.3% 17.3% 18.8% 16.0%

ROE 32.3% 25.0% 24.6% 25.5% 22.8%

factory standard to PIC/s. As expected, the export sales 
reach USD 4.5 million by 2020.

Although the gross profit margin of in-house 
goods in 2017 was improved, compared to 2016  
(55.3% compared to 54.0%), the proportion of finished 
products in the net revenue structure witnessed a 
decline, which resulted in a slight drop of 1% in gross profit 
margin. The value of gross profit witnessed an increase of  
4.1%, compared to 2016.

However, in comparison with listed peers, DHG Pharma’s 
net revenue and ROS still consolidated its leading position 
in Vietnamese pharmaceutical industry. With its net 
revenue growth of 7.4%, a sharp rise in its gross profit 
margin and good control of cost structure, DHG Pharma’s 
ROS remained highest in the industry.

In terms of profitability of the pharmaceutical industry, DMC made the most significant improvements when all DMC’s 
ratios increased. In addition, the gap in profitability among companies in previous years has been narrowed.

FINANCIAL STATEMENT ANALYSIS IN 2017

NET REVENUE
In 2017, the net revenue reached VND 4,063 billion, achieving a 
growth of 7.4% compared to 2016 and reaching 93% of the yearly 
plan. This revenue has not reached expectations.  Reasons for not 
achieving the aforementioned plan was detailed in the BOD report 
page 49. 

Source: Audited consolidated financial statements of DHG Pharma  
throughout the years

Source: Audited financial statements of Companies in 2017 

Sales of in-house goods always account for more than 75% of 
the sales structure. This shows that DHG Pharma focuses on 
the right core business and aligns with its strategy. In addition,  
DHG Pharma’s revenue also comes from distributing products for 
foreign partners such as MSD, Mega, etc, trading raw materials and 
accounting for sales from promotion products in accordance with  
Circular 200/TT-BTC.

Net revenue 2013 - 2017

4,200 

4,100 

4,000 

3,900 

3,800 

3,700 

3,600 

3,500 

3,400 

3,300 

3,200

20172016201520142013

3,391 3,913 3,608 3,783 4,063

In 2017, sales of in-house goods reached VND 3,054 billion,  
up 1% over the same period. DHG Pharma continued to consolidate 
its leading position in the industry for 22 consecutive years in terms 
of in-house sales.

Sales of in-house goods in 2017

3,500 

3,000 

2,500 

2,000 

1,500 

1,000 

500

OPCIMPDMCTRADHG

1,492 1,153 1,005 9433,054

Source: Audited consolidated financial 
statements in 2017 of DHG Pharma.

 Sales of in-house goods 
 Sales of merchandises  
 Sales of services 

Sales of in-house goods 
always account for  
more than

of the sales structure
75%

Net revenue in 2017 

up 7.4% compared to 2016
VND 4,063billion

SALES  
STRUCTURE

75.2%

23
.4%

1.4%

Figures in: VND billion

Figures in: VND billion
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The asset turnover ratios 
were stable compared 
to the previous year and 
better than those of its 
peers. 

Cash flow from business 
activities of the Company 
was plentiful and enough 
to offset the Company’s 
investments for expansion.

ANALYSIS OF ASSET UTILIZATION

PROFITABILITY ANALYSIS  
OF THE GROUP 

Figures in: turn

Efficiency of operation 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Inventory turnover 2.8 2.3 3.1 3.0 3.3

Payables turnover 10.3 6.7 9.0 8.0 8.2

Receivables turnover 7.0 6.1 5.4 6.3 6.0

Source: Audited calculated consolidated financial statements of DHG Pharma.

Figures in: turn 

 Targets in 2017 DHG TRA OPC DMC IMP

Inventory turnover 3.3 2.6 1.9 2.8 2.7

Payables turnover 8.2 6.1 11.7 5.7 4.5

Receivables turnover 6.0 13.6 6.8 3.9 5.1

Source: Audited financial statements of Companies in 2017.

With regards to inventories, the inventory turnover was at 3.3, the highest 
level in the 5-year period. Better inventory turnover showed that the Company 
has improved its production and inventory management through the central 
warehouse model. The effective management of production and goods will 
positively influence the improvement of the gross profit of in-house goods. In 
addition, the Company maintained a balance between the payables turnover 
and receivables turnover to ensure liquidity in the system.

Cash flows of DHG Pharma

 CFO     CFI      CFF      Net cash outflows/inflows     
  Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period.

Utilizing its strong financial resource, 
DHG Pharma generated nearly 
VND 89 billion from financial 
activities in 2017, contributing to the 
Company’s overall business results. 
In addition, DHG Pharma spent 
VND 436 billion to pay dividends 

Source: Audited consolidated financial statements of DHG Pharma throughout the years

to shareholders in the year.  
Net cash outflows from the years in 
the 5-year period were influenced 
by the cash flow for dividends 
payment and disbursements for 
investment activities.
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301 475 645 460The AGM 2017, dated 28 Mar 2018, approved the merger of the above two 
subsidiaries into DHG Pharma as a dependent accounting branch. After the 
merger, DHG Pharma continues to inherit the tax incentive policy of the 02 
subsidiaries, allowing DHG Pharma well-maintain ROS, ROA and ROE as 
previous years.

In 2017, DHG Pharma has paid an additional amount of VND 24.5 billion to the 
State budget due to understatement of tax payment in 2016. The tax burden in 
2016 and 2017 was at 9.00% and 10.7%, respectively.

Besides, the Company effectively utilized its idle cash to financially invest in 
the held to maturity investment. Profit from financial investments increased 
by 34.9%, creating a growth in the proportion of the EBT (earnings before tax) 
in the EBIT (earnings before interests and taxes) of 2.7%. ROA and ROE both 
decreased but ROE was slightly lower since the Company applied financial 
leverage 5% higher than that of the same period.

DHG Pharmaceutical One 
Member Limited Company 
and DHG Printing and 
Packaging 1 One Member 
Limited Company in Tan Phu 
Thanh Industrial Zone have 
been entitled to tax incentives 
for 15 years, effective from 
2015. This appears to lead to 
a decrease in the tax burden 
ratio that DHG Pharma bears 
since 2015. 

ANALYSISDUPONT
DuPont analysis Meaning 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Net income/EBT Tax Burden 75.9% 73.9% 84.5% 91.0% 89.3%

EBT/EBIT Interest Burden Ratio 105.8% 104.3% 103.2% 105.9% 108.6%

EBIT/Net revenue Operating Profit Margin 21.8% 17.7% 18.8% 18.9% 16.3%

Net income/Net revenue Return on Sales (ROS) 17.5% 13.6% 16.4% 18.2% 15.8%

Net revenue/Total Assets Asset Turnover Ratio                                 
1.2

                                
1.2 

                                
1.1 

                                
1.0 

                                
1.0 

ROA  Return on Assets 21.7% 16.3% 17.3% 18.8% 16.0%

Total Assets/Owner’s Equity Financial Leverage Ratio                                 
1.5 

                                
1.5

                                
1.4 

                                
1.4 

                                
1.4 

ROE Return on Equity 32.3% 25.0% 24.6% 25.5% 22.8%

(Some figures in the financial statement 2016 were restated to conform with the presentation in 2017. 
For more information, please refer to details in Note 41 of the consolidated financial statement 2017 page 230).
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Profit after tax in 2017 of the 
Group achieved VND 642.4 
billion, down 6.7% YOY, 
mainly due to the following 
reasons:

Selling expenses increased by 1.3 
percentage points in the net revenue 
structure, corresponding to a growth 
of 15.9% compared to 2016. Sales 
employee costs (including salaries, 
salary related costs, bonuses and 
other allowances) sharply increased 
by 18.2% over the same period. This is 
due to a fact that DHG Pharma started 
to operate the new logistics system 
from Mar 2017 and attracted more 
sales personnel in order to increase 
the coverage of the products. As 
a result, the number of sales and 
logistics employees witnessed a 
dramatic rise, resulting in an increase 
in employee related expenses such 
as salaries, salary related costs, 
bonuses and allowances. 

Financial income, with specific 
reference to deposit interests, 
increased sharply by 53.5% over the 

same period, accounting for 2.2% 
in the net revenue structure. The 
Company has always maintained an 
average investment in the deposit 
channel of about VND 500-600 
billion in the year. This is a low risk 
investment channel, yet brings good 
financial results and takes advantages 
of idle cash. In addition, when it 
comes to a demand on mobilizing 
a large amount of money such as 
dividend payments, the Company 
will take advantages of low interest 
borrowings instead of withdrawing 
long-term deposits at high interest 
rates. As a result, interest expenses 
doubled compared to last year but 
remained in a safe level compared 
to the Company’s business results 
(accounted for only 0.6% of the net 
revenue).

DHG TRA DMC IMP OPC

Net revenue 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Cost of goods sold 56.1% 44.4% 60.1% 60.7% 57.8%

Selling expenses 18.0% 26.9% 14.7% 19.8% 20.2%

General and administrative 
expenses 7.8% 11.4% 7.2% 7.3% 9.8%

Financial expenses 2.4% 0.2% 0.0% 1.2% 1.1%

Tax burden 10.7% 19.3% 20.0% 19.9% 22.9%

Source: Audited financial statements of Companies in 2017.

In terms of cost structure,  
DHG Pharma generally has the best 
cost structure compared to other 
pharmaceutical companies. This 
is an advantage for the Company 
in a hyper-competitive market 
as pharmaceutical companies 

have similar generics products. 
Investments in the distribution 
system, advertising and marketing 
activities play a more important role, 
which will help DHG Pharma develop 
the market share for its products and 
exclusive distribution.

The net revenue experienced a growth 
of 7.4%; yet, it is mainly generated 
from merchandises with low profit 
margin (approximately 5.3%). Sales 
of in-house goods increased by only 
1% YOY (gross profit margin achieved  
approximately 55.3%), leading to a 
decrease in gross profit margin of 
1.4 percentage points compared to 
2016. As such, the increase in gross 
profit is not commensurate with the 
increase in sales. 

With a cash cycle of 124 days, 
the Company can utilize the same 
amount of cash and cash equivalents 
almost 3 times in one year. This 
will create outstanding advantages 
when effectively utilizing the 
working capital into production and 

DHG TRA OPC DMC IMP

Days sales of inventory 108 138 192 126 131

Days payable outstanding 44 59 31 63 80

Days sales outstanding 60 26 53 92 71

Cash conversion cycle 124 106 215 155 122

Number of cycles in 1 year 2.9 3.4 1.7 2.3 2.9

Source: Audited financial statements of Companies in 2017.

With its advantages in asset 
turnover, the Company’s 
cash conversion cycle  is 
always on top compared to 
other listed peers.

business activities. If the working 
capital is financed by borrowings, 
the Company will benefit from the 
cash conversion cycle because the 
Company generates more returns 
on the same loan, thereby the actual 
rate of borrowings is declined.

ANALYSIS OF MAJOR FLUCTUATIONS IN THE INCOME STATEMENT

 2016 % net 
revenue 2016 2017 % net 

revenue 2017 Growth

Net revenue 3,783.0 100% 4,062.8 100.0% 7.4%

Cost of goods sold 2,070.1 54.7% 2,279.6 56.1% 10.1%

Gross profit 1,713.0 45.3% 1,783.1 43.9% 4.1%

Financial income 57.8 1.5% 88.8 2.2% 53.5%

Financial expenses 84.8 2.2% 97.7 2.4% 15.3%

  Including: Interest expenses 12.5 0.3% 24.5 0.6% 96.4%

Profit/Loss sharing from investments  
in affiliates -0.2 0.0% -1.2 0.0% 542.0%

Selling expenses 631.6 16.7% 732.1 18.0% 15.9%

General and administrative expenses 297.3 7.9% 318.4 7.8% 7.1%

Operating profit 756.9 20.0% 722.5 17.8% -4.5%

Other income 15.1 0.4% 6.8 0.2% -55.3%

Other expenses 15.4 0.4% 10.0 0.2% -34.7%

Net other income/expenses -0.2 0.0% -3.3 -0.1% 1235.2%

Profit before tax 756.7 20.0% 719.2 17.7% -4.9%

Corporate income tax - current 89.0 2.4% 77.6 1.9% -12.8%

Corporate income tax - deferred -21.0 -0.6% -0.7 0.0% -96.6%

Profit after tax 688.6 18.2% 642.4 15.8% -6.7%

EBIT (Earnings before interest and tax) 714.5 18.9% 662.4 16.3% -7.3%

Source: Audited consolidated financial statements of DHG Pharma in 2017.
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NON - CURRENT ASSETS STRUCTURE
The proportion of non-current assets fell from 30.4 percentage points to  
28.1 percentage points as the buildings and structures in Tan Phu Thanh 
Industrial Zone have been completed and DHG Pharma carried out procedures 
on liquidation and sales of houses in Hanoi. At the same time, major fluctuations 
in short-term financial investments strongly affected the overall asset structure 
(current - non-current).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Company 
has always been stable and favorable 
to seize opportunities for expansion 
of the business in the future. Over the 
5-year period, the Company’s owner 
equity always accounts for 65% of 
the total capital. In 2017, this rate 
experienced a decrease of 5.2% over 
the same period. Payables increased 
by 23.5% YOY, equivalent to an 
increase of VND 253 billion. This rise 
is mainly resulted from the increased 
short-term borrowings and the 

dividend payment in phase 2/2017, 
which corresponds to the amount 
of VND 196 billion, date of closing 
the list 29 Dec 2017, payment date  
25 Jan 2018.

Simultaneously, DHG Pharma issued 
bonus shares (2:1 ratio) in 2017 to 
increase its share capital from owner’s 
equity. As a result, the owner’s equity 
witnessed a rise of VND 435.8 billion, 
reaching VND 1,307 billion as at  
31 Dec 2017.

Source: Audited consolidated financial statements of the Company throughout the years
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  Liabilities      Owner’s equity

Categories 31 Dec 2017 
(VND Billion)

Proportion  
in 2017

31 Dec 2016 
(VND Billion)

Proportion  
in 2017

Cash and cash equivalents 550 13.5% 603 15.3%
Short-term investments 931 22.8% 704 17.8%
Receivables 800 19.6% 692 17.5%
Inventories 634 15.5% 733 18.6%
Other current assets 25 0.6% 14 0.4%
Current assets 2,939 71.9% 2,746 69.6%
Fixed assets 1,027 25.1% 1,103 28.0%
Long- term investments 15 0.4% 16 0.4%
Others non-current assets 67 1.6% 58 1.5%
Non-current assets 1,148 28.1% 1,199 30.4%
Total assets 4,087 100.0% 3,945 100.0%
Current liabilities 1,265 30.9% 1,018 25.8%
Non - current liabilities 63 1.6% 58 1.5%
Liabilities 1,328 32.5% 1,076 27.3%
Owner’s equity 2,759 67.5% 2,870 72.7%
Total resources 4,087 100.0% 3,945 100.0%

Source: Audited consolidated financial statements in 2017 of DHG Pharma.

ASSETS  RESOURCES ANALYSIS

CURRENT ASSET STRUCTURE

At the beginning of the year, current 
assets accounted for 69.6% and up 2.3% 
percentage points (accounted for 71.9%) 
by the end of 2017. In order to make more 
efficient use of cash, the Company increased 
term deposits (less than 3 months and from 
3 months to 9 months) with favorable interest 
rates and reduced demand deposits. 
This was reflected in the sharp increase 
in the proportion of short-term financial 
investments, from 17.8 percentage points to 
22.8 percentage points.

In the period 2012 - 2016, the proportion 
of inventory in total assets was always 
maintained at a high level (over 18.5 
percentage points) as the Company stored 
goods to ensure its supply to demands in the 
process of relocating the factory. By 2017 
when the Betalactam and Non-Betalactam 
plants have been operating stably, 
inventories have fallen by  3.1 percentage 

ASSET STRUCTURE

In terms of asset structure, the proportion 
of current assets and non-current assets is 
relatively stable in 2017. As at 31 Dec 2017, 
the current assets accounted for 72% of 
total assets, up more than 2% compared 
to the end of 2016. The increase came 
from short-term financial investments, 

including bank deposits with maturity of 
over 3 months to 9 months. The Company 
utilized its abundant cash for low-risk 
investments and generated significant 
financial income in the financial year, but 
still ensured paying capacity in case of 
necessary.

points compared to the beginning of 
the year. Also, 2017 was the year when  
DHG Pharma transformed its warehouse 
system into three large central warehouses 
in order to gradually control goods better and 
to enhance capital efficiency. 

In 2017, the Company still maintained its 
trade account receivables policy similar to 
that of 2016. Trade account receivables for 
the pharmacy channel has an outstanding 
payment period of net 30 days and if falling 
into overdue from 45 days, the Company 
will cease issuing sales invoices. Trade 
account receivables for the hospital channel 
has an outstanding payment period of net  
180 days. However, the proportion of 
receivables increased by 2.0 percentage 
points due to the sorting, new recruitment, 
replacement of delivery - payment collection 
employees at the end of the year, partly 
affecting the progress of payment collection.
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PROFIT DISTRIBUTION IN 2017

Target Appropriation rate in 2017 Amount (VND)

Consolidated profit after tax (PAT) of the parent 
company 642,407,977,142

Additional CIT payable in 2016 24,456,194,565

PAT in 2017 for distribution 617,951,782,577

Dividends in 2017
• Advance dividend payment of the 1st phase:  

10% par value on 04 Oct 2017
• Advance dividend payment of the 2nd phase:  

15% par value on 25 Jan 2018
• The remaining: 5% par value  

(expected to pay after the AGM)

30% par value 392,238,213,000

Deduction from the Bonus and Welfare Fund 10% of consolidated PAT 
for distribution 61,795,178,258

Remuneration for the BOD, BOS, members of subcommit-
tees under the BOD,  BOD Secretariat 6,000,000,000 6,000,000,000

Bonus for the BOD, BOS, subcommittee’s members under 
the BOD, BOD Secretariat, Executive Board and outstanding 
staffs in 2017

Unimplemented due to not 
reaching the plan. - 

The remaining profit shall be added to Investment  
& Development fund

The remaining 157,918,391,319

BALANCE OF FUNDS AFTER PROFIT DISTRIBUTION IN 2017

No. Content Balance as at 31 
Dec 2017 (*)

Targeted profit  
distribution 2017

Balance after profit 
distribution 2017

1 Bonus and Welfare Fund 55,056,051,032 61,795,178,258 116,851,229,290

2 Remuneration, Bonus Fund of  
the BOD, BOS, Executive Board 7,902,745,368 6,000,000,000 13,902,745,368

3 Investment & Development Fund 1,112,177,317,110 157,918,391,319 1,270,095,708,429

(*) Audited consolidated financial statements 2017

MARKET VALUE RATIOS

DHG Pharma’s shares witnessed 
remarkable growth with a market 
value as at 29 Dec 2017, up 
82.5% compared to the beginning 
of the year. This rate surpasses 
that of the industry peers and 
VNIndex indicators (the indicators 
increased by 48% in 2017). 
The liquidity of shares was also 
improved significantly when the 
total trading volume reached 

43.8 million units, experiencing 
an increase of 131% compared to 
2016. The total trading value was 
estimated at VND 5,000 billion, 
witnessing a rise of 180% compared 
to 2016. Investors are placing great 
expectations on the Company’s 
business prospects as well as positive 
information such as lifting FOL and 
upgrading factory standards.

Market value  
as at 29 Dec 2017, up 

compared to the period  
as at 30 Dec 2016

82.5%

CONCLUSION

Taisho’s support; (2) Revenue from 
distribution shall not be generated 
after completing FOL procedures; 
(3) Increased raw material prices 
shall affect the gross profit margin; 
(4) Depreciation shall increase due to 
additional investments in machinery 
to automate production. Profit after 
tax shall increase due to continuous 
tax incentives.

At the AGM 2017, the General 
Meeting approved the merger of  
DHG Pharmaceutical One 
Member Limited Company and  
DHG Packaging and Printing 1 One 
Member Limited Company into 
DHG Pharmaceutical JSC as DHG 
Pharmaceutical Plant Branch in  
Hau Giang. The date for merging will 
be 01 Apr 2018. After the merger,  

the total assets on the parent 
company’s financial statements 
will be adjusted significantly and 
the amount shall be higher than 
that of the same period in 2016, 
but the consolidated financial 
statements shall not be influenced 
by the merger. After the merger, 
DHG Pharmaceutical Plant Branch 
in Hau Giang will inherit the CIT 
incentives of DHG Pharmaceutical 
One Member Limited Company 
and DHG Packaging and Printing 1 
One Member Limited Company for 
the remaining period of the project.  
After completing the merger 
procedures, the Company will 
implement FOL lifting procedures  
with the State Securities Commission 
and HCM City Securities Depository.

.

The business performance in 
2017 did not meet the AGM’s plan,  
yet DHG Pharma’s financial indicators 
remained healthy. The cash flow was 
positively utilized, and the inventory 
turnover was significantly improved 
thanks to the application of central 
warehouse model and reasonable 
raw-material inventories. 

In terms of business plan in 2018, 
net revenue is targeted to reach 
VND 4.017 billion that is equivalent 
to 2017.  Profit before tax is targeted 
to achieve VND 768 billion, up 6.7% 
over the same period pursuant to the 
following bases: (1) Sales of in-house 
goods will increase by over 15% 
thanks to its extensive, diversified 
and professional distribution system, 
the stable operating plants, and 

 DHG TRA DMC IMP OPC

Book value (VND) 25,323   29,444   27,437   38,801   22,558   

Earnings per share (VND) 4,367 5,351 5,980 2,501 3,092

P/B 4.5 4.0 4.2 1.5 2.6

P/E 26.2 21.9 19.3 23.0 19.2

Increase in price  
(29 Dec 2017 compared to  30 Dec 2016) 82.5% 27.9% 75.3% 31.5% 60.7%

Average daily trading volume (shares/day) 175,324 15,497 23,082 28,416 2,822

Average trading value (VND billion/day) 20.0 1.9 2.1 1.8 0.1

Source: website https://vietstock.vn/
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T
O

Opportunities for R&D development from collaborative relationships, joint 
ventures, technical transfer, purchasing scientific projects, and hiring researches.

State policies and new pharmaceutical regulation create opportunities for 
enterprises to be in control of production operation.

Thanks to economic integration, many international pharmaceutical groups 
are entering Vietnam market; this facilitates the learning and experiences 
growth for DHG Pharma personnel in science and technology for new and 
modern products. 

Market size is gradually expanding due to the overall increase in health 
expenditure, population, and per capita income. 

DHG Pharma has advantages when participating in the centralized bidding 
(based on production capacity, product quality, supply chain, distribution 
chain, and financial capability...). 

The strengths of DHG Pharma is to create advantages for DHG Pharma 
to attract investments, opportunities for joint venture, association, M&A, 
exclusive distribution, technology transfer from large corporations in the 
world, qualified suppliers selection, and price competition.

The economy of Vietnam is integrating deeply and widely. The open trade 
policy with other countries, fragmentation growth of market, psychology of 
preferring imported goods, cheap medicines with poor quality flocking into 
Vietnam market create an extremely fierce competitive environment in the 
healthcare market.

Vietnamese pharmaceutical industry faces difficulties while competing in 
the international market because drugs manufactured in Vietnam have not 
achieved high standard or have not passed bioequivalence standards. Hence, 
these types of drugs have not had adequate conditions for exportation.

The main raw materials for production of DHG Pharma and other enterprises 
in the industry are mainly imported (80-90%); hence, it is influenced by 
factors such as exchange rates, raw material price fluctuations, import tax 
policy, etc.

The monetary policy of exchange rate in the macro-economic with 
export priority affects unfavorably to enterprises having large importing 
proportions (materials, equipment, and technology).

Medicine price is controlled by the State while input costs are increasing. 
Besides, the increase of medicine price is also influenced by competitive 
factors and other means of mass media.

The growth rate in the last 10 years of DHG Pharma significantly 
outperformed peers. Expectation of investors regarding growth rate, 
dividend rate, ROS, ROE, etc. are always high, exerting pressure to the 
Board of Directors and Board of Management. It also affects the long-term 
sustainable development strategy of the Company.
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S.W.O.T ANALYSIS 

The application of new technology in R&D is a major initiative but is not highly 
effective. The progress of launching new products each year is still slow.

Although export activities have been available in over 12 countries, 
export sales have not reached expectation.

The risk management model of the Company has not been completed as 
targeted. The Company is in the process of perfecting the risk management 
model, the risk management policy framework, the risk measurement and 
management tools towards international standards and practices.

The distribution system is the most widespread in Vietnam compared to 
the domestic and foreign competitors; therefore, DHG Pharma can actively 
generate high revenue from in-house products and exclusive products.

Biggest plant capacity in Vietnam (7.5 billion product units/year).  
In addition to in-house production and output growth from existing 
markets; the Company can attain temporary processing order, export-
orienting, and centralized bidding.

Leading position in market share, reputation, and brand position in 
Vietnam pharmaceutical industry: 20 consecutive years leading in sales, 
market share, and production capacity.

Strong financial resource, effective operation (cash-rich, 15 years tax 
incentive for new plant, high profitability ratios) enables the Company to 
implement modern strategies to attract skillful personnel, R&D investment, 
capital mobilization, M&A, and Joint-Venture.

DHG Pharma has grown and trained passionate and enthusiastic staffs: 
they are confident, loyal, and represent DHG Pharma’s cultural identity; 
thus it creates confidence for customers, consumers, partners, and 
investors with the image of a reputable and friendly Company.

Social activities: DHG Pharma is well-known as a Company having 
many social activities to contribute to the community.

DHG Pharma is further strengthened by the contribution packages in 
term of technology and production provided by its strategic shareholder 
- Taisho, helping reduce consultant fees in upgrading to PIC/s standard 
and product costs...
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BUSINESS PLAN
2018 - 2020

THE FINANCIAL TARGETS FOR 2018 - 2020 ARE SET ON THE PRINCIPLES

≥13%/year
TARGET SALES GROWTH

≥7%/year
TARGET PROFIT GROWTH

BASED ON THE FOLLOWING BASES

Basing on the analysis of DHG 
Pharma’s business operation 
and performance as well as 
opportunities and challenges 
of the macro-economy  
and pharmaceutical industry  

in Vietnam.

In implementing the FOL lifting 
proposal under Resolution No. 
002/2017/NQ.ĐHĐCĐ dated 28 
July 2017 of the AGM, several 
restricted business lines after 
lifting the FOL are predicted to 

loose its revenue and profit. 

Consolidating the leading role 
in Vietnamese pharmaceutical 
industry and integrating into  

the world. 

EXTERNAL FACTORS

Financial resources: Strong financial potential; 
effective business.

Sales and production resources: The most 
professional, diversified, deepest and widest 
distribution network; modern plants with the largest 
capacity in Vietnam.

Intangible assets and intellectual property: 
Existing production know-hows and abilities to 
develop new products, market share and brand 
prestige of DHG Pharma, close relationship with 
customers as well as dedicated, passionate and 
skillful staffs. 

Corporate management: Gradual improvement 
of the corporate system and aiming to international 
best practices.

Social factors: Opportunities from sustainable 
development trend and demographic factors such 
as population change by age, gender, etc.

Environmental factors Economic growth in 
parallel with environmental protection and natural 
resources preservation. 

Cooperative factors: Opportunities for 
cooperation, joint ventures, scientific and technical 
transfer from partners and strategic shareholders, 
purchase of scientific subjects, hire of researches.

INTERNAL FACTORS

MAXIMIZING THE ENTERPRISE VALUE AND INCREASING 
THE INTERESTS OF ALL STAKEHOLDERS.

BEING THE BIGGEST GENERIC PHARMACEUTICAL 
ENTERPRISE IN VIETNAM.

BEING A PHARMACEUTICAL ENTERPRISE WITH THE 
DEEPEST, BROADEST, MOST PROFESSIONAL AND 
DIVERSIFIED DISTRIBUTION CHANNEL.  

BECOMING A SYMBOL OF HUMANITY IN CONTRIBUTING 
TO THE SOCIETY AND ENHANCING THE QUALITY OF LIFE. 

BEING THE LEADING ENTERPRISE IN APPLYING SCIENCE 
AND TECHNOLOGY IN OPERATION (R&D, PRODUCTION, 
INFORMATION AND MANAGEMENT).  

WELL - IMPROVING AND DEVELOPING CRUCIAL RESOURCES. 

STRATEGIC GOALS
2018 - 2020

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 2018 - 2020

1

2

3
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Compliance is the solid connection for guaranteeing that one’s output is the input of others. These 
also mean strict compliance with the procedures and regulations; optimizing the functions and 
responsibility held by each individual and position;  Responsibilities are the integration of precious 
experience of older generations with the youth’s enthusiasm and efforts in applying technology to 

form a unified and solid team.

COMPLIANCE 
RESPONSIBILITY

KEY SOLUTIONS 
FOR 2018

Promoting IT application in management.

Strengthening supervisory and risk 
management in the sales system.

Managing and operating daily/weekly/quarterly/
yearly targets.

Streamlining processes to increase productivity 
in warehouse management and transportation. 
Carrying out projects to improve Supply Chain 
productivity (SCM).

Carrying out mobile application to increase 
communication and promotion efficiency,  
cost-effectiveness and user data management. 
Implementing criteria for actions from 2018 to 2020 
instilling the humanity value in the whole Company.

Enhancing activities to promote DHG Pharma 
branding as a symbol of humanity through 
the game show Special White Blouse Mission 
Season 3, customer care, community 
activities, etc. 

Preparing dossiers to meet PIC/s - Malaysia 
with regards to the effervescent line in 2018. 
The remaining lines in DHG Pharma Ltd. are 
also targeted to meet PIC/s standard. 

Preparing evaluation dossiers to meet  
PMDA standard (Japan) with regards to several 
products and planning/preparing conditions 
for developing strategic product lines to meet 
EU standards. 

Developing and coordinating reasonable 
production plans, effectively utilizing equipment 
capacity, increasing productivity, providing 
sufficient and timely goods to the market.  

Reviewing and re-evaluating equipment 
productivity. Ensuring productivity, quality and 
safety for workers’ health.

Taking measures to avoid failure omission; 
enhancing the supervising process and 
minimizing defective products launched to 
the market. 

Implementing automation to boost productivity 
and product quality as well as to reduce 
production costs.

Investing in modernizing equipment, 
increasing the capacity to meet production 
demands, increasing production efficiency 
and improving product quality. 

Implementing the boiler system project in lieu 
of a resistor heating device, aiming to reduce 
electricity cost, improve safety in production 
and lower the product price.

Strengthening supervisory, implementation of 
process, SOP and risk management. Transparent, 
clear and compliant with regulated standards.  

Promoting and enhancing the role of 
accounting management and investment 
management; strictly and logically controlling 
the budget; ensuring effective operation on 
each category of the whole Company. 

Setting regulations on management and use 
of assets, regulations on liquidation of assets, 
standardizing investment procedures and grant 
of authority (GOA). 

Combining financial resources (banks, partners, 
etc.) to coordinately increase efficiency in 
managing cash, goods, debt security, etc.

Standardizing recruitment and training processes 
in line with the Company’s strategy. Continuing 
to train successors in line with procedures and 
carrying out re-evaluation each year. 

Selecting, recruiting for replacement, 
developing high-quality human resources 
based on the Company’s competency 
framework and development orientation; 
Improving the training of skilled staffs to  
boost productivity.

The Company’s union, HR Department etc.  
look after employees with sincerity; building 
loyalty and responsibility for protecting  
DHG Pharma’s trademark. 

Controlling the operating system of  
100% firms. Continuing to standardize  
124 corporate governance processes and 
developing a risk management handbook. 

Carrying out the Company’s strategic 
orientation in 2018 related to logistics and 
supply chain.

MARKET SECTOR PRODUCTION SECTOR BACK-OFFICE SECTOR

BUSINESS PLAN OF 2018

4,017
NET REVENUE 

(FIGURES IN: VND BILLION)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 
(FIGURES IN: VND BILLION)

768 

BUSINESS PLAN 
IN 2018

8584 www.dhgpharma.com.vn
ANNUAL REPORT 2017

REPORT ON 
PERFORMANCES IN 2017  

& PLANS IN 2018



Malaysia 
Hoepharma Holdings 

Sdn. Bhd

Thailand 
Osotspa Taisho 

Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd

Indonesia 
PT Taisho Pharmaceutical  
Indonesia Tbk

Philippines 
Taisho Pharmaceuticals 
(Philippines), Inc

Taiwan 
Taisho Pharmaceutical 
(Taiwan) Co., Ltd

China 
Taisho Co., Ltd. 
Shanghai

China 
Taisho Pharmaceutical 

(H.K.) Ltd

Vietnam 
DHG  
Pharmaceutical JSC

Taisho Vietnam Co., 
Ltd

Singapore 
Taisho Pharmaceutical  

Singapore Private Limited

INTRODUCTION OF 
STRATEGIC PARTNER 

SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATES OF TAISHO IN EAST ASIA AND SOUTHEAST ASIA

Name of company : Taisho Pharmaceutical Group

Date of foundation : 12 Oct 1912

Head office : Tokyo, Japan

Total assets (as at 31 Dec 2017) : USD 6.9 Billion 

Net revenue in 2017 : USD 2.5 Billion

Personnel : 6,461 employees

Vision : To contribute to consumers' health and wellbeing

Core operations : • Self-medication (Consumer healthcare) - OTC drugs  
and health related products

• Prescription Pharmaceuticals - development of unique new drugs

Operating network : The Taisho Pharmaceutical Group is made up of Taisho Pharmaceutical 
Holdings Co., Ltd. and its 34 subsidiaries & 4 affiliates. In which:
• In Japan: 12 subsidiaries and 2 affiliates.
• Overseas: 22 subsidiaries and 2 affiliates.

BUSINESS PLAN OF 2018

CONTRIBUTION 
PACKAGES

TAISHO’S PROPOSED

In addition to the above solutions for the implementation of 
the strategy in 2018 and the coming years, DHG Pharma also 
received contribution packages in terms of production, supply 
chain, R&D and business cooperation from the strategic 

shareholder - Taisho as follows:

R&D

PRODUCTION - BUSINESS 
COOPERATION

PRODUCTION AND SUPPLY CHAIN

Sending Taisho’s personnel to 
Vietnam to train DHG Pharma’s 
R&D specialists and admitting  
DHG Pharma’s personnel for R&D 
training in Japan.

Technical transfer of Taisho’s 
products or partners’ products for 
production at DHG Pharma’s plants.

Exporting cooperative products or 
DHG Pharma’s products to ASEAN 
markets, DHG Pharma’s and 
Taisho’s existing markets.

Importing Taisho’s and partners’ 
products to develop business in 
the Vietnamese market.

Supporting the construction of the 
effervescent line at DHG Pharma Ltd.  
to meet PIC/s standard, which reduces 
construction and consultancy cost.

Sending experts (over 12 people) 
to consult and support the 
development of evaluation dossiers 
for PIC/s and PMDA standards and 
the forthcoming EU standards for 
the production lines of strategic 
products in DHG Pharma Ltd.

Sending Taisho’s personnel to join 
DHG Pharma’s senior executive 
board, enhancing the capacity 
and professionalism in production 
management and supply chain.

1

1

2

23

3
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Similar to the field of football where discipline strengthens the 
team, strict compliance to procedures and responsibilities for each 
individual has promoted DHG Pharma to its current leading position.  
In DHG Pharma, working outcomes of one person serve as the input for 
another. All individuals are well aware that they each function as an 
important segment of a united chain for all activities of the company. 

COMPLIANCE  
TO RULES & DISCIPLINES 

C O R P O R AT E  G O V E R N A N C E  R E P O R T 

90 Shareholder structure
93 Performances of the BOD
102 Performances of the BOD’s subcommittees
106 Performances of the BOS
112 Transactions, remunerations and interests of  
 the BOD, BOS and BOM
116 Assessment report on corporate governance in 2017  
124 Internal audit and Risk management system 
136 Assessing the implementation of corporate governance  
 based on ASEAN corporate governance scorecard

VND Billion 
(AS AT 29 DEC 2017)

MARKET CAP



OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE BY TYPE OF SHAREHOLDERS 

No. Objects Number of 
shares

Ownership 
ratio (%)

Number of 
shareholders

Shareholder  
structure

Organization Individual

1 States shareholders (SCIC) 56,626,237 43.31% 1 1 -
2 Founding shareholders/FDI shareholders - - - - -

-  Domestic - - - - -
-  Foreign - - - - -

3 Major shareholders 41,320,185 31.60% 2 2 -
-  Domestic - - - - -
-  Foreign 41,320,185 31.60% 2 2 -

4 Company’s Union 533,097 0.41% 1 1 -
5 Treasury shares - - - - -

6 Shareholders owning preferred shares  
(if any) - - - - -

7 Other shareholders 32,266,552 24.68% 5,354 152 5,202
-  Domestic 10,211,435 7.81% 4,837 72 4,765
-  Foreign 22,055,117 16.87% 517 80 437

             TOTAL 130,746,071 100.00% 5,358 156 5,202
In which:  -  Domestic 67,370,769 51.53% 4,839 74 4,765

-  Foreign 63,375,302 48.47% 519 82 437

130,746,071 
Number of outstanding shares

 SCIC 43.31%

 Taisho 24.44%

 Franklin Templeton Investment
     Funds-templeton Frontier Markets Fund  
     (FTIFFMF)

7.16%

 Other shareholders 25.09%

SHAREHOLDER 
STRUCTURE 

(as at 29 Dec 2017)

43.31
%

24.44%

25
.09

%

7.16
%

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE 

SHARES

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURES  
(In accordance with the list finalized as at 29 Dec 2017) 

Par value:  VND 10,000 

Number of listed shares:  130,746,071 shares 

Number of outstanding shares: 130,746,071 shares 

Treasury shares:  0 share 

Restricted shares:  7,905 shares

• Restricted shares of SME due to suspended clearing operation: 9 shares.

• Redeemed ESOP of ex-employees that have not been foreclosed: 6,856 shares.

• The restricted period for ESOP 2010 and ESOP 2011 shares have been expired. However, the transfers for 05 cases 
have not been completed since the issued dates of the owners’ ID cards have not been adjusted: 1,040 shares.

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE BY TYPE OF SHARES 

Objects Restricted shares Shares of free  
transfer Total Ownership 

ratio (%)

I. Internal - 503,074 503,074 0.38%

II. Treasury shares - - - 0.00%

III. Company’s Union 6,856 526,241 533,097 0.41%

IV. Other shareholders 1,049 129,708,851 129,709,900 99.21%

1. Domestic 1,049 66,333,549 66,334,598 50.74%

1.1 Individual 1,040 8,489,900 8,490,940 6.49%

1.2 Organization 9 57,843,649 57,843,658 44.24%

2. Foreign - 63,375,302 63,375,302 48.47%

2.1 Individual - 1,194,579 1,194,579 0.91%

2.2 Organization - 62,180,723 62,180,723 47.56%

TOTAL 7,905 130,738,166 130,746,071 100.00%

TREASURY SHARE TRANSACTIONS

In 2017, the Company did not make any treasury share transactions. 
At present, the number of treasury shares the Company is holding: 0 share.
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MEMBERS AND STRUCTURE OF THE BOD
as an independent member of the BOD of DHG Pharma 
Term III (2014 - 2018) with a win ratio of 83.62%. As 
such, the BOD’s structure has ensured the balance 
between executive members, non-executive members 
and independent members in accordance with the 
Company’s Charter and Internal Regulations of Corporate 
Governance. Independent members of the BOD are  
2/7 members and non-executive members of the BOD 
are 4/7 members. 

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 2013, 
which was held on 28 Apr 2014 approved the number of 
independent members of the BOD Term III (2014 - 2018) to be  
07 members. In which: the number of independent 
members is 02 members. In 2017, the BOD of DHG Pharma 
lacked 01 independent member. At the AGM 2017, held on 
28 Mar 2018, the BOD introduced Mr. Phan Minh Tien to 
stand for the independent member position of the BOD.  
The AGM approved the election of Mr. Phan Minh Tien  

The BOD of DHG Pharma in Term III (2014 - 2018) at present.

No. Full name Executive  
BOD member

Non - executive  
BOD member

Independent  
BOD member 

1 Mr. Nguyen Chi Thanh P

2 Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga P

3 Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong P

4 Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha P

5 Mr. Jun Kuroda P

6 Mr. Tran Chi Liem P

7 Mr. Phan Minh Tien P

PERFORMANCES OF THE BOD

1 2 5 6437

CHANGES IN OWNER’S EQUITY 

In 2017, the Company issued shares to increase its share capital from owner’s equity (Bonus share ratio 2:1). The issuance 
result is as follows:
• Charter capital before issuance:  VND 871,643,300,000
• Charter capital after issuance:  VND 1,307,460,710,000 

LIST OF SPECIAL SHAREHOLDERS 

No. Organizations/Individuals Address Number of 
shares

Ownership 
ratio (%)

A. A. States shareholders

1
States Capital Investment Corporation  
- Limited Company.
In which: Representatives

117 Tran Duy Hung, Trung Hoa 
Ward, Cau Giay Dist., Hanoi 56,626,237 43.31%

1.1 Nguyen Chi Thanh - BOD Chairman 22,650,495 17.32%
1.2 Dang Thi Thu Ha - BOD Member 16,987,871 12.99%

1.3 Doan Dinh Duy Khuong - BOD Member, 
Acting General Director 16,987,871 12.99%

B. Major shareholders 

1. Taisho Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd 1-24-3 Chome, Takada, 
Toshima-ku, Tokyo 31,956,096 24.44%

2. Franklin Templeton Investment  
- Funds  Templeton Frontier Markets Fund

8A, rue, Albert Borschette, 
L-1246 Luxembourg, Grand 
Duchy of Luxembourg

9,364,089 7.16%

TOTAL 97,946,422 74.91%

TIMELINE IN INCREASING CHARTER CAPITAL Figures in: VND 1,000

No. Subject to issuance Increased 
capital

Charter 
capital after 

increases

Business registration 
number 

Date of 
issuance  

1 Equitization: Initial charter capital 80,000,000 80,000,000 69/2006/GCNCP-CNTTLK 18 Dec 2006 

2

- Existing shareholders;  
- Strategic investors; 
- Employees; 
- Public offerings.

20,000,000 100,000,000 68/2007/GCNCP-CNTTLK 17 Aug 2007 

3 Existing shareholders (Bonus share at a ratio of 1:1) 100,000,000 200,000,000 129/2007/GCNCP-CNTTLK 11 Dec 2007 

4 Existing shareholders (Bonus share at a ratio of 3:1) 66,629,620 266,629,620 115/2009/GCNCP-CNVSD 09 Dec 2009

5 Employees (ESOP 2010) 2,500,000 269,129,620 69/2006/GCNCP-VSD-4 16 Sept 2010 

6 Employees (ESOP 2011) 2,500,000 271,629,620 69/2006/GCNCP-VSD-5 10 June 2011 

7 Existing shareholders (Bonus share at a ratio of 1:1.4) 380,134,670 651,764,290 69/2006/GCNCP-VSD-6 03 Aug 2011

8 Employees (ESOP 2012) 2,000,000 653,764,290 69/2006/GCNCP-VSD-7 25 June 2012

9 Existing shareholders (Bonus share at a ratio of 3:1) 217,879,010 871,643,300 69/2006/GCNCP-VSD-8 27 June 2014

10 Existing shareholders (Bonus share at a ratio of 2:1)  435,817,410  1,307,460,710 69/2006/GCNCP-VSD-9 20 June 2017 

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE 
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No. Full name Title Appointment period Off - duty period Remarks 

1 Mr. Shuhei Tabata Independent BOD member  28 Apr 2014 24 Mar 2017

On 24 Mar 2017, Mr. Shuhei Tabata submitted his resignation letter.

The AGM 2016 dated 18 Apr 2017 approved Mr. Shuhei Tabata’s letter of resignation. 

Resignation reason: Mr. Shuhei Tabata has been appointed to be General Director of a subsidiary - Fuji Medic  
since 01 Apr 2017. As a result he is unable to meet standards of being an independent BOD member. 

2 Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha BOD member 28 July 2017
The BOD has appointed Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha to be a BOD member since 28 July 2017. Simultaneously, this appointment 
has been approved through the general meeting by solicitation of written consents for the second time in 2017 in 
accordance with Resolution No.003/2017/NQ.ĐHĐCĐ dated 25 Oct 2017.

3 Mr. Hoang Nguyen Hoc BOD Chairman 28 Apr 2014 25 Oct 2017

The general meeting by solicitation of written consents for the second time in 2017 organized in accordance with 
Resolution No. 003/2017/NQ.ĐHĐCĐ dated 25 Oct 2017 has approved the resignation letter as a BOD member of  
Mr. Hoang Nguyen Hoc. 

Resignation reason: retirement in line with SCIC’s regime.

4 Mr. Nguyen Chi Thanh BOD Chairman 26 Oct 2017

The general meeting by solicitation of written consents for the second time in 2017 organized in accordance with Resolution 
No. 003/2017/NQ.ĐHĐCĐ dated 25 Oct 2017 has approved the appointment as a BOD member Term III (2014 - 2018)  
of Mr. Nguyen Chi Thanh. 

Simultaneously, the BOD came into an agreement on the appointment of Mr. Nguyen Chi Thanh as BOD Chairman in 
accordance with Resolution No. 016/2017/NQ.HĐQT dated 25 Oct 2017.

5 Mr. Le Dinh Buu Tri Vice Chairman 25 Apr 2009 25 Oct 2017

The general meeting by solicitation of written consents for the second time in 2017 organized in accordance with 
Resolution No. 003/2017/NQ.ĐHĐCĐ dated 25 Oct 2017 has approved the resignation as a BOD member of  
Mr. Le Dinh Buu Tri. 

Resignation reason: Implementation of SCIC’s direction.

6 Mr. Phan Minh Tien Independent BOD member 28 Mar 2017 On 28 Mar 2018, the AGM 2017 approved the appointment of Mr. Phan Minh Tien as an independent BOD member. 

The BOD of DHG Pharma Term III (2014 - 2018) before making personnel changes.  
From left to right: Mr. Le Dinh Buu Tri, Mr. Tran Chi Liem, Mr. Hoang Nguyen Hoc (Chairman), Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga,  
Mr. Jun Kuroda and Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong. 

PERFORMANCES OF  
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

In 2017, the BOD made several changes within its personnel structure. The appointment, dismissal and replacement 
of the BOD members have been implemented in accordance with the Law on Enterprises, Decree 71/2017/ NĐ-CP 
(effective from 01 Aug 2017) and the Company’s Charter.

PERSONNEL CHANGES
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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VND billion (23 June 2017)

Increased charter capital 
from VND 871 billion to

1,307
Issued shares to increase share 
capital from owners’ equity. 
Release rate 2:1. Increased 
charter capital from VND 871 
billion to VND 1,307 billion.  
Listing date: 23 June 2017. 
Transaction date: 03 July 2017.  
In order to ensure the interests of 
all shareholders and in accordance 
with the official dispatch from State 
Securities Commission of Vietnam 
(SSC), the BOD has adjusted the 
share rounding method, completing 
the issuance procedures. Details 
are as follows:

• With regards to the orientation in lifting the foreign ownership limit (FOL) at 
DHG Pharma to over 49%, the BOD submitted a written request at the General 
Meeting of Shareholders for the approval of FOL lifting to 100%. The BOD has 
prepared solutions for restricted business lines after FOL lifting. One of these 
solutions is to merge 02 subsidiaries (DHG Pharma Ltd. and DHG PP1) into 
DHG Pharma. It is expected to be officially merged by 01 July 2018 as the latest. 

• Redemption of treasury shares for preferential sale to employees: unable 
to implement because the consolidated PAT in 2017 did not meet the 
planned targets. 

The number of additional 
shares shall be rounded down 
to units, the fractional shares 
shall be eliminated

Adjustment

The number of additional 
shares shall be rounded down 
to decimal places, the fractional 
shares shall be eliminated

Before adjustment  (under 
the AGM resolution 

No.001/2017/NQ.ĐHĐCĐ 
dated 18 Apr 2017)

In 2017, the BOD conducted 18 meetings, issued 18 Resolutions and 72 Decisions to solve issues under the BOD’s 
functions and power. In which there were 08 face to face meetings and 10 meetings via emails. 

The BOS and BOM were invited to all of the BOD meetings in order to discuss and generate unanimity in the BOD’s 
strategies, business directions over the Executive Board.

SUMMARY OF THE BOD’S MEETINGS AND RESOLUTIONS

Attendance rate

No. BOD member Position Attendance Rate Remarks

1 Mr. Hoang Nguyen Hoc Chairman of the BOD 15/18 83.3% Removal from 25 Oct 2017

2 Mr. Nguyen Chi Thanh Chairman of the BOD 03/18 16.7% Additional appointment from 26 Oct 2017

3 Mr. Le Dinh Buu Tri Vice Chairman of the BOD 15/18 83.3% Removal from 25 Oct 2017

4 Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga Member of the BOD 18/18 100%

5 Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong Member of the BOD  
Acting General Director 18/18 100%  

6 Mr. Tran Chi Liem Independent BOD member 18/18 100%

7 Mr. Shuhei Tabata Independent BOD member 02/18 11.1% Resignation from 24 Mar 2017

8 Mr. Jun Kuroda Member of the BOD 18/18 100%

9 Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha Member of the BOD 06/18 33.3% Additional appointment from 28 July 2017

PERFORMANCES OF THE BOD

In 2017, the BOD performed in accordance with collective and 
individual functions, duties and powers and in compliance with the 
Law on Enterprises, the Company’s Charter and applicable law.  
The BOD meetings are held in accordance with the Company’s Charter.  
The Meeting Minutes, Resolutions and Decisions of the BOD are 
based on the agreements of all members and archived in accordance 
with regulations. 

PERFORMANCES OF 
OF THE BOD IN 2017

Sales target reached 93% and profit target reached 90%.  

Carried out the deduction of Funds in accordance with the AGM’s resolution 2016.

Made dividend payment in 2016 by cash (35% par value). Last registration date:  
05 May 2017; payment date: 17 May 2017. 

Carried out advance dividend payment Phase 1 & Phase 2 in 2017 by cash (10% and 
15% par value respectively). Last registration date: 19 Sept 2017 and 29 Dec 2017; 
payment date: 04 Oct 2017 and 25 Jan 2018.

Signed an audit agreement on 22 June 2017 with PwC Vietnam to independently audit 
Financial Statements for the fiscal year 2017. 

THE IMPLEMENTATION OF THE AGM’S RESOLUTION 2016
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No. Resolution No. Date Attendance Contents

8 008/2017/ NQ.HĐQT 17 June 2017
BOD: 5/6
BOS: 2/3
BOM: 4/4

Approval of organizing a General Meeting of Shareholders 
by solicitation of written consent in 2017.

Changing from dissolution of TOT Pharmaceutical One 
Member Limited Company (TOT Pharma) to transferring of 
the whole charter capital of TOT Pharma. 

Approval of increasing DHG Pharma’s ownership ratio 
in Song Hau Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company  
(SH Pharma) from 51% to 100%.

Approval of contents related to the AGM 2016 of SH Pharma 
and Vinh Hao Algae Processing Joint Stock Company 
(SPIVIHA). 

9 009/2017/NQ.HĐQT 14 July 2017
BOD: 6/6
BOS: 3/3
BOM: 4/4

Approval of the documents submitted to the General 
Meeting of Shareholders by solicitation of written consent 
for the 1st time in 2017. Approval of the dissolution of DHG 
Travel One Member Limited Company (dissolution on  
31 Dec 2017). 

Approval the issuance of shares to increase charter capital 
from owner’s equity, and the supplement of business lines 
of DHG Pharmaceutical One Member Limited Company 
and other contents under the BOD’s authorities.

10 010/2017/ NQ.HĐQT 28 July 2017
BOD: 6/6
BOS: 3/3
BOM: 3/4

Approval of the BOD Secretary’s report; BOM report; 
Subcommittees’ reports in Q2/2017 and plan of Q3/2017.

An additional election as a BOD member of DHG Pharma 
Term III (2014 - 2018) to Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha.   

Approval of the termination on being DHG Pharma’s 
capital representatives at TOT Pharma. 

Implementation of the resolution approved by the General 
Meeting of Shareholders by solicitation of written consent 
for the 1st time in 2017 and other contents under the 
BOD’s authorities.

11 011/2017/ NQ.HĐQT 23 Aug 2017
BOD: 7/7
BOS: 2/3
BOM: 4/4

Approval of Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga’s resignation 
as General Director and Legal Representative from  
01 Sept 2017.

Approval of extending the position of Deputy General 
Director in charge of Finance and Back office and Deputy 
General Director in charge of Production and Supply Chain. 

Approval of the advance dividend phase 1/2017, advance 
rate: 10% of par value. Approval of contents submitted 
to the General Meeting of Shareholders by solicitation of 
written consent for the 2nd time in 2017 and other contents 
under the BOD’s authorities.

12 012/2017/ NQ.HĐQT 25 Aug 2017

BOD: 6/6
(Candidate 
Doan Dinh 
Duy Khuong is 
excluded)

Approval of Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong’s appointment as 
Acting General Director and Legal Representative within  
6 months starting from 01 Sept 2017.

13 013/2017/ NQ.HĐQT 01 Sept 2017
BOD: 7/7
BOS: 3/3
BOM: 4/4

Approval of removing Functional Directors, who reached 
mandatory retirement age and approval of Acting General 
Director’s regime.

Resolutions issued by the BOD in 2017

No. Resolution No. Date Attendance Contents

1 001/2017/ NQ.HĐQT 19 Jan 2017
BOD: 7/7
BOS: 3/3
BOM: 3/4

Approval of the BOD Secretary’s report; BOM report; 
Subcommittees’ reports in 2016 and plan of 2017. 

Approval of the appointment of DHG Pharma’s Chief 
Accountant position to Mr. Ho Buu Huan, additional 
members and restructuring of subcommittees under the 
BOD, documentation submitted to the AGM 2016 and 
bonus given to outstanding individuals and groups in 2016.

2 002/2017/ NQ.HĐQT 24 Mar 2017
BOD: 7/7
BOS: 3/3
BOM: 4/4

Approval of the business targets in 2017.

Approval of   Mr. Shuhei Tabata’s resignation  from the 
position as an independent BOD member from 24 Mar 2017.

Approval of the Internal Audit Subcommittee’s personnel 
under the BOD, Fuji Medic Subsidiary’s personnel. 
Approval of the budget limit and credit limit in 2017 as 
well as the convening notice to the  AGM and meeting 
contents sent to shareholders.

3 003/2017/ NQ.HĐQT 03 Apr 2017
BOD: 6/6
BOS: 3/3
BOM: 4/4

Approval of the document and reporting assignment at 
the AGM 2016.

4 004/2017/ NQ.HĐQT 17 Apr 2017
BOD: 6/6
BOS: 3/3
BOM: 4/4

Approval of the BOD Secretary’s report; BOM report; 
Subcommittees’ reports in Q1/2017 and plan of Q2/2017. 

Approval of profit distribution in 2016 and profit distribution 
plan in 2017 of DHG Pharma’s wholly owned subsidiaries. 

Approval - the replacement of statements and 
amendment of the AGM’s draft resolution 2016. Approval 
- the extension for the General Director position up to  
31 Aug 2017 and other contents under the BOD’s authorities.  

5 005/2017/ NQ.HĐQT 18 Apr 2017
BOD: 6/6
BOS: 2/3
BOM: 4/4

Implementation of the AGM 2016 Resolution dated  
18 Apr 2017.

6 006/2017/ NQ.HĐQT 03 May 2017
BOD: 6/6
BOS: 3/3
BOM: 4/4

Appointment of Ms. Le Thi Hong Nhung as Finance 
Director from 03 May 2017.

Agreement on selecting PwC as an independent auditor 
for financial statements in 2017 and other contents under 
the BOD’s authorities.

7 007/2017/ NQ.HĐQT 13 May 2017
BOD: 6/6
BOS: 3/3
BOM: 4/4

Approval of the extension for Deputy General Director 
positions to 31 Aug 2017.

PERFORMANCES OF THE BOD
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Pursuant to the Company’s strategic orientation 2016 - 
2020, and the business targets of 2018 approved by the 
AGM, the BOD will improve its efficiency and operating 
method in accordance with the new practice. It shall ensure 
that the BOD’s functions are carried out promptly and the 
operating regulation is clearly and transparently built. It is 
also the BOD’s key mission to strengthen management 
and supervision towards the performances of the  
BOM and managerial staffs in the implementation of the 
BOD/AGM’s resolution, aiming to ensure that all activities of 
the Company are effective and accorded with regulations 
and the business targets of 2018.  

It is also the BOD’s target to adjust the strategies 
and business targets 2018 – 2019 – 2020 to ensure 
its alignment with the development orientation of  
DHG Pharma in the coming years.

Changing the corporate structure, the Charter and the 
governance regulation is aimed to make the Company’s 
performances better, coherent and accorded with laws. 

The BOD will also direct procedures related to FOL  
lifting (100%). 

By complying with regulations on the percentage of 
independent members and non-executive members, the 
BOD could make objective and independent decisions on 
issues and decisions within its power. 

At present, the composition of the BOD’s members ensures 
a balance among executive members, non-executive 
members and independent members, of which at least 
one-third of the members are independent members. 2/7 
independent members of the BOD are Mr. Tran Chi Liem 
and Mr. Phan Minh Tien.

Mr. Tran Chi Liem – an independent member of the BOD, 
Head of the Nomination and Remuneration Subcommittee, 

formerly held the position of the Vice Minister of the Ministry 
of Health. With his profound knowledge and experience. 
Mr. Tran has contributed to the Company’s operations as 
a consultant, pointing out opportunities and challenges of 
the industry, guiding the Executive Board to understand 
relevant laws and supporting the BOD’s foreign relations. 
At the same time, Mr. Tran also carried out the recruitment 
of senior positions (General Director, Finance Director) in 
accordance with the order and procedures of the Company. 

Mr. Phan Minh Tien – an independent member of the BOD, 
who will join as a member of the Strategic Subcommittee  
in 2018, will develop strategies for production, business and 
long-term investments of DHG Pharma.

PERFORMANCES OF INDEPENDENT BOD MEMBERS  

ORIENTATION OF THE BOD’S PERFORMANCE IN 2018 

Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga - a BOD member of DHG Pharma is presenting several statements at the AGM.

No. Resolution No. Date Attendance Contents

14 014/2017/ NQ.HĐQT 28 Sept 2017
BOD: 7/7
BOS: 3/3
BOM: 4/4

Approval of the documents submitted to the General 
Meeting of Shareholders by solicitation of written 
consent for the 2nd time in 2017.

15 015/2017/ NQ.HĐQT 25 Oct 2017
BOD: 7/7
BOS: 2/3
BOM: 3/3

Appointment of Mr. Tomoyuki Kawata as the Deputy 
General Director in charge of production, supply chain, 
training and technical transfer of DHG Pharma within 
one year from 25 Oct 2017. Approval of the BOD 
Secretary’s report; BOM report; Subcommittees’ reports 
in 9 months/2017 and plan of Q4/2017. Approval of 
transferring profit after tax in 6Ms/2017 of wholly-owned 
subsidiaries to DHG Pharma and other contents under the 
BOD’s authorities.

16 016/2017/ NQ.HĐQT 25 Oct 2017
BOD: 7/7
BOS: 2/3
BOM: 3/3

Implementation of the resolution of the General Meeting of 
Shareholders by solicitation of written consent for the 2nd 
time in 2017. Appointment of Mr. Nguyen Chi Thanh as 
BOD Chairman Term III (2014 - 2018) from 26 Oct 2017.

17 017/2017/ NQ.HĐQT 14 Dec 2017
BOD: 6/6
BOS: 3/3
BOM: 4/4

Approval of advance dividend phase 2/2017, advance 
rate: 15% of par value.

18 018/2017/ NQ.HĐQT 29 Dec 2017
BOD: 6/6
BOS: 3/3
BOM: 4/4

Appointment of Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha as the Head of Audit 
and Risk Management Subcommittee from 01 Jan 2018. 
Appointment of Mr. Atsushi Toyoshima as Supply Chain 
Director within 01 year from 01 Jan 2018. Appointment 
of Ms. Le Thi Hong Nhung as the person in charge of 
Corporate Governance since 01 Jan 2018. Approval of 
the profit distribution of wholly-owned subsidiaries of 
DHG Pharma in 2017. Report on the remuneration fund of 
the BOD and BOS in 2017 and plan for 2018. Approval of 
budget limit and credit limit in 2018.

PERFORMANCES OF THE BOD

The BOD always keeps track of and directs the BOM’s 
performance, promptly addresses arising issues under 
the BOD’s authority in order to create favorable conditions 
for the BOM’s performances. 

The BOM has carried out the majority of their duties in 
accordance with the resolution of the BOD and AGM. 
The BOM is expected to review and closely follow the 
Company’s yearly/quarterly development strategies 
2016 - 2020 in order to strengthen the foundation for 
sustainable development. 

In 2017, the BOM will continue to improve and 
standardize internal flowcharts/ regulations/procedures, 
improving managerial ability and cost-effectiveness as 

well as ensuring the consistency and strengthening the 
compliance in the Company. 

The BOD continued to appoint Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong 
(DOB: 17 Sept 1974) to be the Legal Representative 
and Acting General Director of DHG Pharma until  
31 Dec 2018.

Conclusion: During the year, General Director and 
his managerial staff have basically completed their 
assigned tasks. They also strictly abided by rules, 
regulations in management activities, decentralized 
their management in accordance with the Charter, 
Management Regulation, DHG Pharma’s internal 
regulations as well as the BOD’s decisions. 

MONITORING RESULT WITH REGARDS TO THE GENERAL DIRECTOR  
AND THE COMPANY’S ENTERPRISE EXECUTIVE
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STRATEGIC SUBCOMMITTEE
PERSONNEL STRUCTURE OF THE STRATEGIC SUBCOMMITTEE

Mr. Nguyen Chi Thanh 
BOD Chairman

Head

Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga 
BOD Member
Vice - head

Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong 
BOD Member, Acting General Director  

Member 

Mr. Tomoyuki Kawata 
Deputy General Director

Member 

Mr. Lam Dieu Phi 
Marketing Director 

Member 

Ms. Le Thi Hong Nhung   
Finance Director 

Member  

Mr. Phan Minh Tien 
Non-executive BOD Member  

Member  
(since 01 Apr 2018)

Developing strategies for production, business and long-term investments of DHG Pharma. 

Determining mid-term and long-term plans for development, production and business based on the objectives and 
strategies approved by the AGM. Developing basic performance targets of DHG Pharma;

Developing annual dividend rate and proposals to the BOD for making decisions on temporary dividend rate;

Assessing long-term effectiveness of DHG Pharma’s activities; 

Giving advices in terms of the dividend rate in 2016 for the BOD and proposing advance dividend ratio in 2017.

Developing business plans of 2017, development plans for 2018 - 2019 - 2020, being an advisor for the BOD to adjust 
strategic and business targets during the above period.

Quarterly reporting to the BOD the implementation of the 5-year strategy (2016 - 2020).

Personnel changes: Mr. Nguyen Chi Thanh has been appointed to be the Head of the Strategic Subcommittee since  
01 Feb 2018. Mr. Tomoyuki Kawata has been appointed to be a member of the Strategic Subcommittee since  
01 Feb 2018  in replacing Mr. Jun Kuroda. Ms. Nguyen Ngoc Diep has been no longer a member of the Strategic 
Subcommittee since 01 Feb 2018. Mr. Phan Minh Tien has been appointed to be a member of the Strategic Subcommittee 
since 01 Apr 2018. 

DUTIES OF THE STRATEGIC SUBCOMMITTEE

PERFORMANCES OF THE STRATEGIC SUBCOMMITTEE

 UNDER 
THE BOARD 

OF DIRECTORS

STRATEGIC 
SUBCOMMITTEE 

NOMINATION & 
REMUNERATION 
SUBCOMMITTEE

AUDIT & RISK 
MANAGEMENT 

SUBCOMMITTEE 

PERFORMANCES OF  
SUBCOMMITTEES UNDER THE BOD 

THE BOD TERM 2014 - 2018 HAS ESTABLISHED  
03 SUBCOMMITTEES, COMPRISING OF

Sub-committees ensure their numbers and personnel requirements in accordance with the Company’s 
regulations and applicable laws. Quarterly, subcommittees shall meet and send reports to the BOD within 

the scope of assignments.

103102 www.dhgpharma.com.vn
ANNUAL REPORT 2017

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REPORT 



NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION SUBCOMMITTEE 

Mr. Tran Chi Liem   
Independent  
BOD member  

Head

Proposing qualification and capacity criteria, presiding over drafts of appointment 
procedures as well as proposing appointments and dismissals of BOD members and 
managerial staff under the appointment authorities of the BOD; 

Developing orders and procedures of nominating and electing BOD members; 

Developing regulations to determine the independence of non-executive  
BOD members;

Developing processes assessing the BOD’s performances such as the effectiveness 
of the BOD and the contribution of each member; 

Developing and proposing human resource development plans to the BOD such as 
discovery, selection, education and training of senior staffs and the successor system; 

Proposing remuneration policies, salary and bonus norms as well as other benefits 
for members of the BOD, the BOD’s subcommittees and the Executive Board; 

Monitoring operational evaluation of DHG Pharma’s managerial apparatus; 

Executing other tasks assigned by the BOD in relation to the personnel policy of  
DHG Pharma. 

Developing training programs for 2017. 

Proposing advices to the BOD for the development of human resources and senior 
managerial staff. 

Quarterly preparing periodic personnel reports.

Personnel changes: Ms. Tran Thi Anh Nhu has been no longer a member of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Subcommittee since 01 Sept 2017. 

DUTIES OF THE NOMINATION AND  
REMUNERATION SUBCOMMITTEE  

PERFORMANCES OF THE NOMINATION AND 
REMUNERATION SUBCOMMITTEE  

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT SUBCOMMITTEE

Giving feedback on independent auditor candidates and on issues related to any 
changes of Independent Auditors in accordance with the BOS’ proposal. Giving 
comments on draft contracts signed with Independent Auditors. 

Developing criteria and assessments on the independency of Independent Auditors. 
Monitoring independent auditing functions at DHG Pharma.

Evaluating the accuracy and completeness of financial statements before publication.

Supervising the Company’s risk management. 

Examining the adequacy, sufficiency and effectiveness of internal control and internal 
audit, including finance, operations, regulatory compliance, risk management and 
systems, that are set up by the management apparatus. 

Discussing quarterly/yearly financial statements audited by the executive BOM and 
Independent Auditors.

Quarterly, conducting separate meetings with the Executive Board, Internal Control 
Department, Internal Audit Committee and Independent Auditors to update 
information.

Reviewing auditing recommendations and feedbacks between the Executive Board 
and Independent Auditors. 

Analyzing and making recommendations to the BOD in terms of risks associated with 
transactions and activities of DHG Pharma.

Advising the BOD on the Internal Audit Committee’s personnel. 

Quarterly reporting activities in terms of audit and risk management to the BOD.

Personnel changes: Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha has been assigned to be the Head of the 
Audit and Risk Management Subcommittee since 01 Jan 2018 in order to replace  
Mr. Le Dinh Buu Tri. Mr. Le Chanh Dao has been no longer a member of the Audit 
and Risk Management Subcommittee since 01 Feb 2018.

DUTIES OF THE AUDIT AND  
RISK MANAGEMENT SUBCOMMITTEE

PERFORMANCES OF THE AUDIT AND  
RISK MANAGEMENT SUBCOMMITTEE

Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha  
Non-executive BOD Member 

Head

PERFORMANCES OF  
SUBCOMMITTEES UNDER THE BOD 

105104 www.dhgpharma.com.vn
ANNUAL REPORT 2017

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REPORT 



In 2017, the BOS quarterly held meetings with full 
attendance of its members. The meetings’ purposes are 
to summarize working results during the working period, 
to make plans for the next period,  to compose and 
submit recommendation reports to the BOD. 

In addition, the BOS fully participated in the BOD meetings 
in order to grasp business situation, investment situation 
and to make suggestions, recommendations to the BOD 
and the BOM within the scope of their responsibilities 
and powers.

SUMMARY OF THE BOS’ MEETINGS IN 2017

Attendance rate

No. BOS member Title Attendance Rate

1 Mr. Tran Quoc Hung Head 4/4 100%

2 Mr. Dinh Duc Minh  BOS Member 4/4 100%

3 Ms. Nguyen Phuong Thao BOS Member 4/4 100%

CONTENTS OF THE MEETINGS

The meeting’s contents on 19 Jan 2017: Evaluation of 
completed works as well as unfulfilled tasks of the BOS 
in 2016. Development of a working plan in Q1/2017.

The meeting’s contents on 17 Apr 2017: Development 
of the working plan in Q2/2017. Came into an agreement 
and made a proposal to the BOD in terms of selecting 
Pricewaterhouse Coopers Vietnam Ltd. (PwC) to be the 
independent auditor for the fiscal year 2017. 

The meeting’s contents on 02 July 2017: Consideration 
and recommendation on several unfulfilled tasks 
under the BOD Resolutions. Development of the 
implementation of plans in Q3/2017. 

The meeting’s contents on 26 Oct 2017: 
Came into an agreement on the contents of the 
recommendation report submitted to the BOD.  
Assigned tasks for Q4/2017.

In 2017, the BOS held quarterly meetings with the 
participation of all members. 

The BOS fully participated in BOD meetings to obtain a 
thorough picture of business and investment situations and 
to make suggestions, recommendations to the BOD and 
BOM within the scope of their responsibilities and powers.

Controlled and supervised the implementation and 
performance result of Resolutions of the Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders 2016 for the BOD and  
Executive Board. 

Monitored and supervised the implementation of 
Resolutions in BOD meetings. 

The BOS verified 6-month and annual financial statements 
to evaluate truthfulness and rationality of financial data 
in accordance with accounting standards, regimes and 
current financial policies. Simultaneously, it collaborated 
with an independent audit firm to consider impact of 

material misstatement on financial statements, monitored 
implementation of the recommendations given by the 
independent audit firm.

Supervised periodic and extraordinary information 
disclosure in a timely manner to shareholders of  
the Company.

The BOS analyzed and proposed management and 
performance of some substantial fields as sales 
policies, activities of sales sector, sales supervision, 
inventory management, process of sales cum 
cashier of the Company, etc to the BOD and BOM to  
improve management and administration efficiency of  
the Company.

Coordinated with functional units at the Company including 
Internal Audit Committee and simultaneously, requested 
the Internal Control Department to inspect operation of 
affiliated units as branches and subsidiaries to strengthen 
management of the Company for these units.

PERFORMANCES OF THE BOS IN 2017

PERFORMANCES OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORY

The BOS of DHG Pharma consists of 03 members as approved by the AGM 2013. In which 02 of them are 
independent members who work as representatives of shareholders, conduct inspections, supervisions and 
recommendations in terms of risk management, improvement of management quality and financial status at 

DHG Pharma. Specific tasks of each supervisor are assigned as follows:

Mr. TRAN QUOC HUNG 
Head

Directly works at the Company, takes 
general responsibilities; Assigns 
tasks to each member, convenes 
and presides over all of the BOS’ 
meetings; coordinates with the 
Internal Control Dept. - Internal Audit 
Committee to control the production 
and business activities of subsidiaries 
and joint-venture companies 
through the capital representatives 
of the firms; Controls unassigned 
remaining issues to members.

Mr. DINH DUC MINH 
Member

Supervises financial and accounting 
activities; monitors financial 
market developments, macro 
and micro factors affecting the 
financial and accounting activities 
of the Company. Checks capital 
balance and manages cash flow. 
Participates in the evaluation of 
financial statements. 

Ms. NGUYEN PHUONG THAO 
Member 

Inspects and supervises the 
implementation of production 
and business plans. Monitors and 
supervises the implementation of 
corporate restructuring (through 
the inspection of subsidiaries and 
branches). Checks the processes 
and regulations in the Company.

PERSONNEL CHANGES   

No. Full name Title Appointment 
period

Off - duty 
period Remarks

1 Mr. Dinh Duc Minh Supervisor  28 Apr 2014 28 Dec 2017

On 28 Dec 2017, Mr. Dinh Duc Minh 
submitted a resignation letter due to his 
personal reasons.

The AGM 2017 dated 28 Mar 2018 
approved the resignation letter of  
Mr. Dinh Duc Minh. 

2 Mr. Tran Trung Kien Supervisor 28 Mar 2018
The AGM 2017 dated 28 Mar 2018 
approved the additional appointment of 
Mr. Tran Trung Kien as a replacement. 
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The financial statements FY 2017 of the Company were 
prepared in accordance with the current Vietnamese 
Accounting Standards and System.

The financial statements FY 2017 were audited by 
Pricewaterhouse Coopers Vietnam Ltd. (PwC), which is 
approved by the State Securities Commission of Vietnam 
for auditing listed companies. 

The implementation results of the key business and production targets in 2017 as reported in the financial statements 
are as follows. 

Pursuant to the above table: The Company did not fulfill its business targets in accordance with the Resolution of the AGM 2016.

Auditors’ opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements 2017 are as follows the report reflected a true 
and fair presentation in all major aspects.

The BOS considered 6-month and annual financial 
statements in 2017, unanimously approved production and 
business performances 2017 and indicators in the financial 
statements. The reports reflected a sufficient, clear and 
honest presentation of the financial situation of the Company.

EVALUATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2017
PREPARATION AND AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PRODUCTION AND BUSINESS RESULTS IN 2017 

Targets  
(Figures in: VND Billion)

Performance 
2016 Plan  2017 Performance 2017 Performance/ 

Plan 2017
Performance 2017/ 
Performance 2016

Net revenue 3,783 4,369 4,063 93% 107%

Profit before tax 757 800 719 90% 95%

THE FINANCIAL SITUATION OF THE COMPANY AS AT 31 DEC 2017

No. Targets 2016 2017

1 Liquidity ratios

-  Current ratio 2.70 2.32

-  Quick ratio 1.98 1.82

2 Capital structure ratios

-  Debt to Total assets ratio 27.26% 32.50%

-  Debt to Owner’s equity ratio 37.48% 48.15%

3 Operational capacity ratios

-  Inventory turnover 3.02 3.34

-  Net revenue to Total assets ratio 95.89% 99.40%

4 Profitability ratios

-  Return on Sales (ROS) 18.20% 15.81%

-  Return on Equity (ROE) 25.55% 22.82%

-  Return on Assets (ROA) 18.84% 15.99%

-  Earnings per share (VND) 4,485 4,367

In 2017, the BOD and BOM created favorable conditions for the BOS to provide sufficient information on the Company’s 
production and business situation as well as financial situation. 

The BOS attended all of the BOD meetings and contributed opinions in accordance with the BOS’s functions and duties.

Periodically, the BOS submitted reports and recommendations in writing to the BOD and BOM. BOS’s recommendations 
were recognized and implemented.

The BOD held quarterly periodic (and aperiodic) meetings 
in accordance with Company’s Charter and the BOD’s 
Operation Regulation. It was concluded from the BOS 
evaluation that the BOD’s operation within the year was 
in conformity with provisions of law and the Company to 
timely satisfy requirements of the Company’s production 
and business activities. 

The BOD issued several Resolutions and Decisions related 
to the Company’s activities within the scope of the BOD’s 
responsibilities and authority. The BOD’s Resolutions and 
Decisions were issued with accurate order, accurate 
authority, and in accordance with Resolutions of the 
General Meeting of Shareholders, the Company’s Charter, 
Law on Enterprises and other provisions of law.

The BOD supervised the  operation of Executive Board in 
the implementation of Resolutions of the General Meeting 
of Shareholders and coordinated with the Executive Board  
to monitor, to run business and production activities of 
the Company in order to achieve targets approved by 
Resolutions of the General Meeting of Shareholders 2016.  

In 2017, the Executive Board made several changes  
(New appointment of 01 Deputy General Director in 
charge of production and supply chain) to ensure stability 
and development of the Company.

The Company complied with laws of the State and of the 
industry in business management and it is accurately 
presented on the Company’s six-month and annual 
financial statements.

EVALUATION ON THE COORDINATION AMONG  
THE BOS, BOD AND BOM

SUPERVISION RESULT OF ACTIVITIES OF  
THE BOD AND BOM

PERFORMANCES OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORY
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In 2018, pursuant to Decree No.71/2017/NĐ-CP dated  
06 June 2017, effective from 01 Aug 2017 on the 
guidance of corporate governance for public companies, 
the Company has made a plan to change its corporate 
structure from the BOS to the Internal Audit Committee, 
that shall work under the Audit and Risk Management 
Subcommittee of the BOD. Therefore, in case there 
is no transformation of the corporate model, the 
BOS will set out the operating plan and objectives in 
2018 to continuously its inspection and supervision 
in accordance with functions and duties stipulated in 

the Law on Enterprises and the Company’s Charter.  
It also takes charge of identifying difficulties and proposing 
suggestions and solutions in the management of branches 
and representative offices of the Company.

Implementing in-depth assessment of production and 
business activities as well as investment activities of the 
Company based on its major changes in 2017 including 
assessment of changes on the remuneration structure, 
assessment of the production and business efficiency 
related to the project of market cluster’s changes, etc. 

PROPOSED OPERATING PLANS  
OF THE BOS IN 2018

RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE BOS

In 2017, the Company changed the personnel structure of its market sector. Hence, the 
 BOS requested that the BOD and BOM evaluate the effectiveness of this change in detail after 
applying the new model to make appropriate adjustments in accordance with the actual situation.

The Company has restructured the salary and bonus expenses for its employees. Thus, the  
BOS requested that the BOD and BOM evaluate and analyze the performances of this project in 
detail and review comments of all employees after application.

As requested, the Company should evaluate the effectiveness of strategic products based on 
reasonable cost allocation; thereby focusing on products with high profit margin, high revenue  
and high profit. 

The BOS recommended that the BOM continue to improve the efficiency of inventory management; 
Reviewing and improving transportation and delivery processes to avoid risks on quality,  
damage and legality.

The BOM is requested to evaluate the effectiveness of revenue and profits after implementing 
advertising campaigns and sales programs.

With regards to Vinh Hao Algae Project and Fuji Medic Project, the BOD was requested to evaluate 
the effectiveness of these two projects’ performances and report to the AGM 2018.

As also requested by the BOS, the BOM should continue to strengthen the role of  
the Internal Control Department.

It is recommended to complete human resources and to operate regulations of the  
Internal Audit Committee.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

IMPLEMENTATION OF RESOLUTIONS OF THE AGM 2016

WITH REGARDS TO PROFIT 
DISTRIBUTION

The Company deducted funds in accordance with the profit distribution plan 
2016 of the AGM 2016’s Resolution. 

WITH REGARDS TO OPENING 
FOREIGN OWNERSHIP LIMIT 
AT THE COMPANY UP TO 100% 

After being approved in writing by the AGM, the BOD and BOM established 
a project team to resolve issues related to opening foreign ownership 
limit (100%) to ensure its accordance with Vietnamese laws so as to utilize 
opportunities, strengths and to minimize challenges to the lowest impact on 
strategic objectives to 2020, vision - missions - core values and trademark of  
DHG Pharma. 

WITH REGARDS TO  
REMUNERATIONS 

In 2017, the BOS received its remunerations in accordance with the AGM 
2016’s Resolution. Detailed information has been presented in the BOD’s report 
submitted to the AGM. 

WITH REGARDS TO 
 INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The BOD collaborated with the BOS to select Pricewaterhouse Coopers 
Vietnam Ltd. (PwC) as an independent auditor for the financial statements  
FY 2017 of DHG Pharma and its subsidiaries. 

WITH REGARDS TO SHARE 
ISSUANCE TO INCREASE 
CHARTER CAPITAL

The Company issued shares to increase its charter capital from owner’s equity 
(also known as bonus share issuance) in 2017.

Issuance ratio: 2:1 (a shareholder holds two (02) DHG shares on the last registration 
date shall receive one (01) additional share). The total number of issued shares: 
43,582,165 shares, the total issued value at par value: VND 435,821,650,000. 
The total number of outstanding shares after issuance: 130,746,071 shares, 
equivalent to VND 1,307,460,710,000 of the charter capital.

PERFORMANCES OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORY

111110 www.dhgpharma.com.vn
ANNUAL REPORT 2017

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REPORT 



Detailed distribution to each member of the BOD and BOS

No. Names of members Title Remuneration and bonus in 2017 
(amount before PIT) (VND)

I. THE BOD 2,659,010,900

1 Hoang Nguyen Hoc Former BOD Chairman                       288,000,000 

2 Nguyen Chi Thanh BOD Chairman                         48,000,000 

3 Le Dinh Buu Tri Former BOD Vice Chairman                       368,000,000 

4 Pham Thi Viet Nga BOD Member                        780,593,000 

5 Doan Dinh Duy Khuong BOD Member 
Acting General Director                       692,417,900 

7 Jun Kuroda BOD Member                                       -   

8 Dang Thi Thu Ha BOD Member                         72,000,000 

9 Tran Chi Liem Independent BOD member                       410,000,000 

II THE BOS      755,293,400 

1 Tran Quoc Hung Head of the BOS      327,293,400 

2 Nguyen Phuong Thao BOS Member      214,000,000 

3 Dinh Duc Minh BOS Member      214,000,000 

Total 3,414,304,300

REMUNERATION, BONUS AND INTERESTS  
OF THE BOD, BOS AND BOM 

The AGM 2016 approved the remuneration of the BOD and BOS in 2017 to be VND 5 billion and the bonus for fulfilling the 
plan in 2016 to be VND 6 billion. The total amount that was deducted from the Remuneration and Bonus Fund of the BOD 
and BOS in 2017 is VND 11 billion, equivalent to 1.56% of the profit after tax.

REMUNERATION AND BONUS OF THE BOD AND BOS 

Receipts/expenditures of the Remuneration and Bonus Fund of the BOD and BOS

No. Targets Amount

1 Balance at the beginning of the year (01 Jan 2017)     6,822,310,000 

2 Appropriation in 2017    11,070,021,247 

2.1 Remuneration of the BOD, BOS, BOD secretarial team and members of the  
BOD subcommittees     5,000,000,000 

2.2 Bonus for achieving the targets 2016 given to the BOD, BOS, BOD secretarial team, 
members of the BOD subcommittees, Executive Board and key staff     6,070,021,247 

3 Balance after profit distribution in 2017 (3 = 1+2)   17,892,331,247 

4 Total expenditures in 2017   10,187,585,879 

4.1 Remuneration of the BOD, BOS, BOD secretarial team and members of the  
BOD subcommittees.     3,550,000,000 

4.2 Bonus for achieving the targets 2016 given to the BOD, BOS, BOD secretarial team, 
members of the BOD subcommittees, Executive Board and key staff     6,184,521,398 

4.3 Other operating expenses        453,064,481 

5 Balance as at 31 Dec 2017 (5=3-1)     7,704,745,368 

6 Appropriation in 2018     6,000,000,000 

6.1 Remuneration of the BOD, BOS, BOD secretarial team and members of the BOD  
subcommittees.      6,000,000,000 

7 Balance after profit distribution in 2017 (7=5+6)   13,704,745,368 
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DHG Share Ownership of internal persons 

No. Full name Title
Numbers of shares held Total number of 

shares held at the 
end of the period 

Ownership %
Representative ownership Personal ownership

I. MEMBERS OF THE BOD TERM III (2014 - 2018)

1 Nguyen Chi Thanh BOD Chairman   22,650,495  
(SCIC’s capital  representative) 0 22,650,495 17.32%

2 Dang Thi Thu Ha BOD Member 16,987,871  
(SCIC’s capital  representative) 0 16,987,871 12.99%

3 Doan Dinh Duy Khuong BOD Member, Acting General Director 16,987,871 
 (SCIC’s capital  representative) 27,117 17,014,988 13.01%

4 Pham Thi Viet Nga BOD Member - 302,737 302,737 0.23%

5 Tran Chi Liem  BOD Member - - - 0.00%

6 Jun Kuroda BOD Member - - - 0.00%

II. MEMBERS OF THE BOS TERM III (2014 - 2018)

1 Tran Quoc Hung Head of the BOS -    18,679       18,679 0.01%

2 Nguyen Phuong Thao Supervisor -              -                   -     0.00%

3 Dinh Đuc Minh Supervisor - 19 19 0.00%

III. BOARD OF EXECUTIVE AND TITLES APPOINTED BY THE BOD

1 Pham Thi Viet Nga BOD Member - 302,737 302,737 0.23%

2 Doan Dinh Duy Khuong BOD Member, Acting General Director 16,987,871 
(SCIC’s capital  representative) 27,117 17,014,988 13.01%

3 Le Chanh Dao Deputy General Director - 122,337 122,337 0.09%

4 Nguyen Ngoc Diep Deputy General Director - 7,368 7,368 0.01%

5 Tomoyuki Kawata Deputy General Director  - - - 0.00%

6 Lam Dieu Phi Marketing Director - 3,924 3,924 0.00%

7 Huynh Thi Kim Tuoi Distribution Center Director - 20,878 20,878 0.02%

8 Le Thi Hong Nhung Finance Director - BOD Secretary - Authorized person for infor-
mation disclosure - Person in charge of corporate governance - 6 6 0.00%

9 Ho Buu Huan Chief Accountant - 9 9 0.00%

10 Atsushi Toyoshima Supply Chain Director - - - 0.00%
 

REMUNERATION, BONUS AND INTERESTS  
OF THE BOD, BOS AND BOM 
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ASSESSING THE IMPLEMENTATION  
OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN 2017

ENSURE A REASONABLE 
GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

ENSURE EFFECTIVE 
PERFORMANCES OF  
THE BOD AND BOS 

In order to effectively operate the governance model, DHG Pharma has 
established a system of internal management rules/procedures to create a 
unified and consistent governance mechanism. It is carried out to control 
and supervise the Company’s operation professionally, transparently and 
efficiently, in contribution to ensure the interests of shareholders and equality  
of all stakeholders.

In 2017, the AGM approved the amendments and supplements of the 
Company’s Charter so as to comply with provisions of the Law on Enterprises 
2014 and Decree 71/2017/NĐ-CP effective from 01 Aug 2017. 

At the AGM 2017 dated 28 Mar 2018, the BOD submitted to the AGM the 
amendments supplements of the Company’s Charter in order to be updated 
in accordance with Circular 95/2017/TT-BTC guiding Decree 71/2017/NĐ-CP 
effective from 06 Nov 2017. Additionally, the implementation of FOL Lifting 
in accordance with Resolution No. 002/2017/NQ.ĐHĐCĐ dated 28 July 
2017 of the AGM and the plan merging DHG Pharma Ltd. and DHG PP1 into  
DHG Pharma were also submitted to the AGM for approval.  

In addition to the amendments and supplements of the Company’s Charter,  
the AGM also approved the amendments and supplements of internal 
regulations on corporate governance. This approval aims to ensure its 
compliance with provisions of Vietnamese applicable law and to apply 
international best practices on corporate governance, which are aimed to 
create better conditions for the Company’s corporate governance.

The Charter and Internal regulations on corporate governance clearly define the 
rights and duties of the BOD and BOS, which have been posted on DHG Pharma’s 
website in both Vietnamese and English, enabling shareholders and investors to 
easily access to corporate governance documents of the Company.

DHG Pharma has clearly regulated and separated the functions and duties 
of the BOD Chairman and General Director to avoid potential conflicts of 
interest, to avoid concentration of power as well as to ensure independence in  
decision-making process. Compliance with governance standards contributes 
to the transparency and efficiency in the Company’s corporate governance.

Each member of the BOD does not hold 5 BOD positions in other companies 
at the same time from 01 Aug 2019 (For more information, please refer to the 
Profile of the Corporate Board, page 36)  

Subcommittees under the BOD play an essential role in advising the BOD.

For information in relation to performances of the BOD and BOS in 2017, refer to 
the reports on the performances of the BOD, page 93, and the BOS page 106. 

A

B

ASSESSMENT REPORT ON  
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN 2017

GOVERNANCE  
PRINCIPLES AT DHG PHARMA

At DHG Pharma, Corporate Governance plays an important 
role in establishing a common standard for improving corporate 
governance and the ability to enforce internal controls. Corporate 
governance increases the competitive strength, efficient growth 
and stable development of the Company. 

GOVERNANCE 
PRINCIPLES  

AT DHG PHARMA

Ensure a reasonable 
governance structure 

Ensure effective 
performances of the 
BOD and BOS 

Ensure interests of 
shareholders and stakeholders 

Ensure equal treatment 
among shareholders 

Ensure transparency 
in every operation of 

DHG Pharma 

A

B

CD

E
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Shareholders voted on the issues at the Meeting according to each report/statement by “voting cards” in accordance with 
each voting options (for/ against/ abstain). The contents of Resolutions that have been approved by the General Meeting 
are as follows:

No. Resolution Date Contents 

1 001/2017/NQ.ĐHĐCĐ 18 Apr 2017

The AGM 2016 approved the following contents:

• BOD’s report on the Company’s business results in 2016; 
Performances and remunerations of the BOD in 2016; Investment 
plans and business targets in 2017.

• BOS’ report in 2016.

• Audited financial statement in 2016.

• Statement on profit distribution in 2016 and profit distribution plan 
in 2017.

• Statement on selecting an independent auditor financial statements 
FY 2017.

• Approval of the plan redeeming treasury shares in order to sell  
to employees at preferential price.

• Approval of the share issuance method to increase capital from 
owner’s equity. Issuance rate 2:1.

• Approval of the resignation as BOD members Term III (2014-2018)  
of Ms. Dang Pham Minh Loan and Mr. Shuhei Tabata.

• Approval of the additional election of Mr. Jun Kuroda as a  
BOD member Term III (2014-2018).

• Approval of opening foreign ownership limit (FOL Lifting) up to over 49%.

2 002/2017/NQ.ĐHĐCĐ 28 July 2017

The general meeting by solicitation of written consent for the 1st  time in 
2017 has approved the following contents:

• FOL Lifting up to 100%.

• Approval of the adjustments of the business lines effective from  
01 Jan 2018.

• Approval of the amendments and supplements of the Charter.

3 003/2017/NQ.ĐHĐCĐ 25 Oct 2017

The general meeting by solicitation of written consent for the 2nd  time 
in 2017 has approved the following contents:

• Approval of removing Mr. Hoang Nguyen Hoc and  
Mr. Le Dinh Buu Tri as BOD members.

• Approval of the title of Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha and additional election 
of Mr. Nguyen Chi Thanh as BOD members Term III (2014 - 2018).

• Approval of the BOD’s report on the dismissal of  Mdm. Pham Thi 
Viet Nga as General Director and Legal Representative from 01 Sept 
2017, and the appointment of Mr. Doan Dinh Duy Khuong as Acting 
General Director and Legal Representative within 6 months effective 
from 01 Sept 2017.

Article 15 and Article 16 of DHG Pharma’s Charter prescribed in detail the rights 
and obligations of shareholders. The basic rights of shareholders comprise of:
• The right to secure ownership registration.
• The right to transfer shares.
• The right to access information about the Company in a timely and regular manner.
• The right to attend and vote at the General Meetings of Shareholders.
• The right to vote, dismiss and remove the members of the BOD.
• The right to receive profits of the Company.

In 2017, DHG Pharma organized an AGM on 18 Apr 2017 and 2 general 
meetings of shareholders by solicitation of written consents. The procedures for 
convening the Meeting or the general meeting of shareholders by solicitation of 
written consent carried out by DHG Pharma were in accordance with applicable 
law in order to maximize the rights and interests of shareholders.

Notices of invitation were sent by guaranteed methods to shareholders in the 
list of shareholders of DHG Pharma provided by Securities Depository Center of 
Ho Chi Minh City. All documents of the AGM have been posted on the website 
of DHG Pharma in two languages (Vietnamese and English) within 15 days 
before the date of the Meeting.

All members of the BOD and BOS, members of subcommittees under the 
BOD and BOM attended the AGM. In addition, the Company also invited 
representatives of the independent auditor to attend the Meeting.

Minutes of the Meeting, minutes of vote counting and resolution of the AGM have 
been posted on the website of DHG Pharma in two languages (Vietnamese and 
English) within twenty-four (24) hours after closing the Meeting.

ENSURE INTERESTS OF 
SHAREHOLDERS AND  
STAKEHOLDERS 

C

Contents Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders

General meeting of 
shareholders by solicitation 
of written consent for the 
first time

General meeting of 
shareholders by solicitation 
of written consent for the 
second time

Information disclosure on the 
closing date for attending the 
Meeting 

Last registration date:  
09 Mar 2017.

Disclosure date: 21 Feb 2017.

Last registration date:  
05 July 2017.

Disclosure date:  
19 June 2017.

Last registration date:  
19 Sept2017.

Disclosure date: 31 Aug 2017.

Date on which the notice 
of invitation was sent to 
shareholders by guaranteed 
delivery 

24 Mar 2017 12 July 2017 29 Sept 2017

AGM documents were 
disclosed within 15 days prior 
to the date of the Meeting.

Disclosure date of documents 
in Vietnamese: 03 Apr 2017.

Disclosure date of documents 
in English: 05 Apr 2017.

Disclosure date of documents 
in Vietnamese: 12 July 2017.

Disclosure date of documents 
in English: 12 July 2017.

Disclosure date of documents 
in Vietnamese: 29 Sept 2017.

Disclosure date of documents 
in English: 29 Sept 2017.

Meeting date/ Date of 
solicitation written consent 18 Apr 2017 28 July 2017 25 Oct 2017

Minutes - Resolution

Disclosure date documents in 
Vietnamese: 18 Apr 2017.

Disclosure date of documents 
in English: 19 Apr 2017.

Disclosure date of documents 
in Vietnamese: 29 July 2017.

Disclosure date of documents 
in English: 29 July 2017.

Disclosure date of documents 
in Vietnamese: 26 Oct 2017.

Disclosure date of documents 
in English: 26 Oct 2017.

ASSESSMENT REPORT ON  
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN 2017

119118 www.dhgpharma.com.vn
ANNUAL REPORT 2017

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE REPORT 



Election, dismissal, removal of members 
of the BOD/Supervisors will be 
carried out by the General Meeting of 
Shareholders at the Meetings.

In terms of other rights, please refer to 
the Charter and Internal regulations on 
corporate governance.

Shares transaction of internal 
persons and related persons

According to the Charter, the Company’s 
information disclosure procedures and 
Circular 155/2015/TT.BTC, when internal 
persons and related parties conduct 
shares transactions, it is necessary to 
disclose information, avoiding the use 
of internal information to purchase/sell 
shares as follows:

• At least 03 working days before the 
date of performing the transaction, 
internal persons and related parties 
must disclose information.

• Within 03 working days after 
completing the transaction, internal 
persons and related parties must 
disclose information.

In 2017, internal persons and related 
parties traded DHG Pharma’s shares 
as follows:

The Resolution of the AGM 2016 
approved to deduct 2% of consolidated 
PAT of parent company‘s shareholders 
as a source of money to buy shares 
in rewarding managers, members 
assisting the BOD, key staffs and 
excellent individuals, aiming to attract 
and retain talented people. It also 
creates motivation to work effectively, 
to complete business targets  
2016 - 2020 and to associate benefits 
with employees.

From 20 Nov 2017 to 19 Dec 2017: 
the Company’s Trade Union disclosed 
information on purchasing DHG 
Pharma’s shares with the number of 
150,000 shares but failed to reach the 
expected price.

ENSURE EQUAL TREATMENT 
AMONG SHAREHOLDERS

D

In order to ensure equal treatment 
provided to all shareholders, the rights 
and obligations of shareholders are 
clearly and transparently stated in 
the Company’s Charter and Internal 
regulations on corporate governance. 
Amendments and supplements to 
the Charter and Internal regulations 
on corporate governance must be 
approved by 65% of shareholders 
attending the Meeting before passing.

The Company’s Charter, Internal 
Regulations on corporate governance, 
Annual Reports, quarterly financial 
statements and information disclosure 
in accordance with Circular 155/2015/
TT.BTC have been disclosed on the 
media of State Securities Commission, 
Ho Chi Minh City Stock Exchange and 
the Company’s website, enabling all 
shareholders to access information 
quickly and accurately.

Several provisions of the 
Company’s Charter to protect the 
minority of shareholders

The right to convene the General 
Meeting of Shareholders: a shareholder 
or group of shareholders owning more 
than 5% of the total number of voting 
shares for at least six consecutive 
months may request the convening of 
the General Meeting of Shareholders 
(Article 17 of the Company’s Charter).

The right to nominate candidates 
for the BOD and BOS: a shareholder 
or group of shareholders owning 
more than 5% of the total number 
of voting shares for at least six 
consecutive months have the right 
to nominate candidates for the BOD 
and BOS (Article 33, Article 55 of the 
Company’s Charter).

From 15 Jan 2018 to 13 Feb 2018: 
the Company’s Trade Union disclosed 
information on purchasing DHG 
Pharma’s shares with the number 
of 140,000 shares with the average 
price of VND 101,500/share. The 
Executive Board is submitting to the 
BOD for an approval of the Regulations, 
distribution standards and distribution 
list for employees.

Contracts or transactions of 
internal shareholders

The Regulations on corporate 
governance and the Company’s 
Charter clearly specify “Responsibility 
to be honest and avoid conflicts of 
interests of members of the Board 
of Directors, Board of Supervisory, 
Board of Management, Managers 
of the Company” in Article 48 of DHG 
Pharma’s Charter - 20th revision as 
follows:

“Members of the Board of Directors, 
Supervisors, the General Directors 
and other Enterprise Executives have 
the obligation to inform the Board of 
Directors and the Board of Supervisory 
of the transactions between DHG 
PHARMA, subsidiaries of DHG PHARMA 
and companies with fifty percent (50%) 
or more of charter capital controlled 
by DHG PHARMA with the above 
members or their related persons in 
compliance with provisions of law. DHG 
PHARMA must publish information 
about the transactions of the above 
mentioned persons which have been 
approved by the General Meeting of 
Shareholders or the Board of Directors 
in accordance with the Securities Law 
on information disclosure”. 

In 2017, there was no transaction 
between these members and  
the Company.

Transactions with related parties

This content is presented in the 
section - “Related party disclosures” 
- Section 36 - notes of the Audited 
separate financial statements 2017 and  
Section 37 - notes of the Consolidated 
audited financial statements 2017.
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According to the development 
strategy for the period 2016 - 2020, 
DHG Pharma has carried out a cash 
dividend policy of at least 30% of 
par value/year to allocate a certain 
amount of profit for re-investment 
in enterprise development as well 
as to increase cumulative values for 
shareholders.

The AGM 2016 dated 18 Apr 2017 
approved the dividend rate of 
2016 in cash as follows: 35%/par 
value (VND 3,500/ par value), date 
of closing the list: 05 May 2017, 
payment date: 17 May 2017.

Rights to exercise the Company’s profit

The AGM 2017 dated 28 Mar 2018 approved the dividend rate in cash of  
30%/par value (VND 3,000/par value). In 2017, the Company made advance 
dividend payment in cash at the rate of 25%/par value.
• Advance dividend payment in cash for the 1st phase in 2017: 10%/par value 

(VND 1,000/share), closing date: 19 Sept 2017, payment date: 04 Oct 2017.
• Advance dividend payment in cash for the 2nd phase in 2017: 15%/par value 

(VND 1,500/share), closing date: 29 Dec 2017, payment date: 25 Jan 2018.
• The remaining dividend of 2017: 5%/par value (VND 500/share) is expected 

to pay in May 2018.

130,746,071 

43,581,741

1,307
Charter capital after issuance

Total number of shares  
after issuance

Number of issued shares

VND Billion 

shares

shares

Cash dividend of DHG Pharma over the years

Rate of cash dividend/par value % dividend/profit after tax

At the same time in 2017, the Company issued bonus shares to shareholders at a ratio 
of 2: 1. Issuance results are as follows:
• Number of issued shares:  43,581,741 shares
• Number of shareholders entitled to receive bonus shares: 3,570 shareholders
• Total number of shares after issuance: 130,746,071 shares
• Charter capital after issuance:  VND 1,307,460,710,000 
• Additional custody date:  22 June 2017
• Effective date of the listing license:   27 June 2017  
• Official trading date:  03 July 2017
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PLANS TO IMPROVE THE QUALITY OF  
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN 2018

In order to improve the quality of corporate governance, aiming to apply the best corporate governance 
practices; DHG Pharma has set a number of objectives to focus on and complete in 2018:

Added 01 independent member 
of the BOD in replacing for 
 Mr. Shuhei Tabata to ensure that 
at least one-third (1/3) of the 
BOD members are independent 
members at the AGM 2017.

Corporate Governance 
Certificate: most members of 
the BOD, BOS, BOM, BOD’s 
secretary attended corporate 
governance courses and were 
granted corporate governance 
certificates by training 
institutions recognized by the 
State Securities Commission. 
Remaining members who 
have not yet attended these 
corporate governance courses 
are foreigners or those who have 
not arranged their time to attend 
these courses. In 2018, those 
without corporate governance 
certificates will participate 
in training courses to ensure 
sufficient training certificates 
on corporate governance in 
accordance with regulations.

Restructured subcommittees 
under the BOD to improve 
operational efficiency, 
which is suitable for the 
new development stage of  
DHG Pharma. Independent 
BOD members, non-executive 
members all function as Heads 
of subcommittees under  
the BOD.

The Company will continue 
to perfect and strengthen 
the role of Internal Audit,  
Risk Management and 
Compliance within its internal 
management framework.

In addition, the BOD, BOS 
and BOM will regularly update 
knowledge and information 
related to international practices 
on domestic and foreign 
corporate governance. Besides,  
to further improve the corporate 
standards and practices of  
DHG Pharma, considerations are 
also given to the application of 
ASEAN Corporate Governance 
Scorecard. 

5

3

2

4

1

ENSURE TRANSPARENCY 
IN EVERY OPERATION OF  
DHG PHARMA 

E Information disclosure in 2017

DHG Pharma performed over 50 times of information disclosure within the 
prescribed time-limit.

DHG Pharma’s Annual report was in the Top 10 Best Annual Reports in 2017. The 
report provided sufficient information on the Company’s business performance 
and development strategies, information on shareholders and ownership 
structure, financial and non-financial ratios of the Company, etc.  

Reports on corporate governance, which are periodically carried out 6 months/
year provide sufficient information on the AGM, members of the BOD/BOS, 
meetings and transactions with related parties.

DHG Pharma’s website discloses information in English and Vietnamese, 
providing information for domestic/foreign shareholders and investors.

Investor Relations (IR) activities in 2017

Investor relations activities maintained a good relationship with shareholders, 
accessed many potential investors who are financially capable and experienced. 
These activities also created a positive impression on DHG Pharma trademark 
in domestic and foreign stock markets through outstanding activities during the 
year as followings:

• DHG Pharma won the second prize for its sustainable development report 
and Top 10 best Annual Reports in 2017. It was also one of four companies 
that received a medal for 10 consecutive years winning the best annual report.

• DHG Pharma networked with domestic/foreign investment funds and 
securities organizations at “Vietnam Conference 2017” in Ho Chi Minh City, 
organized by HSC on 19 Sept 2017.

• DHG Pharma organized 3 meetings with a participation of nearly 100 
shareholders and investors. The meetings were organized to update 
quarterly business performances and to listen to analysts’ viewpoints on the 
Company’s operation.

IR contact information:

Ms. Le Thi Hong Nhung - Finance Director  
Email : hongnhung@dhgpharma.com.vn 
Tel : (8429) 23 891 433 - Ext: 242 
Address : 288 Bis Nguyen Van Cu, An Hoa Ward, Ninh Kieu District, Cantho City

DHG Pharma’s Investor 
Relations Team (IR) fulfills 
its information disclosure 
obligation, ensuring that 
information is disclosed to 
the public timely, accurately 
and in compliance with 
applicable law. At the same 
time, this team also functions 
as a communication channel 
between shareholders and 
DHG Pharma.

Information disclosed by DHG 
Pharma must be performed in 
accordance with the following 
principles

Information disclosure must 
be performed in an accurate, 
sufficient, clear and timely manner 
as prescribed on DHG Pharma’s 
website (in Vietnamese and English), 
State Securities Commission and Ho 
Chi Minh City Stock Exchange.

All shareholders and investors have 
the right to access any information 
disclosed by DHG Pharma.
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CULTURE AND  
RISK MANAGEMENT MECHANISM 

The Company develops ethical values, codes of conduct, and 
understanding of risks in the Company; 

It also creates risk management mechanism, which is a set of 
mottos and perspectives on risk management from the BOD and 
managers, consolidating the importance of risks from different levels 
of management and establishing responsibilities in supervising and 
managing risks in the Company.

ESTABLISHING STRATEGIES, 
OBJECTIVES AND RISKS  

Risks are identified based on the strategies, objectives and relevant 
factors in the Company; determining acceptable degrees of risks in 
relation to planning strategic tasks of the Company. Business objectives 
also ensures that these strategies are implemented in practice and 
regulates daily activities of the Company.

IMPLEMENTING  
RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company identifies and evaluates risks in relation to the 
accomplishment of its strategies and objectives. Risks are classified on 
a priority level, based on its impact, possibility to happen and the extent 
of risk acceptance. In addition, supervision of the implementation 
results is also conducted that form the basis for proposals for auditing. 

REPORT, PUBLIC RELATION AND 
INFORMATION IN RELATION TO RISKS 

The Company utilizes suitable and high quality information to support 
the risk management process as well as updates, implements PR 
activities. Data and information are managed constantly and repeatedly 
to collect and share information within the Company. 

MONITORING THE EFFECTIVENESS 
IN RISK MANAGEMENT 

Monitoring the effectiveness in risk management activities when 
implemented in order to thoroughly understand the operating process 
and its adaptation to important changes of risk management elements.

INTERNAL CONTROL
& RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

Corporate risk management refers to the process of identifying, evaluating, 
managing and controlling incidents or situations that are likely occur in 

order to ensure the achievements of the Company’s goals.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

CULTURE AND RISK MANAGEMENT MECHANISM 

ESTABLISHING STRATEGIES, OBJECTIVES AND RISKS

IMPLEMENTING RISK MANAGEMENT

REPORT, PUBLIC RELATION AND  
INFORMATION IN RELATION TO RISKS 

MONITORING THE EFFECTIVENESS IN RISK MANAGEMENT 

CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT

OPERATIONAL 
EFFICIENCY 
IMPROVED

VISION, MISSION  
& CORE VALUES

BUSINESS & 
STRATEGIC  

GOALS

LEGAL &  
COMPLIANCE 
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THE FIRST LINE OF DEFENSE

The first line of defense was gradually perfected in 2017 
through reviewing, constructing and completing a system 
of internal regulations and procedures for the Company 
that are accorded with both the legal system and the 
Company’s activities.

Especially, in 2017, DHG Pharma reviewed and 
standardized the procedures for activities of departments 

in the Company’s headquarter. In total, 170 procedures 
have been issued, which will soon be officially applied in 
early 2018 and imparted to all staff for compliance. 

As projected, in 2018, DHG Pharma continues to review 
and standardize key procedures for the Market Sector, 
aiming to create tools for managing and monitoring 
activities of the Sector. 

THE SECOND LINE OF DEFENSE

In relation to compliance-checking activities and completing the internal control system, the Internal 
Control Department has completed the following procedures in 2017:

In addition, the Internal Control Department also proposed 
solutions to improve the effectiveness and strictness of the 
control system. Also, in most inspections, the executive 
board worked closely with the Internal Control Department 
to minimize existing limitations and gradually perfecting the 
internal control system in each unit. 

To prepare for changes in the organization structure 
in 2018 and raise awareness about compliance and 
risk management, the executive board, in addition to 
enhanced checking of compliance and perfecting the 
internal controlling system, has suggested to incorporate 
compliance criteria into the KPI evaluation scheme for 
different levels of the management hierarchy.  

To establish foundations for the implementation of a 
comprehensive risk management scheme in its strategies 
until 2020, DHG Pharma, in 2018, initiated to develop  
“The Risk Management Handbook” at a basic level which 
aims to:

• Establish an understanding of risk managements for all units.

• Enhance awareness and responsibility in relation to risks.

Risks are jointly identified, analyzed and evaluated by the 
head and vice-head of different departments and sectors, 
which helps the company measure its impact from high 
to low levels, from which plans are proposed for fixing or 
dealing with risks when happening. These helps minimize 
risks to a manageable and acceptable level. 

Sales procedure

Goods receipt and delivery procedure

Payment collection procedure

Debt reconciliation procedure

Promotion payment procedure

Raw materials purchasing procedure

Asset and equipment purchasing procedure

Checking and verifying the compliance to resolutions, 
decisions from the Committees and Board of Directors of the 
subsidiary companies that are 100% owned by DHG Pharma

The internal control system includes controlling the environment, accounting system and controlling procedures, which 
are constructed through the development of added policies and regulations such as regulations in relation to  authority 
decentralization, advance payment management and payment. 

IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES UNTIL 2020, DHG PHARMA’ RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM IS 
CURRENTLY ORIENTED TO BE DEVELOPED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FOLLOWING MODEL.

Ensuring its compliance  
with laws and regulations;

1

Checking, controlling,  
preventing and identifying frauds 

and errors; 

2

Preparing financial statements 
in an accurate and appropriate 
manner, aiming to protect, 
manage and use the 
Company’s assets effectively; 

3

DHG Pharma has always been trying to perfect the construction of its internal control system  
for the purpose of:

Fourth 
line of 

defense 

SUPERVISION 
OF THE BOD

Third line of defense 
INDEPENDENT CONTROL

Second line of defense  
MANAGEMENT AND SELF-CONTROL

First line of defense  
ESTABLISHMENT OF MANAGEMENT MECHANISM/POLICY AND PROCEDURE SYSTEMS

External / Internal Audit

Fraud risk management

Financial management mechanism

Corporate risk management

Operational management mechanism

Self-control assessment

Policy and procedure systems

Compliance

SYSTEMS

PR
OCED

UR
ES

HUMAN

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

INTERNAL CONTROL
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Internal management

Preparing regulations, procedures, and rules in relation to 
corporate governance; preparing/reviewing documents 
submitted to the BOD, AGMs and legal procedures in 
relation to investments and purchases of assets.

Ensuring the compliance of legal dossiers, documents, 
policies, and regulations of the Company with applicable laws.

Contract and investment consultancy

Coordinating with other departments to review/prepare 
contracts, agreements between the Company and its 
partners to ensure compliance with applicable laws and 
legitimate interests of the Company.

Identifying and evaluating current or future liabilities and 
minimizing risks in relation to business development 
opportunities of DHG Pharma.

Providing legal recommendations and instructions in 
terms of orders and procedures of implementation when 
requested by other departments and employees, ensuring 
the compliance of transactions and business activities.

Legislation and compliance are important 
parts of the defense system, helping to 
mitigate risks and optimize the Company’s 
internal control system. It is aimed to ensure 
that all Company’s activities are conducted 
in accordance with the Charter, the internal 
regulation on corporate governance and 
current regulations of laws.

LEGISLATION
COMPLIANCE

FUNCTIONS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF LEGAL DEPARTMENT

Managing relationships with stakeholders

Managing relationships with relevant authorities and law firms.

Representing the Company (as authorized by General 
Director) to resolve issues related to laws and lawsuits at 
the request of the BOM or General Director.

Representing the Company to deal with arising legal  
issues with management agencies such as Tax  
authorities, Department of Labor Invalids and Social  
Affairs, Department of Planning and Investment, 
Department of Industry and Trade, and other organizations 
when assigned.

Keeping track of legal updates to 
determine legal impacts on the 
operation and assets owned and 
managed by the Company. 

THE THIRD AND FOURTH LINES OF DEFENSE

The internal control department under the BOD, has functioned since the 2nd quarter of 2017, which aims to build up a 
good management system by operating the 3rd line of defense.

The regulation framework applied for internal control

Internal control is a process designed to provide suitable guarantee that the Company can achieve its objectives including:

Aspects Principles

CONTROLLING 
 ENVIRONMENT

1. Integrity and ethical values.
2. Figures that support the Board of Management perform their managing tasks.
3. The Company’s organization structure and power and responsibility allocations.
4. Procedure for attracting, developing and retaining talented staff.
5. Ensuring the reporting responsibility: solutions for effective measuring.

RISK ASSESSMENT

6. Suitable and specific objectives.
7. Identify and analyze risks.
8. Assess risk of frauds.
9. Identify and analyze important changes.

CONTROLLING  
ACTIVITIES

10. Select and develop controlling activities.
11. Accurate application and procedures.

INFORMATION AND 
PUBLIC RELATIONS

12. Use information appropriately.
13. Internal public relations activities.
14. External public relation activities.

SUPERVISION
15. Constant and separate evaluation.
16. Assess communication between sets of information.

ITS EFFECTIVENESS  
AND PRODUCTIVITY

1

TRUST WITH THE REPORTING 
PROCEDURE

2

COMPLIANCE WITH 
REGULATIONS AND LAWS

3

INTERNAL CONTROL
& RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
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IN OPERATING, DHG PHARMA HAS 
IDENTIFIED A NUMBER OF RISKS, 
WHICH ARE NOW BEING MONITORED 

AND CONTROLLED AS FOLLOWS

Fluctuation risks on 
interest rates, exchange 
rates, credit and liquidity

Risks in 
production

Risks of counterfeit 
& fake goods

Risks in research 
and development 
of new products

Market 
risks

Environmental 
risks

Legal & 
compliance risks

IN 2017, THE LEGAL DEPARTMENT  
ACHIEVED THE FOLLOWING REMARKABLE RESULTS

Advised the Executive Board/Divisions/Branches/the 
Company on legal issues arising from the process of 
managing and running the business.

Drafted and reviewed all contracts, liquidation of contracts 
and related documents of domestic and foreign business 
transactions conducted by the Company and its 
subsidiaries during the period; reviewed and consulted 
sales policies. 

Consulted and participated in investment projects 
purchasing and liquidating the Company’s assets in 
accordance with CAPEX plans.

Supported and provided legal advice to complete 
dissolution procedures of subsidiaries.

Issued 12 legal news-letters to update regulations on 
salaries, bonuses, pharmacopoeia, drug portfolios in 
accordance with regulations on fines, guidelines and 
corporate governance for public companies, etc.

Acted as a contact point or participated in drafting internal 
procedures/regulations of the Company, contributing 
to improve legal frameworks of governance and basic 
operations of the Company such as regulations on 
administrative expenditure, amended rules, collective labor 
agreement, documents of the employee’s conference, 
investment regulations, procurement regulations, 
responsibility assignment matrix, etc.

Submitted to the BOD the amendments and supplements 
of the Company’s Charter, internal regulations on corporate 
governance to ensure the Company’s compliance 
with the provisions of the Law on Enterprises, Decree  
71/2017/NĐ-CP, Circular 95/2017/TT-BTC and etc. 

INTERNAL CONTROL
& RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

LEGISLATION
COMPLIANCE
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SOLUTIONS FOR MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT

Periodical monitor and supervision of the implementation 
of strategic objectives need to be in place in order to 
achieve the following objectives:

• Annual revenue growth of 15% per year for the period 
2016 - 2020.

• Being the largest Generic Pharmaceutical Enterprise  
in Vietnam.

• Being a pharmaceutical enterprise with the most 
professional, deepest and widest distribution channels, 
focusing on the development of biotech products with 
scientific and technical contents, M&A or joint ventures 
to increase the Company’s values, etc.

Maintaining the proportion of the hospital channel by 
10% or above is the objective of the Company in the 
period 2016-2020. The solutions are to enhance the 
factory standards, to implement bioequivalence and 
equivalent treatment of products as well as to set up a 
division, that is especially responsible for developing 
biddings and implementing cost reduction measures 
in order to improve the competitiveness of prices 
when bidding, etc.

Since registration of products is getting increasingly 
difficult, it is important for the Company to focus on 
the list of existing product portfolios. To expand 
its market with registered products, the Company 
needs to focus on such strategies as continuing to 
invest in trademark and key locations, classifying 
customers and implementing “detail - regular - not 
overlooking customers”.   

Upgrading its production plant to GMP PIC/s 
standard to increase competitiveness in exports.

Taking cognizance of the opportunities and importance 
of the industrial revolution 4.0, DHG Pharma has 
proactively utilized an application on mobile devices 
for customers such as App DHG Co-Prosperity. 
This application is expected to bring customers a 
new experience of modernity, convenience as well 
as optimize the operation of the distribution system 
such as closely monitoring the sales of customers, 
supervising the ordering and delivery data of agents 
to fully exploit the market potential, implementing 
the commercial support programs for customers 
in an optimal way, measuring the performance.... 
At the same time, DHG Pharma has implemented  
App Magic Mirror to all employees in order to educate 
and train them to become more professional.

MARKET RISKS

DHG Pharma determines the followings as possible 
market risks:

Shrinking of its market share, and the risk of being 
caught up by competitors in the next 5-10 years unless 
the Company makes appropriate breakthroughs and 
strategies.

Pressure of quick growth will easily lead to exceeding 
growth and loss of control over the operation of the 
sales system.

Circular 01 of the Minister of Health on bidding of drugs 
procurement in hospitals created significant impacts 
and reduced the revenue of DHG Pharma’s hospital 
channel as well as affected the Pharmacy channel.

New regulations on drug registration number, dietary 
supplements, the approval of advertising tools, and 
so forth have become increasingly tight and difficult. 
These involves a lot of effort, cost, and time, and greatly 
influences on the strategy of developing new brands, 
products and operation of the Company’s new factory.

The fourth industrial revolution 4.0 has created a 
strong impact on enterprises in various fields such 
as manufacturing - automation, finance - banking, 
transportation, tourism... Pharmaceutical companies 
are no exception. In fact, these companies even need to 
seize the opportunities to change more rapidly because 
of domestic and foreign competitive pressures and 
higher requirements of the customers. The enterprises 
need to quickly map out technology-based plans and 
strategies to apply in all phases of their chain operations.

1

2

3

4

Official available on  
AppStore - CH Play 

SOLUTIONS FOR LEGAL AND COMPLIANCE RISK MANAGEMENT

Compliance with laws is one of the Company’s ethical values, which is 
specified in the Company’s regulations and cultural identity.

In order to enhance compliance, the Legal Department performs the 
following basic functions:

Reviewing, developing and improving the system of internal 
regulations and procedures of the Company in accordance with 
laws and the Company’s activities.

100% of contracts and agreements signed are reviewed by legal 
specialists.

Updating legal changes related to the Company’s activities as well 
as disseminating to each department and specialized functions.

Advising the BOM and its subordinate units on the procedures 
for implementing investment projects, joint venture cooperation 
contracts, sales policies and other matters related to the laws.

SOLUTIONS FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Making reports on sustainable development report annually to 
evaluate the sustainable development goals in comparison with the 
Company’s set business strategies and plan. Identifying key impacts 
from the business activities on the environment and society in order 
to propose effective measures to minimize risks.

Strictly complying with regulations related to sustainable 
development in the entire system of DHG Pharma, especially 
regulations on environmental protection, occupational health and 
labor safety.

Inspecting and measuring indicators on wastewater, waste, exhaust 
fumes, and so forth are conducted on a regular basis, quarterly and 
annually, in cooperation with specialized units to ensure the safety 
of the working environment as well as the discharging of water into 
the environment. At the same time, measures for environmental 
incidents in case of emergency are also timely provided.

LEGAL AND 
COMPLIANCE RISKS

ENVIRONMENTAL 
RISKS

Laws, sub-law documents, 
regulations of the industry and tax 
guidance, which are frequently 
changed and not synchronous, 
significantly impact business 
results and orientation of the 
Company. 

The risk of litigation, dispute, 
and compensation may occur if 
the Company does not regularly 
update and have a thorough 
understanding of new regulations.

In recent times, environmental 
pollution has become an urgent 
issue that requires special attention 
from enterprises, especially 
pharmaceutical companies in 
Vietnam. Being aware of the 
importance of the issue, sustainable 
development and environmental  
protection has always been 
integrated into DHG Pharma’s 
strategies. Simultaneously, DHG 
Pharma has always ensured 
its compliance with the State’s 
regulations on exhaust fumes, 
emission, and waste.

1

1

2

2

3

3

4
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One of the contributing factors to the success 
of the enterprises is the continuous innovation 
and improvement of products, development 
of completely new products, and expansion of 
the product line to meet the market demand, 
and sentiment of customers. Recognizing 
the importance of product development, 
DHG Pharma has further invested in R&D 
activities and the cost of Investment and 
development fund. As a result, every year, 
the Company researches and launches 
averagely 5-8 new products into the market. 
Before being launched into the market, these 
products have undergone extensive analysis, 
investigation, research, testing and evaluation 
of the competent authorities.

Currently, the low-quality goods and goods 
infringing intellectual property rights in the 
pharmaceutical industry has become a real 
concern for the pharmaceutical companies 
that compete fairly in the market. The 
problem of counterfeit and pirated goods 
has seriously damaged the prestige of 
enterprises, especially for pharmaceutical 
companies because poor-quality products 
directly pose threats to consumers’ health. 
Therefore, the Company has always been 
aware of protecting its products by improving 
the quality, design and packaging, being 
stunning, eye-catching, which helps the 
consumers easily identify the products. 
Furthermore, the Company has always paid 
attention to invest in brand promotion and 
trademark registration.

RISKS IN RESEARCH AND 
DEVELOPMENT OF NEW 
PRODUCTS

RISKS OF COUNTERFEIT 
AND FAKE GOODS

FLUCTUATION RISKS ON INTEREST RATES, 
EXCHANGE RATES, CREDIT AND LIQUIDITY

With its 80% imported medicinal ingredients, DHG Pharma 
is prone to input factors such as foreign exchange rates, 
price fluctuations for raw materials, import tax policies…

Regarding the risk of the exchange rate: The Company’s 
solutions include regular updates and forecasts of 
exchange rate fluctuations through relationships with 
banks. The company also performs L/C contracts so that 
banks can make payment to hedge the risks of foreign 
currency shortage.

With respect to price fluctuations for raw materials: 
The Company trades in raw materials in bulk to take the 
negotiating advantages in terms of prices and selecting 
many reputable suppliers. In addition, it is possible for the 
Company to grasp the trend in using raw materials and 
developing new products. The Purchasing Department 
regularly makes forecasts from the beginning of the year 

to develop reasonable plans for purchasing contract 
during the year.

Each new material source used in production needs to 
be monitored for stability for at least 06 months. DHG 
Pharma already has plans to increase its selection with 
many other reputable suppliers and the stability of the 
material is also being tested.

Risks on credit and interest rate of the Company are mainly 
affected by bank deposits and customer receivables. 
However, the number of deposits will continue to be 
strongly disbursed in subsequent years for dividends and 
investments. Therefore, it is projected that the risk involved 
deposits will decrease gradually in subsequent years. 
Instead, the main risk will be related to liquidity at certain 
times when the Company needs loan capital to finance its 
working capital

RISKS IN PRODUCTION
regulations on labor safety and fire prevention and fighting, 
the use of equipment to minimize risks. Simultaneously, 
the Company has paid great attention to investment in 
technology innovation, incident prevention, inspection 
of working environment, improving working conditions, 
periodical training on safety, and fire prevention.

In drug manufacturing, DHG Pharma is always been aware 
of and strictly complied with the production processes, 

INTERNAL CONTROL
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QUESTIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESSMENT BASIS OF EVALUATION

Performances in 2017 Performances in 2016

A.3.2

Does the company provide non-
controlling shareholders a right to 
nominate candidates for board of 
directors/commissioners?

Good Regulated in Article 33 of the Company’s Charter. Regulated in Article 31 of the Company’s Charter. 

A.3.3 Does the company allow 
shareholders to elect directors/
commissioners individually?

Good Regulated in Article 18 of the Company’s 
Charter.
• The general meeting by solicitation of 

written consent for the second time in 
2017 approved the dismissal as BOD 
members to Mr. Hoang Nguyen Hoc and  
Mr. Le Dinh Buu Tri. Additionally elected  
Mr.  Nguyen Chi Thanh & Ms. Dang Thi Thu Ha  
as BOD members for replacements. 

• The AGM 2017 passed the additional 
election of Mr. Phan Minh Tien as an 
independent BOD member. 

Regulated in Article 18 of the Company’s 
Charter.
• The AGM 2016 passed the dismissal as a 

BOD member to Mr. Shuhei Tabata and  
Ms. Dang Pham Minh Loan. Additionally 
elected Mr. Jun Kuroda as a BOD member.

A.3.4
Does the company disclose the 
voting procedures used before the 
start of meeting?

Good This content is included in the document of the 
AGM 2017. 

This content is included in the document of the 
AGM 2016.

A.3.5

Do the minutes of the most recent 
AGM record that the shareholders 
were given the opportunity to ask 
questions and the questions raised 
by shareholders and answers given 
recorded?

Good The minutes of AGMs always record all questions from shareholders and answers from the Presidium

A.3.6

Does the company disclose the 
voting results including approving, 
dissenting, and abstaining votes for 
all resolutions/each agenda item for 
the most recent AGM?

Good The minutes of the AGM disclosed approving percentage for each voting opinion in accordance 
with each voting agenda of the Meeting. 

A.3.7
Does the company disclose the list 
of board members who attended the 
most recent AGM?

Good The minutes of AGM 2017 disclosed the list of 
BOD members attending the Meeting.

The minutes of AGMs prior to 2017 disclosed 
this content, but did not disclose the list of BOD 
members attending the Meeting. 

Since the AGM 2016, the minutes of AGMs 
have disclosed the list of BOD members 
attending the Meeting. 

A.3.8
Does the company disclose that 
all board members and the CEO 
attended the most recent AGM?

Good DHG Pharma well - implemented this practice.

A.3.9 Does the company allow voting in 
absentia?

Have  
not imple-

mented

The internal regulation of corporate governance regulated the form of absentee voting, 
however DHG Pharma has not satisfied necessary criteria for implementation. The Company 
shall consider the implementation of this form at the next general meetings.  

A.3.10
Did the company vote by poll (as 
opposed to by show of hands) for all 
resolutions at the most recent AGM?

Good
The minutes of AGMs clearly stated the voting form of shareholders by “voting ballots” in 
accordance with issues addressed at the Meetings and in accordance with each item of 
reports/statements (approve, against, abstain). 

A.3.11

Does the company disclose that 
it has appointed an independent 
party (scrutineers/inspectors) to 
count and/or validate the votes at 
the AGM?

Good
At the AGM 2017, the Company invited a 
shareholder to be a representative to supervise 
the Voting Counting Committee. 

At the AGM 2016, the Company invited 
a shareholder act as a representative to 
supervise the Voting Counting Committee, but 
none of shareholders took part in. 

A.3.12

Does the company make publicly 
available by the next working day 
the result of the votes taken during 
the most recent AGM/EGM for all 
resolutions?

Good The minutes and resolutions of the AGMs were disclosed within 24 hours in  
2 languages (Vietnamese and English) on DHG Pharma’s website. 

ASSESSING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
BASED ON ASEAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE SCORECARD

QUESTIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESSMENT BASIS OF EVALUATION

Performances in 2017 Performances in 2016

A. RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

A.1 Basic Shareholder Rights  

A.1.1 Does the company pay (interim 
and final/annual) dividends in an 
equitable and timely manner; that is, 
all shareholders are treated equally 
and paid within 30 days after being 
(i) declared for interim dividends 
and (ii) approved by shareholders at 
general meetings for final dividends? 
In case the company has offered 
Scrip dividend, did the company 
paid the dividend within 60 days.

Good Dividend in 2017: 
• The AGM 2017 held on 28 Mar 2018 passed 

the dividend rate of 2017 with a  rate of  
30%/face value.

Dividend payment in 2017: 
• Advance dividend payment Phase 1 at 

10%/par value: information disclosure on  
31 Aug 2017, closing date 19 Sept 2017, 
payment date: 04 Oct 2017.

• Advance dividend payment at 15%/par value: 
information disclosure on 15 Dec 2017, 
closing date: 29 Dec 2017, payment date:  
25 Jan 2018

• Last advance dividend payment in 2017 
at 5%/par value: information disclosure on  
05 Apr 2018, closing date 19 Apr 2018, 
payment date: 09 May 2018.

Dividend in 2016: 

• The AGM 2016 held on 18 Apr 2017 passed 
the dividend rate of 2016 with a  rate of  
35%/face value.

• Dividend payment in 2016: closing date:  
05 May 2017, payment date: 17 May 2017.

A.1.1 
 (a)

Does the company practice secure 
electronic voting in absentia at the 
general meetings of shareholders?

Have  
not imple-

mented

The Charter and internal regulation in terms of corporate governance include absentee voting 
form, however DHG Pharma has not implemented at the previous general meetings due to not 
satisfying necessary criteria. The Company shall consider the implementation of this form at the 
next general meetings. 

A.2 Right to participate in decisions concerning fundamental corporate changes

Shareholders have the right to participate in

A.2.1 Amendments to the company’s 
charter?

Good Regulated in Article 18 of the Company’s Charter
• General meetings of shareholders by 

solicitation of absentee voting for the first time, 
the second time in 2017: amendments and 
supplements of the Company’s Charter - 18th 
and 19th revisions.

• At the AGM 2017, shareholders participated 
in the amendments and supplements of the 
Company’s Charter and internal regulation of 
corporate governance.

Regulated in Article 18 of the  
Company’s Charter.

At the AGM 2016, shareholders participated 
in the amendments of the Company’s Charter 
- 17th revision. 

A.2.2 The authorisation of additional 
shares? Good

Regulated in Article 18 of the Company’s 
Charter.

This content did not arise in the AGM 2017.

Regulated in Article 18 of the Company’s 
Charter.

At the AGM 2016, shareholders voted on the 
issuance of bonus shares, ratio 2:1 in 2017.

A.2.3
The transfer of all or substantially all 
assets, which in effect results in the 
sale of the company?

Good Regulated in Article 18 of the Company’s Charter

A.3 Right to participate effectively in and vote in general shareholder meetings and should be informed of the rules, including voting 
procedures, which govern general shareholder meetings.

A.3.1

Do shareholders have the 
opportunity, evidenced by 
an agenda item, to approve 
remuneration or any increases in 
remuneration for the nonexecutive 
directors/commissioners?

Good This content is included in the document of the 
AGM 2017. 

This content is included in the document of the 
AGM 2016.

Good: Have implemented 100% of the practice(s) 
Have not implemented fully: Have implemented the practice(s) partly but not fully 

Have not implemented: Have not implemented the practice(s) 
N/A: There is no case in DHG Pharma
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QUESTIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESSMENT BASIS OF EVALUATION

Performances in 2017 Performances in 2016

B.2.2

Are the company’s notice of 
the most recent AGM/circulars 
fully translated into English and 
published on the same date as the 
local-language version?

Good
Documents of the AGM were translated into 
English and disclosed on the same date 
with documents in Vietnamese version. 

Documents of the AGMs were translated 
into English and disclosed 1 - 2 days after 
the Vietnamese version was disclosed. 

B.2.3
Are the profiles of directors/
commissioners in seeking 
election/reelection included?

Good

DHG Pharma disclosed the profiles of candidates in two languages (Vietnamese and 
English) in AGMs’ documents. 

B.2.4
Are the supervisors seeking 
appointment/reappointment 
clearly identified?

Good

B.2.5 Were the proxy documents made 
easily available? Good Proxy documents were sent to shareholders and uploaded on DHG Pharma’s website. 

B.3 Insider trading and abusive self-dealing should be prohibited

B.3.1

Does the company have policies 
and/or rules prohibiting directors/
commissioners and employees to 
benefit from knowledge which is not 
generally available to the market?

Good
Regulated in Article 48 of the Company’s 
Charter (Responsibility to be honest and 
avoid conflicts of interests).

Regulated in Article 45 of the Company’s 
Charter (Responsibility to be honest and 
avoid conflicts of interests).

B.3.2

Are the directors / commissioners 
required to report their dealings 
in company shares within 3 
business days?

Good DHG Pharma is well-implementing this benchmark in accordance with  
Circular 155/2015/TT-BTC and the Company’s Charter. 

B.4 Related party transactions by directors and key executives.

B.4.1

Does the company have a policy 
requiring directors/commissioners 
to disclose their interest in 
transactions and any other 
conflicts of interest?

Good This content was regulated in the Company’s Charter and internal regulation of  
corporate governance. 

B.4.2

Does the company have a 
policy requiring a committee 
of independent directors/
commissioners to review material 
RPTs to determine whether they 
are in the best interests of the 
company and shareholders?

Have 
not 

implemented 
fully 

DHG Pharma’s charter and regulations have not yet regulated this principle. DHG Pharma 
is preparing detailed regulations on related party transactions in 2018.

B.4.3

Does the company have a 
policy requiring board members 
(directors/commissioners) to 
abstain from participating in the 
board discussion on a particular 
agenda when they are conflicted?

Good BOD members attended the meetings but were not allowed to vote on contents related to 
activities and transactions in which such members have conflicts of interests.

B.4.4

Does the company have policies 
on loans to directors and 
commissioners either forbidding 
this practice or ensuring that they 
are being conducted at arm’s 
length basis and at market rates?

Good Regulated in Article 50 of the Company’s 
Charter.

Regulated in Article 45 of the Company’s 
Charter. 

B.5 Protecting minority shareholders from abusive actions

B.5.1

Does the company disclose that 
RPTs are conducted in such a way 
to ensure that they are fair and at 
arms’ length?

Good Stated in Annual Reports. 

QUESTIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESSMENT BASIS OF EVALUATION

Performances in 2017 Performances in 2016

A.3.13

Does the company provide at 
least 21 days notice regarding 
the issues to be decided at the 
meeting for all AGMs and EGMs?

Have 
not 

implemented 
fully 

Notices of meeting, power of attorney, Meeting agendas and contents were sent to 
shareholders 21 days prior to the date of the AGMs. 

All AGMs’ documents were uploaded on the Company’s website and disclosed 15 
days prior to the date of AGMs. The Company shall disclose all relevant information in 
accordance with this benchmark. 

A.3.14

Does the company provide the 
rationale and explanation for 
each agenda item which require 
shareholders’ approval in the 
notice of AGM/circulars and/or the 
accompanying statement?

Good
Meeting documents provided to shareholders with sufficient information and explanation 
for each agenda item which require shareholders’ approval in 2 languages (Vietnamese 
and English). 

A.3.15

Does the company give the 
opportunity for shareholder to 
place item/s on the agenda of 
AGM?

Good

Prior to Meetings, shareholders can submit their proposals for AGMs’ agendas (must be 
in writing and must be sent at least three (03) working days prior to the opening date of 
the AGMs). 

At Meetings, the Company always spent more than 60 minutes giving shareholders 
a chance to ask questions to the BOD about Meeting agendas, including questions 
related to independent audits, etc. Discussion questions were recorded in the minutes 
of Meetings. 

A.4 Markets for corporate control should be allowed to function in an efficient and transparent manner 

A.4.1

In cases of mergers, acquisitions 
and/or takeovers requiring 
shareholders’ approval, does the 
board of directors/commissioners 
of the company appoint an 
independent party to evaluate the 
fairness of the transaction price?

Good

At the AGM 2017, the Company submitted 
to the AGM for the approval of the merger of 
wholly owned subsidiaries of DHG Pharma 
- DHG Pharma Ltd. and DHG PP1 into DHG 
Pharma. Baoviet Securities JSC consulted 
the merger.

There is no case in DHG Pharma. 

A.5 The exercise of ownership rights by all shareholders, including institutional investors, should be facilitated

A.5.1

Does the company disclose 
its practices to encourage 
shareholders to engage with the 
company beyond AGM?

Good
The Company always updated its quarterly business results (Analyst Meeting) as 
well as answer questions and record feedbacks from shareholders and investors 
through IR activities. 

B. EQUITABLE TREATMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS

B.1 Shares and voting rights   

B.1.1
Does the company’s ordinary or 
common shares have one vote for 
one share?

Good Agendas and voting procedures at Meetings clearly stated this content. 

B.1.1 (a)

Does the company issue a notice 
of AGM (detailed report and 
explanation notice), as notices 
sent to HOSE at least 28 days prior 
to the date of the meeting?

Have 
not 

implemented 
fully 

The Company disclosed the notice of AGM 15 days prior to the meeting. 

B.1.2

In case the company has more 
than one class of shares, does the 
company publicise the voting rights 
attached to each class of shares? 

Good DHG Pharma has only 01 class of share: ordinary share 

B.2 Notice of AGM

B.2.1

Does each resolution in the most 
recent AGM deal with only one item, 
i.e., there is no bundling of several 
items into the same resolution?

Good AGMs’ resolutions implemented this benchmark well. 

ASSESSING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
BASED ON ASEAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE SCORECARD

Good: Have implemented 100% of the practice(s) 
Have not implemented fully: Have implemented the practice(s) partly but not fully 

Have not implemented: Have not implemented the practice(s) 
N/A: There is no case in DHG Pharma
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QUESTIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESSMENT BASIS OF EVALUATION

Performances in 2017 Performances in 2016

C.3 Mechanisms for employee participation should be permitted to develop.

C.3.1

Does the company explicitly 
disclose the policies and practices 
on health, safety and welfare for its 
employees?

Good

Fully stated in Annual Reports and Sustainable Development Reports.C.3.2

Does the company explicitly 
disclose the policies and practices 
on training and development 
programmes for its employees?

Good

C.3.3

Does the company have a reward/
compensation policy that accounts 
for the performance of the company 
beyond short-term financial 
measures?

Good

C.4 Stakeholders including individual employee and their representative bodies, should be able to freely communicate their 
concerns about illegal or unethical practices to the board and their rights should not be compromised for doing this.

C.4.1

Does the company have a whistle 
blowing policy which includes 
procedures for complaints by 
employees and other stakeholders 
concerning alleged illegal (including 
corruption) and unethical behaviour 
and provide contact details via 
the company’s website or annual 
report? 

Have 
not imple-

mented  
fully

This content was defined in the cultural identity, the regulation of exercising 
democracy, the regulation of dialogue at the Company. The Company is considering to 
post “Cultural Identity of DHG Pharma” on the Company’s website.

Consideration should be given to developing a specific process and policy for the 
protection of whistleblowers.

C.4.2

Does the company have a policy or 
procedures to protect an employee/
person who reveals alleged illegal/
unethical behaviour from retaliation?

Have 
not imple-

mented  
fully

D DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY

D.1 Transparent ownership structure 

D.1.1

Does the information on 
shareholdings reveal the identity 
of beneficial owners, holding 5% 
shareholding or more?

Good Specifically stated in Annual reports and 6-month/ annual corporate governance reports. 

 D.1.1(a)
Are the audited annual financial 
report/statement released within 60 
days from the financial year end?

Have  
not imple-

mented

Annual audited financial statements were disclosed within 10 days since the date the 
financial statements were signed in accordance with Circular TT155/2015/TT-BCTC. 

D.1.2

Does the company disclose the 
direct and indirect (deemed) 
shareholdings of major and/or 
substantial shareholders?

Good Specifically stated in Annual reports and 6-month/annual corporate governance reports.

D.1.2 (a) Does the company disclose details 
of remuneration of the CEO? Good Fully stated in Annual Reports.

D.1.3

Does the company disclose the 
direct and indirect (deemed) 
shareholdings of directors 
(commissioners)?

Good

Specifically stated in Annual reports and 6-month/ annual corporate governance reports. 

D.1.4

Does the company disclose the 
direct and indirect (deemed) 
shareholdings of the board of  
management?

Good

QUESTIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESSMENT BASIS OF EVALUATION

Performances in 2017 Performances in 2016

B.5.2

In case of related party transactions 
requiring shareholders’ approval, 
is the decision made by 
disinterested shareholders?

Good Stated in Annual Reports. 

C ROLE OF STAKEHOLDERS

C.1 The rights of stakeholders that are established by law or through mutual agreements are to be respected. Does the company 
disclose a policy and practices that address:

C.1.1
The existence and scope of the 
company’s efforts to address 
customers’ welfare?

Good Stated in Sustainable Development Reports.

C.1.1 (a)

Does the company implement 
an internationally recognized 
reporting framework for 
sustainable development (ie GRI, 
Integrated Report, SASB)?

Good DHG Pharma’s sustainable development reports were prepared in accordance with  
GRI standard. 

C.1.2
Does the Company disclose 
Supplier/contractor selection 
procedures?

Good

Stated in Sustainable Development Reports.

C.1.3

Does the Company disclose the 
company’s efforts to ensure that 
its value chain is environmentally 
friendly or is consistent 
with promoting sustainable 
development?

Good

C.1.4

Does the Company disclose the 
company’s efforts to interact with 
the communities in which they 
operate?

Good Stated in Annual Reports and Sustainable Development Reports.

C.1.5
Does the Company disclose 
the company’s anti-corruption 
programmes and procedures?

Good Stated in Sustainable Development Reports.

C.1.6
Does the Company disclose 
on how creditors’ rights are 
safeguarded?

Have  
not imple-

mented

DHG Pharma shall consider to supplement policies to protect the interests of creditors. 
In present, due to safety reasons, DHG Pharma uses only equity capital for fixed asset 
investments.

C.1.7

Does the company have a separate 
report/section that discusses its 
efforts on environment/economy 
and social issues?

Good Stated in Annual Reports and Sustainable Development Reports.

C.2 Where stakeholder interests are protected by law, stakeholders should have the opportunity to obtain effective redress for 
violation of their rights.

C.2.1

Does the company provide 
contact details via the company’s 
website or Annual Report which 
stakeholders (e.g. customers, 
suppliers, general public etc.) can 
use to voice their concerns and/or 
complaints for possible violation of 
their rights?

Good The company’s website, annual reports, sustainable reports disclosed contact information.

ASSESSING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
BASED ON ASEAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE SCORECARD

Good: Have implemented 100% of the practice(s) 
Have not implemented fully: Have implemented the practice(s) partly but not fully 

Have not implemented: Have not implemented the practice(s) 
N/A: There is no case in DHG Pharma
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QUESTIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESSMENT BASIS OF EVALUATION

Performances in 2017 Performances in 2016

D.5 External auditor and Auditor Report

D.5.1 Are the audit and non-audit fees 
disclosed?

Have  
not imple-

mented

The Company disclosed information on auditing contracts with auditors but the Company 
has not disclosed audit fees. 

D.5.2 Does the non-audit fee exceed 
the audit fees? N/A The Company does not have any non-audit fee.

D.6 Medium of communications

Does the company use the following modes of communication?

D.6.1 Quarterly reporting Good

Quarterly financial statements of the Company were disclosed on the website and mass 
media in accordance with the period of information disclosure.

Other information is regularly updated on the Company’s website and the media.

D.6.2 Company website Good The Company has its website translated into English. The majority of disclosed information 
was translated into English. 

D.6.3 Analyst's briefing Good Quarterly, the Company organized a shareholder/investor meeting to update the 
Company’s business results. 

D.6.4 Media briefings /press conferences Good The Company regularly posts articles updating the business situation and promoting the 
Company’s images on the media.

D.7 Timely filing/release of annual/financial reports

D.7.1
Are the audited annual financial 
report / statement released within 
120 days from the financial year end?

Good Audited financial statements of the Company were disclosed within 10 days from the date of 
auditing the financial statements and no later than 90 days after the end of the financial year.

D.7.2 Is the annual report released within 
120 days from the financial year end? Good The Company’s annual reports were disclosed within 20 days from the publication of 

audited financial statements.

D.7.3

Is the true and fairness/fair 
representation of the annual 
financial statement/reports affirmed 
by the board of directors and/or the 
relevant officers of the company?

Good Audited financial statements contained reports of the BOM stating this content.

D.8 Company website

Does the company have a website disclosing up-to-date information on the following:

D.8.1 Financial statements/reports 
(latest quarterly) Good

These types of information are fully provided and regularly updated. 

D.8.2 Materials provided in briefings to 
analysts and media Good

D.8.3 Downloadable annual report Good

D.8.4 Notice of AGM and/or EGM Good

D.8.5 Minutes of AGM and/or EGM Good

D.8.6 Downloadable company’s charter  Good

QUESTIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESSMENT BASIS OF EVALUATION

Performances in 2017 Performances in 2016

D.1.5

Does the company disclose details 
of the parent/holding company, 
subsidiaries, affiliates, joint ventures 
and special purpose enterprises/ 
vehicles (SPEs)/ (SPVs)?

Good Annual reports specifically stated this content. 

D.2 Quality of Annual Report

Does the company’s annual report disclose the following items:

D.2.1 Corporate objectives Good

Each section was specifically stated in annual reports.

D.2.2 Financial performance indicators Good

D.2.3 Non-financial performance 
indicators Good

D.2.4 Dividend policy Good

D.2.5

Biographical details (at least age, 
academic qualifications, date 
of first appointment, relevant 
experience, and any other 
directorships of listed companies) 
of all directors/commissioners

Good

D.2.6

Attendance details of each 
director/commissioner in 
all directors/commissioners 
meetings held during the year

Good

D.2.7 Total remuneration of each 
member of the board of directors Good

Corporate Governance Confirmation Statement

D.2.8

Does the Annual Report contain 
a statement confirming the 
company’s full compliance with 
the code of corporate governance 
and where there is non-
compliance, identify and explain 
reasons for each such issue?

Good Stated in annual reports - corporate governance report section. 

D.3 Disclosure of related party transactions (RPT)

D.3.1
Does the company disclose its 
policy covering the review and 
approval of material RPTs?

Good

Specifically stated in annual reports and financial statements. 

D.3.2
Does the company disclose the 
name, relationship, nature and 
value for each material RPTs?

Good

  D.4 Directors dealings in shares of the company

D.4.1
Does the company disclose 
trading in the company’s shares 
by insiders?

Good Insiders disclosed information 3 days before the date of trading shares. Annual reports 
also stated this content. 

ASSESSING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
BASED ON ASEAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE SCORECARD

Good: Have implemented 100% of the practice(s) 
Have not implemented fully: Have implemented the practice(s) partly but not fully 

Have not implemented: Have not implemented the practice(s) 
N/A: There is no case in DHG Pharma
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QUESTIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESSMENT BASIS OF EVALUATION

Performances in 2017 Performances in 2016

E.2.3
Does the company have a process to 
implement and monitor compliance 
with the code/s of ethics or conduct?

Good Annual reports and sustainable reports state this content. 

Board Structure & Composition

E.2.4
Do independent directors/
commissioners make up at least 50% 
of the board of directors?

Have 
not imple-

mented  
fully

Independent BOD members are 2/7 members. Independent BOD members are 1/7 member. 

E.2.5
Does the company have a term limit of 
nine years or less or 2 terms of five years 
each for its independent directors?

Good

The Company’s charter specifically regulates the term of no more than 5 years for a BOD 
member. At the same time, the criteria and conditions for being an independent BOD member 
are not the same person who has served as a member of the BOD or BOS of DHG Pharma for at 
least five (05) consecutive years.

E.2.6

Has the company set a limit of 
five board seats that an individual 
independent/non-executive director 
may hold simultaneously?

Good
The Company’s charter stipulates that “a BOD member may concurrently be a BOD member of 
another company but must not be a BOD member of more than five (05) other companies since 
01 Aug 2019”.

E.2.7

Does the company have any executive 
directors who serve on more than two 
boards of listed companies outside of 
the group?

Good Executive BOD members hold only the positions of the BOD /Board of Members at the 
Company’s subsidiaries. 

Nominating Committee

E.2.8 Does the company have a Nominating 
Committee? Good The Company has a Nomination and Remuneration Subcommittee under the BOD. 

E.2.9
Is the Nominating Committee 
comprised of a majority of independent 
directors?

Good DHG Pharma has implemented this benchmark well.

E.2.10 Is the chairman of the Nominating 
Committee an independent director? Good An independent BOD member is the head of the Nomination and Remuneration Subcommittee. 

E.2.11
Does the company disclose the terms 
of reference/ governance structure/
charter of the Nominating Committee?

Good Annual reports clearly specified this content. 

E.2.12

Is the meeting attendance of the 
Nominating Committee disclosed and 
if so, did the Nominating Committee 
meet at least twice during the year?

Good Quarterly, members of Nomination and Remuneration Subcommittee meet and submit reports 
to the BOD. This content was stated in annual reports. 

Remuneration Committee/ Compensation Committee

E.2.13 Does the company have a 
Remuneration Committee? Good The Nomination and Remuneration Subcommittee in charge.

E.2.14
Is the Remuneration Committee 
comprised of a majority of independent 
directors?

Good Similar to section E.2.9.

E.2.15 Is the chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee an independent director? Good Similar to section E.2.10.

E.2.16

Does the company disclose the 
terms of reference/ governance 
structure/ charter of the Remuneration 
Committee?

Good Similar to section E.2.11.

E.2.17

Is the meeting attendance of the 
Remuneration Committee disclosed 
and, if so, did the Remuneration 
Committee meet at least twice during 
the year?

Good Similar to section E.2.12.

Audit Committee

E.2.18 Does the company have an Audit 
Committee? Good The corporate governance model has a BOS. 

QUESTIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESSMENT BASIS OF EVALUATION

Performances in 2017 Performances in 2016

D.9 Investor relations

D.9.1

Does the company disclose the 
contact details (e.g. telephone, 
fax, and email) of the officer / office 
responsible for investor relations?

Good
The Company’s website has contact section and inquiry section. Annual Reports, 
Sustainable Development Reports and Quarterly IR Reports contain contact information 
of the IR Team.

E BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

E.1 Board Members Duties and Responsibilities

Clearly defined board responsibilities and corporate governance policy

E.1.1
Does the company disclose its 
corporate governance policy / board 
charter?

Good The Company’s website discloses internal regulation on corporate governance in 
Vietnamese and English. 

E.1.1 (a)
Does the company have at least 
one female independent director/
commissioner?

Have  
not imple-

mented
2/7 non-executive BOD members are female.   

E.1.2 Are the types of decisions requiring 
board of directors approval disclosed? Good BOD Resolutions/Decisions were disclosed in accordance with Circular 155/2015/TT-BTC 

and were stated in corporate governance reports and annual reports. 

E.1.2 (a)

Does the company have a policy and 
disclose measurable objectives for 
implementing its board diversity and 
report on progress in achieving its 
objectives?

Have  
not imple-

mented
DHG Pharma has not implemented this regulation well. 

E.1.3 Are the roles and responsibilities of the 
board of directors clearly stated? Good Annual reports and corporate governance reports specifically stated this content. 

Corporate Vision/Mission

E.1.4 Does the company have an updated 
vision and mission statement?

Good Annual reports, sustainable development reports and the Company’s website specifically 
stated this content.

E.1.5

Does the board of directors play 
a leading role in the process of 
developing and reviewing the  
company’s strategy at least annually?

Good Annually, the BOD reviewed and developed the Company’s strategy which was presented 
in Annual reports.

E.1.6

Does the board of directors have 
a process to review, monitor and 
oversee the implementation of the 
corporate strategy?

Good Quarterly, the Strategic Subcommittee reports quarterly implementation of strategies to 
the BOD and recommends adjustments in accordance with the Company’s situation.

E.2 Board structure

Code of Ethics or Conduct

E.2.1 Are the details of the code of ethics 
or conduct disclosed?

Have 
not imple-

mented  
fully

The Company’s website clearly explains in details the meaning of 07 core values in terms 
of code of ethics and conduct with related parties. At the same time, the Company has a 
handbook known as “Cultural identity of DHG Pharma”.

The Company will consider posting “Cultural identity of DHG Pharma” on the 
Company’s website.

E.2.1 (a)
Is the Nominating Committee 
comprise entirely of independent 
directors/commissioners?

Have  
not imple-

mented
DHG Pharma has not implemented this benchmark well. 

E.2.2
Are all directors, senior management 
and employees required to comply 
with the code/s?

Good The Company disclosed its compliance with the code of conduct to the BOD, executive 
board, managerial staffs and employees.

E.2.2 (a)

Does the Nominating Committee 
undertake the process of identifying 
the quality of directors aligned with the 
company’s strategic directions?

Have  
not imple-

mented
DHG Pharma has not implemented this benchmark well.  

ASSESSING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
BASED ON ASEAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE SCORECARD

Good: Have implemented 100% of the practice(s) 
Have not implemented fully: Have implemented the practice(s) partly but not fully 

Have not implemented: Have not implemented the practice(s) 
N/A: There is no case in DHG Pharma
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QUESTIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESSMENT BASIS OF EVALUATION

Performances in 2017 Performances in 2016

Access to information

E.3.6

Are board papers for board of 
directors meetings provided to the 
board at least five business days in 
advance of the board meeting?

Good DHG Pharma complies with this policy in providing documents in English and Vietnamese.

E.3.7

Does the company secretary play 
a significant role in supporting 
the board in discharging its 
responsibilities?

Good The BOD Secretary plays an important role in supporting the BOD to fulfill their duties. 
Responsibilities of the Secretary were stated in the Company’s Charter.

E.3.8

Is the company secretary 
trained in legal, accountancy or 
company secretarial practices 
and has kept abreast on relevant 
developments?

Good DHG Pharma has implemented this benchmark well.

Board Appointments and Re-Election

E.3.9
Does the company disclose the 
criteria used in selecting new 
directors?

Good

DHG Pharma has implemented this benchmark well.

E.3.10
Did the company describe the 
process followed in appointing new 
directors?

Good

E.3.11

Are all directors/commissioners 
subject to reelection every 3 years; 
or 5 years for listed companies 
in countries whose legislation 
prescribes a term of 5 years?

Good The term of office of the BOD at DHG Pharma is 5 years.

Remuneration Matters

E.3.12
Does the company disclose its 
remuneration policy/practices for 
its executive directors and CEO?

Good

Annual reports specifically stated this content. 

E.3.13 Is there disclosure of the fee structure 
for nonexecutive directors? Good

E.3.14

Do the shareholders or the 
Board of Directors approve the 
remuneration of the executive 
directors and/or the senior 
executives?

Good The BOD approved the salary scale of the Executive Board.

E.3.15

Does the company have 
measurable standards to align the 
performance-based remuneration 
of the executive directors and 
senior executived with long-term 
interests of the company, such as 
claw back provision and deferred 
bonuses?

Have  
not imple-

mented
The Company will consider to supplement this benchmark in the coming years. 

Internal Audit

E.3.16 Does the company have a 
separate internal audit function? Good DHG Pharma has the Audit and Risk Management Subcommittee under the BOD and the 

Internal Control Department under the BOM. 

E.3.17

Is the head of internal audit 
identified or, if outsourced, is 
the name of the external firm 
disclosed?

Good Annual reports stated the profile of the Audit and Risk Management Subcommittee. 

QUESTIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESSMENT BASIS OF EVALUATION

Performances in 2017 Performances in 2016

E.2.19

Is the Audit Committee comprised 
entirely of nonexecutive directors 
with a majority of independent 
directors?

Have  
not imple-

mented
BOS members are independent members, not BOD members.  

E.2.20
Is the chairman of the Audit 
Committee an independent 
director?

Have  
not imple-

mented

E.2.21

Does the company disclose the 
terms of reference/governance 
structure/charter of the Audit 
Committee/Board of Supervisory?

Good The Charter and internal regulation on corporate governance specifically regulated  
this content. 

E.2.22

Does at least one of the 
independent directors of the 
committee have accounting 
expertise (accounting qualification 
or experience)?

Good Head of the BOS is a person who is professionally qualified in accounting and is working 
full time in the Company. 

E.2.23

Is the meeting attendance of the 
Audit Committee disclosed and, if 
so, did the Audit Committee meet 
at least four times during the year?

Good Annual reports specifically stated this content. 

E.2.24

Does the Audit Committee 
have primary responsibility 
for recommendation on the 
appointment, and removal of the 
external auditor?

Good Annual reports specifically stated this content.

E.3 Board Processes 

Board meetings and attendance

E.3.1
Are the board of directors meeting 
scheduled before the start of 
financial year?

Good Annually, DHG Pharma makes plans for 4 periodic BOD meetings per year before the start 
of a financial year.

E.3.1 (a)

Does the company use 
professional search firms or other 
external sources of candidates 
(such as director databases set up 
by director or shareholder bodies) 
when searching for candidates 
to the board of directors/
commissioners?

Good DHG Pharma has implemented this benchmark well.  

E.3.2 Does the board of directors meet 
at least six times during the year? Good

In 2017, DHG Pharma organized 8 face-to-
face meetings and 10 meetings via email which 
were specifically stated in the annual report.

In 2016, DHG Pharma organized 5 face-to-
face meetings and 8 meetings via email which 
were specifically stated in the annual report.

E.3.3

Has each of the directors/
commissioners attended at least 
75% of all the board meetings held 
during the year?

Good Annual reports specifically stated the attendance rate of each BOD member. 

E.3.4
Does the company require a 
minimum quorum of at least 2/3 
for board decisions?

Good
Voting percentage for BOD decisions follows the approval of the majority of BOD members 
present (over 50%) in accordance with the Enterprise Law and the Company’s charter. 
However, in fact, most of BOD decisions came from agreements of 7/7 BOD members.

E.3.5

Did the non-executive directors of 
the company meet separately at 
least once during the year without 
any executives present?

Have  
not imple-

mented

DHG Pharma has not implemented this benchmark and will consider to implement in the 
coming years

ASSESSING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
BASED ON ASEAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE SCORECARD

Good: Have implemented 100% of the practice(s) 
Have not implemented fully: Have implemented the practice(s) partly but not fully 

Have not implemented: Have not implemented the practice(s) 
N/A: There is no case in DHG Pharma
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QUESTIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESSMENT BASIS OF EVALUATION

Performances in 2017 Performances in 2016

E.5 Board Performance

Directors Development

E.5.1
Does the company have 
orientation programmes for new 
directors?

Have 
not imple-

mented  
fully

Annual performances of the BOD/General Director were shown in detail in sections of 
Annual Reports. However, the orientation program for new BOD members was unclear.

E.5.1 (a)

Does the BOD describe 
management procedures for IT 
related issues such as disruption, 
network security, disaster 
recovery, to ensure that all major 
risks are identified, managed and 
reported to the BOD?

Good
Specified in “DHG Pharma Cultural Identity” and the Company’s regulations. Quarterly, 
the Audit and Risk Management Subcommittee reports to the BOD on the identified 
key risks.

E.5.2

Does the company have a policy 
that encourages directors to attend 
on-going or continuous professional 
education programmes?

Have 
not imple-

mented  
fully

At the end of the year, the BOD conducts an assessment on performances of the BOD, 
General Director and the BOD’s subcommittees during the year and disclose them in 
Annual Reports.

The assessment process and criteria for each member should be considered and 
supplemented in the coming years.

CEO/Executive Management Appointments and Performance

E.5.3

Does the company disclose the 
process on how the board of 
directors plans for the succession 
of the CEO/Managing Director/
President and key management?

Have 
not imple-

mented  
fully

DHG Pharma has established a successor team, however this team has not been 
publicly disclosed. 

E.5.4

Does the board of directors 
conduct an annual performance 
assessment of the CEO/Board 
Chairman?

Have 
not imple-

mented  
fully

Annual reports stated an assessment on the performance of General Director. An 
assessment on the performance of the BOD Chairman has not been stated. 

Board Appraisal

E.5.5

Did the company conduct an 
annual performance assessment of 
the board of directors and disclose 
the criteria and process followed for 
the assessment?

Have 
not imple-

mented  
fully

An assessment was conducted but not detailed in Annual Reports.

Committee Appraisal

E.5.6

Did the company conduct an 
annual performance assessment 
of the individual directors and 
disclose the criteria and process 
followed for the assessment?

Have 
not imple-

mented  
fully

An assessment was conducted but not detailed in Annual Reports.

E.5.7

Did the company conduct an 
annual performance assessment 
of the board committees and 
disclose the criteria and process 
followed for the assessment?

Have 
not imple-

mented  
fully

An assessment was conducted but not detailed in Annual Reports.

QUESTIONS QUESTIONS CONTENTS ASSESSMENT BASIS OF EVALUATION

Performances in 2017 Performances in 2016

E.3.18

Does the appointment and 
removal of the internal auditor 
require the approval of the Audit 
Committee?

Good DHG Pharma has implemented this benchmark well.

Risk Oversight

E.3.19

Does the company establish a 
sound internal control procedures/
risk management framework 
and periodically review the 
effectiveness of that framework?

Good

Annual reports specifically stated this content. 

E.3.20

Does the Annual Report disclose 
that the board of directors 
has conducted a review of the 
company’s material controls and 
risk management systems?

Good

E.3.21 Does the company disclose the 
key risks? Good

E.3.22

Does the Annual Report contain 
a statement from the board of 
directors or Audit Committee 
commenting on the adequacy of 
the company’s internal controls/
risk management systems?

Good

E.4 Board Personnel  

Board Chairman

E.4.1 Do different persons assume the 
roles of chairman and CEO? Good DHG Pharma has implemented this benchmark well.

E.4.1 (a)

Do independent non-executive 
directors/commissioners make 
up more than 50% of the board 
of directors/commissioners for 
a company with independent 
chairman?

Have 
not imple-

mented  
fully

Non-executive BOD members accounts for over 50% of the BOD members at  
the Company. However, the Chairman is not an independent member.

E.4.2 Is the chairman an independent 
director?

Have  
not imple-

mented
The chairman is a non-executive BOD member. 

E.4.3 Is any of the directors a former CEO 
of the company in the past 2 years? Good 01 member of the BOD is the former  

General Director. 
DHG Pharma has implemented this 
benchmark well.

E.4.4 Are the roles and responsibilities of 
the chairman disclosed? Good The Charter and corporate regulation specifically stated this content. 

Lead Independent Director

E.4.5

If the Chairman is not independent, 
has the Board appointed a Lead/
Senior Independent Director and 
has his/her role been defined?

Good
There are 02 independent members of the BOD: 
1. Participating in the Strategic Subcommittee, Marketing and Market Section. 
2. Head of the Nomination Subcommittee.

Skills and Competencies

E.4.6

Does at least one non-executive 
director/commissioner have 
prior working experience in the 
major sector that the company is 
operating in?

Good
1/7 of independent BOD member and 2/7 
of non-executive BOD members have 
experience in the pharmaceutical industry.

1/7 of independent BOD member has 
experience in the pharmaceutical industry.

ASSESSING THE IMPLEMENTATION OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
BASED ON ASEAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE SCORECARD

Good: Have implemented 100% of the practice(s) 
Have not implemented fully: Have implemented the practice(s) partly but not fully 

Have not implemented: Have not implemented the practice(s) 
N/A: There is no case in DHG Pharma
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For nearly half a decade, DHG Pharma, with its mission for 
improving people’s health, has proudly become a pioneer 
in social activities that have made meaningful contributions 
to the society. Its journey to become a symbol of humanity, 
through endlessly challenging, has never been an obstacle to 
DHG Pharma. Such a strong determination has been fueled 
by a firm belief that the construction of a sustainably strong 
company with sufficient internal strengths must be well 

established on the foundation of the community.

DEDICATION 
& DEVOTION

S U S TA I N A B L E  D E V E L O P M E N T  R E P O R T

152 Overview of the sustainable development report 
154 Sustainable development model
156 Orientation & strategies for sustainable development 
158 Sustainable development indicators
160 Human resources development
170 Social development
174 Environmental protection

USD Million

DHG PHARMA’S BRAND 
WAS VALUED AT

(by Forbes Vietnam)



Methods of defining report contents 

The report is developed as an independent report, based on 
the  latest standard - GRI Sustainability Reporting Standards 
of Global Report Initiative (GRI), specifically describing 
areas for each of the Economic - Environmental - Social 
category. The report further refers to the Guidebook 
for Environmental and Social Information Disclosure 
conducted by the State Securities Commission (SSC) in 
collaboration with IFC (International Finance Corporation). 
Simultaneously, the Company’s development strategy is 
triangulated with the 17 sustainable development goals of 
the United Nations (UN).

Reporting period: 01 Jan 2017 - 31 Dec 2017.

Reporting cycle: Every year.

Scope of report

This report was prepared within the scope of operation of  
DHG Pharma in Vietnam’s territory in the field of 
pharmaceutical production and trading. It is made up of  
DHG Plant under the parent company, Hau Giang 
Pharmaceutical Plant, and subsidiaries/branches in 
provinces and cities  across the country. The report 
excludes Vinh Hao Algae Processing Affiliate and Fuji Medic 
subsidiary (DHG Pharma owned 51%). 

Contact information

DHG Pharma is making efforts to satisfy the 
expectations of stakeholders in terms of 
information transparency and sustainable growth 
in business, and demonstrating corporate 
responsibilities to the community. As a result, we 
look forward to receiving your sincere comments. 
If arising any comments and questions related to 
the issue of sustainable development, please 
kindly send to the below address:

Website: www.dhgpharma.com.vn  
(Contact section)

Tel: 02923 891 433 (Ext: 242)  
- contact Finance Department

• Ms. Le Thi Hong Nhung  
(hongnhung@dhgpharma.com.vn) 
Finance Director, the Company’s Secretary.

• Ms. Duong Kim Loan  
(duongloan@dhgpharma.com.vn) 
Head of Investor Relations Team  
- Finance Department.

ECONOMIC 
GROWTH

ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION

SOCIAL 
DEVELOPMENT

OVERVIEW OF  
THE SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT REPORT

AMONG LEADING COMPANIES IN TERMS OF PHARMACY CHANNEL  
AND WAS THE SOLE DOMESTIC PHARMACEUTICAL MANUFACTURER IN  

THE TOP 10 PHARMACEUTICAL COMPANIES OPERATING IN VIETNAM

IN 2017, DHG PHARMA 
CONTINUED TO RETAIN THE 

THE COMPANY RANKED 

VIETNAMESE PHARMACEUTICAL INDUSTRY  
IN TERMS OF REVENUE, PROFIT AND PRODUCTION CAPACITY

LEADING

2ND

POSITION IN 
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Similarly, the sustainable development program is applied in the 
Company’s practice through the following governance model: 

General guidance and issuance of strategies and orientations on issues related 
to the Company’s sustainable development.

Approving objectives and action plans for the implementation of sustainable 
development strategies.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Implementing and actualizing sustainable development plans directed by  
the General Director and Executive Board.

FUNCTIONAL SECTORS  
& ENTITIES

Performing specific daily tasks related to the Company’s sustainable 
development goals.EMPLOYEES

Preparing and submitting the objectives and action plans to the BOD for  
DHG Pharma’s sustainable development. 

Orientating and sharing strategies, goals and plans for sustainable development 
throughout the Company.

Making sure sustainable development plans meet targeted objectives.

Following up and supervising implementations of relevant entities.

GENERAL DIRECTOR  
& EXECUTIVE BOARD

Under the direction of the BOD, DHG Pharma 
regularly reviews its operational procedures  

related to sustainable development through proactive 
communication with stakeholders. The process of 
proactive dialogues between DHG Pharma and its 
stakeholders ensures that implementations are effective 
and consistent with sustainable development strategies 
and orientations.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT MODEL

Stable business growth.

Offering promotions  
and benefits  

to employees.

Investing in  
human resources 

development.

Risk management and 
compliance monitoring.

Information  
transparency.

Optimizing the values for 
shareholders, customers  

and investors.

Contributing to the 
development of Vietnamese 

pharmaceutical market.

Strengthening performances 
of capital mobilization and 

domestic/foreign distribution 
channels.

Promoting local economic 
development in particular and 

the society in general.

Fulfilling tax obligations  
with competent  

authorities.

Joining hands  
in contributing  

to the community.

Compliance  
with laws on  

environmental protection.

POSITIVE EFFECTS TO  
THE COMPANY

POSITIVE EFFECTS TO  
THE MARKET 

POSITIVE EFFECTS TO  
THE SOCIETY

THE SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT MODEL 
OF DHG PHARMA IS TARGETED TO  

CREATE POSITIVE EFFECTS FOR 3
GROUPS
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• Sustainable growth in the period 2018 - 2019 - 2020 with revenue 
growth rate of at least 13%/year and profit growth of at least 7%/year

• Promoting research and development to increase revenue from  
new products.

• Promoting innovations, efficiency savings and waste reduction.

• Training across the country and abroad to improve professional 
qualifications and to meet development needs.

• Maintaining and improving the quality of the healthcare, lifestyle 
activities and programs for employees.

• Ensuring the quality of life for employees and their families which are 
above the average level to those in the same industry, location, and 
social status.

• Training in cultural identity and increasing sense of community sharing.

• Providing disease prevention knowledge, how to use the product 
safely and effectively through the media (programs: Family Doctor, 
Medicine Seminar, Health Bridge...) and Call Center.

• Promoting the application of information technology in management.

• Employment.
• Occupational  health and safety.
• Training and education.
• Diversity and equal opportunity.
• Freedom of Association 

 & Collective Bargaining.
• Child labor.
• Local communities.
• Customer health safety.

• The Company’s activities are always associated with environmental 
protection, raw materials savings, clean-technology machineries 
and equipment.

• Investments in medicinal plant areas according to GACP standards.

• Ensuring safety in production: Compliance with labor safety rules; 
occupational safety training as planned; Testing, evaluating the 
effectiveness of training and workers’ awareness.

• Efficient energy use at factories.

• Periodic evaluation of waste disposal in order to take timely 
measures and minimize environmental pollution.

• Raw materials management.
• Energy.
• Water.
• Emissions, effluents and waste.
• Environmental compliance.

REFERENCE IN ACTIVITIES OF 2017DEVELOPMENT ORIENTATION OF DHG PHARMA UNTIL 2020

ORIENTATION & STRATEGIES FOR 
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

ECONOMIC  
GROWTH

Decent work and  
economic growth

SOCIAL 
DEVELOPMENT

Decent work and  
economic growth

Good health and  
well-being for people

Quality education

Industry, innovation  
and infrastructure

ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION

Affordable and  
clean energy

Responsible consumption 
and production

Climate action 17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

GOALS OF THE UNITED NATIONS

17
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT GOALS

OF THE UNITED NATIONS

PURSUANT TO 17 SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT GOALS OF THE 
UNITED NATIONS, DHG PHARMA 
ANALYZED AND SELECTED GOALS TO 
BE INCLUDED IN THE SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT ORIENTATION OF THE 
COMPANY UNTIL 2020, AS FOLLOWS:

THE UNITED NATIONS’ GOALS

• Economic performance.
• Market presence.
• Indirect economic impact.
• Anti-corruption.
• Anti-competitive behavior.
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Profit after tax

Total cost for  
environmental treatment

Average income

Number of brands granted 
trademark protection

Decent jobs

Dividends in 2017

Launched 5S campaign  
to staffs

Visits of Magic Mirror App  
- employee training  

application

Number of customers

Promotion about the 
pharmaceutical industry through 

“Special White Blouse Mission 
Program Season 2”

Contributions to  
the State budget

Fire prevention and protection 
training, hygiene safety 

 and labor safety training

Employee  
retention rates

Research budget/PAT in 2017

Free medical examinations 
and medicine

642 
VND billion

3.6  
VND billion

17.8  
VND million/person/month

257  
brands

3,205  
employees

392.2  
VND billion

SORT - SET IN ORDER   
- SHINE (SWEEP) - STANDARDIZE  

- SUSTAIN

10,400   
visits

Over 25,000    
customers

1 million 
visits

306.6  
VND billion

740  
turns of participants

4%

45,800    
turns

>90%

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT INDICATORS

SUSTAINABLE  
ECONOMIC GROWTH

INVESTMENTS IN 
HUMAN RESOURCES 
DEVELOPMENT

INVESTMENTS 
IN COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT

COMMITMENTS TO 
PRODUCT QUALITY  
& SERVICES

ENVIRONMENTAL 
FRIENDLINESS

Net revenue

% wastewater recycle

Training hours

Number of products 
granted national 

registration numbers

Community contributions

4,063 
VND billion

6%

75.2  
hours/person/year

310  
products

6.1   
VND billion/year

ECONOMIC  
GROWTH

SOCIAL 
DEVELOPMENT

ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION
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The number of employees in 2017

EMPLOYEES

3,205

The number of new recruitments

EMPLOYEES

328
As at 31 Dec 2017, the number of employees of DHG Pharma 
was 3,205 people. In which, new recruitments were 328 people. 
Employees’ average salary is VND 17.8 million/person/month.  
The average salary of each sector is as follows:  
Sales sector (VND  18.9  million/person/month), Back-office 
sector (VND 20 million/person/month), Production sector  
(VND 15.2 million/person/month).

HUMAN RESOURCES 
STRUCTURE 
 BY GENDER  

(31 Dec 2017)
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HUMAN RESOURCES 
STRUCTURE  

BY AGE  
(31 Dec 2017)

Over 50 years old: 2.2%
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Taking cognizance of human resources as the 
most precious property that determines the 

Company’s sustainable development, DHG Pharma 
focuses on building a team of employees with 
experience - responsibility - effectiveness - ethics, 
which is viewed as one of the long-term strategies of 
the Company. Therefore, it is necessary to have a 
working environment that nurtures and promotes 
unity and solidary of the entire staff, in which the 
code of conduct, professional training, ethical 
standards and DHG Pharma’s culture plays the role 
of the cornerstone.”

OVERVIEW OF  

THE WORKFORCE

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
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Statistics on personnel fluctuations 

Target 2015 2016 2017

New recruitments during the year 

In which:
103 265 419

Gender:         Male 63 170 298

Female 40 95 121

Age group:   Under 30 years old 86 231 328

30 - 50 years old 17 33 84

Over 50 years old 0 1 7

Job-quitting during the year 275 253 263

Retirement 31 2 2

Contract termination (*) 244 251 262

Maternity leave 76 61 78

Returning to work after maternity leave 100% 100% 100%

Target
2015 2016 2017

Number % Number % Number %

Total managerial employees

In which:
85 3.0 84 2.9 99 3.1

Gender:           Male 62 72.9 60 71.4 73 73.7

Female 23 27.1 24 28.6 26 26.3

Age group:     Under 30 years old 2 2.4 1 1.2 4 4.0

30 - 50 years old 66 77.6 64 76.2 71 71.8

Over 50 years old 17 20.0 19 22.6 24 24.2

The overview table on personnel structure (2015 - 2017)

Employees
2015 2016 2017

Number of 
employees % Number of 

employees % Number of 
employees %

Statistics by gender 2,876 100 2,944 100 3,205 100

Male 1,641 57.1 1,709 58.1 1,899 59.3

Female 1,235 42.9 1,235 41.9 1,306 40.7

Statistics by type of labor contracts 2,876 100 2,944 100 3,205 100

Indefinite term 2,386 83.0 2,400 81.5 2,496 77.9

Definite term 1 - 3 years 429 14.9 469 15.9 577 18.0

Seasonal and short-term contracts 61 2.1 75 2.5 132 4.1

Statistics by functional sectors 2,876 100 2,944 100 3,205 100

Back-office sector 760 26.4 867 29.4 1,026 32.0

Production sector 735 25.6 714 24.3 669 20.9

Sales sector 1,381 48.0 1,363 46.3 1,510 47.1

Statistics by educational qualifications 2,876 100 2,944 100 3,205 100

Post-graduate 60 2.1 67 2.3 79 2.5

University 694 24.1 753 25.6 910 28.4

College, Vocational school 1,365 47.5 1,430 48.6 1,503 46.9

Technical worker 29 1.0 29 1.0 27 0.8

Druggist 148 5.2 142 4.8 170 5.3

High school 580 20.2 523 17.8 516 16.1

Statistics by age group 2,876 100 2,944 100 3,205 100

Under 30 years old 1,416 49.2 1,080 36.7 1,480 46.2

30 - 50 years old 1,403 48.8 1,797 61.0 1,653 51.6

Over 50 years old 57 2.0 67 2.3 72 2.2

HUMAN RESOURCES 
STRUCTURE BY 

LABOR CONTRACTS  
(31 Dec 2017)

77
.9%

18
.0%

4.1%

20.9%

32.0%

47
.1

% HUMAN RESOURCES 
STRUCTURE BY 

FUNCTIONAL 
SECTORS  

(31 Dec 2017)

46.9%

28.4%

2.5%

16.1%

0.8%
5.3%

HUMAN RESOURCES 
STRUCTURE BY 
EDUCATIONAL 

QUALIFICATIONS 
(31 Dec 2017)

  Indefinite term
  Definite term 1 - 3 years
  Seasonal and short-term contracts

  Back-office sector
  Production sector
  Sales sector

  Post-graduate
  University
  College, Vocational school

  Technical worker
  Druggist
 High school

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
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In recent years, DHG Pharma has changed its models, 
new factories, and new business strategies with the 
decentralised organisation and new duty distributing 
system. As such, DHG Pharma needs to have a new 
successive system with competence, good vision for 
managing and operating the Company in a confident 
manner. On 01 Sept 2017, MA Doan Dinh Duy Khuong - 
the Deputy General Director of the Company was assigned 
to be in charge of Acting General Director position.  
He is a member of the subsequent generations that have 
been continuously trained in 17 years, who will continue 
to develop DHG Pharma for sustainability based on its 
existing vision, mission, core values and cultural features 
of the Company.

At the same time, the Company has also, to fit in better with 
the new model, reassigned and rotated staff to ensure each 
member is placed in a position that suits their ability, role and 
level to guarantee that the Company’s activities are executed 
in an increasingly effective and professional manner.

DHG Pharma, working with consultancy companies, has 
constructed the new salary system based on positions 
and evaluation of duties which helps identify the 
complexity of the work in each position. Salary, as such, is 
paid in accordance with the roles, responsibility, the extent 
of devotion and working ability. In particular, DHG Pharma 
has implemented the following steps for the new work 
management system:

• Updating the KPI list for the remaining positions in the 
Company, after EY has reviewed the KPI list for the BOM 
and the functional director.

• Allocating KPI proportions and establishing KPI targets.  

• Keeping track of the statistics periodically and 
supporting staff to achieve the set objectives.

• Collecting feedback and information relevant to the 
working process and outcomes of each staff member. 

• Evaluating each staff’s working effectiveness. Returning 
to step 1 - adjusting the KPI for appropriateness and step 
2 - allocating the proportion and set objectives for the 
next evaluation round. 

DHG Pharma commits to secure a good payment rate 
that is competitive to the market rate, which contributes to 
guarantee a stable job and long-term benefits for the staff.  
Moreover, the application of KPI for the evaluation of 
its employees has helped DHG Pharma achieve the 
following targets:

• CONNECTION: This is the tool to connect the 
objectives of different departments and together, 
aiming for achieving the general goals of the Company. 
The Company’s general goals are also allocated suitably 
to individual positions in the Company.

• ENCOURAGEMENT: This is the way the Company 
acknowledges exactly the staff’s working effectiveness, 
distinguishes and encourages individuals who perform 
excellently as well as motivates those who under-
perform to continue to strive for better outcomes. 

• MANAGEMENT: This is the tool for different 
management hierarchies to keep track and make 
timely decisions in order to improve work effectiveness 
at subordinate levels. It is also the foundation for 
decisions in relation to human management including 
incentives and awards for work effectiveness and 
planning for inheritance. 

CHANGES IN HUMAN RESOURCES CHANGES IN SALARY POLICY

INNOVATIONS IN  
HUMAN RESOURCES, POLICY  
& MANAGEMENT 
After more than 40 years wholeheartedly working and leaving the position of 
General Director in DHG Pharma, Mdm. Pham Thi Viet Nga shares

After a long process of building, developing, training and planning for 
subsequent generations to inherit as well as preparing new models, 
structures for DHG Pharma in the next milestone, I am now strongly 

confident that I can rest assured and trust that these successive generations 
that I have devoted on training over the time could confidently continue to 
develop the Company. I believe that this is the best time for pass on the duties 
to them so that they can continue to fulfil the task of developing DHG Pharma 
on the basis of its established vision, mission, core values and cultural features 
of the Company.”

I AM NOW STRONGLY 
CONFIDENT THAT THESE  
SUCCESSIVE GENERATIONS  
CAN CONTINUE TO FULFIL  
THE TASK OF DEVELOPING  
DHG PHARMA...

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
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• To express gratitude and caring to the employees’ 
parents, DHG Pharma celebrated the program called 
“Vu lan Bao hieu” and the contest “Parents’ Sweats”.

• The Company organized the Spring Festival 2017 with 
the theme “Loving Tet” to create opportunities for family 
reunion among DHG Pharma’s families. 

• The Company supported staff with loans when 
repairing, building houses, purchasing household 
items or confronting with difficulties. In addition, the 
Company’s Poor Patients Fund supports staff and their 
families when hospitalized with surgery and suffering 
from long-term treatment. 

• The Company also supports part of renting cost 
and child care cost as a way to improve employees’ 
concentration at work. 

• At the end of the year, the Company paid visits and 
presented gifts to 50 retired employees as a way 
of showing gratitude to previous generations who 
significantly contributed to the development of the 
Company. 

• Regular check out is also implemented annually for 
employees. Each employee is further supported with 
VND 1,000,000 for their family members’ health check 
per year.

• On the occasion of the 86th birthday of the Youth Union, 
the Executive Board of the Company’s Youth Union held 
“Sports Competition” to welcome the foundation day 
of the Youth Union with more than 200 competitors and 
500 spectators. 

• On the occasion of Children Day (01 June), the  
Executive Board of the Youth Union organised programs 
for employees’ children such as “Experiencing Summer” 
at  DHG Pharma’s Sports Hall as well as in Phan Thiet and 
Thanh Hoa; a summer program at the Snow Town and  
“Once Upon a Time” in HCM City; the program named 
“The army of adventurous crickets exploring Funny 
Land City” at the playground Funny Land in Cantho City.

• Awards were also presented to 78 of employee’s children 
who have excellent achievements at various levels.

In order to share with the employees the contributions they 
have made to the Company, from the Bonus and Welfare 
Fund accumulated over many years, the Company has 
built works and implemented welfare activities for the 
employees as follows: 

• Built a swimming pool and soccer field to create a 
playground that also serves that goal of training physical 
health for employees. 

• Built Company’s dormitories or residential 
accommodation for employees who are still renting 
houses and have no stable accommodation.  

• Built  kindergartens to take care of children so that 
parents can concentrate on their work, especially shift 
workers.

• Built a sports hall, a bio-zone with a spacious green 
space and a hall which can be used as a resort for 
relaxation, staff training, meetings and event organising. 

• The Company organizes a shared kitchen to provide 
breakfasts, lunches and shift-break meals to all 
employees at the head office, subsidiaries and all 
branches. The meals are always nutritious and ensure 
food hygiene and safety. 

• Arranged transportations for employees to commute to 
work daily at Hau Giang Pharmaceutical Plant (Tan Phu 
Thanh IZ, Hau Giang province). 

CARE FOR EMPLOYEES

WELFARE FOR EMPLOYEES

CARING ACTIVITIES FOR EMPLOYEES AND THEIR FAMILIES

• With a desire to create a cool and clean space for 
employees to gather and relax after work, the Company 
has improved the service quality of its canteen and built 
a learning corner for employees.

• DHG Pharma fulfilled all social insurance, health 
insurance and unemployment insurance for 
employees. Moreover, the Company also purchased 
accident, sickness and hospitalization insurance for 
staff, and premium medical insurance scheme for 
senior management and excellent employees. 

• The Company also paid close attention to sales 
employees working away from home and supports 
them typical southern Vietnam foods that remind them 
of their homeland. 

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
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SAFETY AND HEALTH

To ensure long-term health and create 
a safe working environment that 

reassures employees when working,  
DHG Pharma has always complied strictly to 
legal regulations in relation to work-related 
safety and health. Such regulations are also 
sufficiently and frequently imparted to all 
employees when participating in the 
production process in factories.”

At DHG Pharma, all employees are equipped with high 
quality work security tools. The Company also provides 
these employees with social security, health care 
insurance, and emergency insurance. They are also eligible 
for enjoying policies in relation to toxic reimbursement 
schemes and frequently visited for regular health check 
to minimize risks as well as discover and provide timely 
treatment for those work-related sicknesses. In addition, 
all factories, warehouses and offices are equipped with 
the automatic fire alarming system, CO2 fire extinguishers, 
and fire hoses, etc. so that emergency cases can be dealt 
with timely and effectively. 

Annually, the Company provides training sessions with 
respects to work safety for all employees in general and all 
workers in factories in particular with a focus on first aids in 
work safety, safety in using chemicals, radiation safety and 
fire prevention and fighting, etc.

No. Content Counts Note

1 Occupational health examination 294 people/ 294 people

2 Health check for employees working under hard  
and harmful environment 412 people/ 412 people

3 Periodic health examination 100%

Subjects: Employees are signed 
labor contracts with definite term and 
indefinite term as well as seasonal 
contracts with working time over 12 
months.

4 Specialized health examination for female  832 people/949 people Voluntarily registered by employees

Statistical results in 2017 

No. Indicators in the reporting period Figures in 2017

1 Occupational accidents
Total number of occupational accidents Case None
Total number of people suffering from occupational accidents Person None
Number of days that employees are dismissed due to occupational accidents Day None
Total number of deaths due to occupational accidents Case None

2 Occupational diseases
Total number of people suffering from occupational diseases in 2017 Person None
Total number of occupational diseases cumulative at the time of reporting Person None

3 Results of classification of workers' health
Type I % 1.3
Type II % 45.0
Type III % 34.8
Type IV % 16.9
Type V %  2.0

(*) The result of health check is type V due to missing teeth or myopia.

•  A training program was also provided to the nationwide 
sales teams, focusing on professional knowledge and 
skills. External trainers were invited to provide indepth 
training sessions to sale employees, targeting the team 
leaders of the national sale system. The training content 
focused on knowledge of products, sale channels, 
pharmacy categorizations, working principles, working 
processes, planning, and finalizing sales targets. These 
training programs reinforced team leaders’ confidence 
in planning and presenting their planning and content. 
The training program called “DHG Pharma’s team 
leaders’ spirit” provided to managers and more than 
500 sales staff nationwide was also implemented. 

• The Company also frequently organized training sessions 
for all sales staff in the whole country through the training 
program in which they experienced physical activities 
and games in Ha Tien, Quy Nhon and Thanh Hoa. 

• The Youth Union leaders also initiated and sustained 
the English speaking club once a month, which attracts 
many English-loving employees to participate and helps 
them improve their English levels.

• The employees are also actively involved in suggesting 
proposals for innovation at work. In total, 321 ideas 
and suggestions for innovations has been made with 
179 feasible ideas and new products. Among these, 
two new products have been put into production and 
the production processes for 12 products have been 
adjusted and innovated.

• Especially, the Company has applied a quiz App called 
“the Magic Mirror”, which has achieved its initial 
effectiveness in continuous training, which helps the 
employees refine their understanding of the company’s 
cultural values and clearly understand the regulations, 
rules and policies in relation to employees. It also 
advances the employees’ knowledge, skills, especially 
for the sales team employees. During the period 
the App is applied, DHG Pharma has administered 
122 examinations with the total number of 10,400 
of turns of employees taking exams. Among these,  
1,220 employees’ names are listed on the board of honors.

• The Company also periodically organized seminars and 
workshops that promote the development of such skills 
as teamwork, thinking, communication, and problem-
solving skills. Through these activities, the employees 
accumulated essential skills for their work and easily 
settling in with the community. 

• 100% of the employees attended all information and 
education sessions focusing on legal issues with 
knowledge and laws relevant to employees including: 
Employment Law, Union Law, Social Security Law 
and other laws in relation to prevention of social 
problems such as betting, gambling, and drugs, etc. 
Such information and training sessions promote the 
employees’ understanding of laws and educate them in 
terms of self-awareness about their own lives, aiming for 
a healthy and not luxurious life. Such programs enable 
them to improve their material and mental life as well as 
absorb great values from different cultures. 

EDUCATION AND TRAINING

In 2017, DHG Pharma continues to 
effectively promote its education and 
training programs for its employees. 

The total unplanned costs for education and 
training 2017 reached VND 3.3 billion. The 
total number of training hours for leaders, key 
personnel and employees is 184,833 hours 
(averagely 75.2 hours/person/year). Trainings  
provided to sales teams accounted for 115,107 
hours (averagely 75.2 hours/person/year). 
Trainings provided to new employees 
accounted for 17,607 hours (averagely 128.5 
hours/person).”

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
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DHG Pharma has created jobs for more than 3,000 employees. Through its 
policies of recruitment, training, and developing human resources, DHG Pharma 
has significantly contributed to the creation of employment and improvement of 
local people’s income, which promotes the development of the overall economy 
and society. 

In addition, annually, DHG Pharma contributes multiple billion to the national 
budget together with numerous social and charitable activities that serve the 
local community. In 2017, DHG Pharma spent VND 6.1 billion for social and 
community-service activities including charity, supporting disadvantaged 
individuals and families, taking care of Vietnamese heroic Mothers, financially 
and mentally supporting victims of natural disasters and poor children, etc.

Operational efficiency for stakeholders

Stakeholders Content 2015 2016 2017

Shareholders Dividend VND 261.5 billion VND 305.1 billion VND 392.2 billion

The State Contributing to the State Budget VND 356.6 billion VND 241.6 billion VND 306.6 billion

Employees Income of employees VND 15.7 million/
month/ person

VND 21.8 million/
month/ person

VND 17.8 million/
month/person

Suppliers Total value of transactions during the year VND 5,082 billion VND 6,293 billion VND 8,179 billion

Customers Net revenue VND 3,608 billion VND 3,783 billion VND 4,063 billion

Community Community contributions VND 6 billion VND 5.6 billion VND 6.1  billion

BILLION

Budget for  
social activities in 2017

6.1

EMPLOYEES

DHG Pharma has created 
jobs for more than

3,000

CONTRIBUTION TO OVERALL 
DEVELOPMENTS OF THE  SOCIETY 

“JBSL and DHG Pharma jointly prevent stroke” Festival.

VND 

SOCIAL 
DEVELOPMENT

FOR OVER THE PAST CENTURY, DHG PHARMA, 
APART FROM BUSINESS ACTIVITIES, HAS ENDLESSLY 
PERFORMED ITS MISSION IN IMPROVING  
THE PUBLIC’ HEALTH WHOLEHEARTEDLY. 
ACCOMPANYING ITS MEANINGFUL MESSAGE 
ARE PRACTICAL ACTIVITIES THAT SIGNIFICANTLY 
IMPACT PEOPLE’ AWARENESS OF COOPERATION 
FOR CARING AND PROTECTING HEALTH, WHICH 
SPREADS OUT THE MEANINGFUL VALUES SO AS TO 
DEVELOP AND BUILD UP A MORE BEAUTIFUL AND 
HEALTHIER LIFE.

1/2 
CENTURY
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SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT

For over the past century, DHG 
Pharma, apart from business 

activities, has endlessly performed its mission 
in improving the public’ health wholeheartedly. 
Accompanying its meaningful message are 
practical activities that significantly impact 
people’ awareness of cooperation for caring 
and protecting health, which spreads out the 
meaningful values so as to develop and build 
up a more beautiful and healthier life.”

In addition to its business activities and its leading position in 
the Vietnamese pharmaceutical field, DHG Pharma is proud 
of its “Unique cultural features” with a strong spirit of loving 
and supporting through social and charitable activities.

1 Most typical is the program called “Free examination 
and medicine providing - health care for the public” 

that has been well received and highly evaluated by the 
community, people, governments and unions over many 
years. With the advantage as a leading company in both 
manufacturing and trading in the pharmaceutical field, 
DHG Pharma successfully cooperated with voluntary 
doctors from Health Department of other provinces and 
cities as well as a team called “Special White Blouse 
Mission” to serve our Vietnamese with free-of-charge 
medical examinations, medicine offers and health 
consultancy nationwide. DHG Pharma held 45,800 turns 
of medical examinations for the poor in remote and rural 
areas with the total cost of VND 3.3 million. It included 2 
main programs collaborating with Cho Ray Phnom Penh 
Hospital in our neighboring country Cambodia. 

2 The Company’s Club of Blood Donation has 
developed remarkably with 500 members since it 

began in 2007. In 2017, 186 staff participated in blood 
donation with a total of 241 units of blood. 

3 The Company has launched the program  
“60 saving days for disadvantaged children” to 

call for each youth union member to donate 2 kilograms of 
paper for each round. In total, 1.4 tons of paper has been 
collected and the whole sum of money raised has been 
contributed to the program. 

4 On 01 Sept 2017, DHG Pharma celebrated its 43rd 
birthday and piggy bank movement for poor 

patients in 2017. The “Piggy bank movement” donated 
VND 1.4 billion to the Poor Patients Fund. The contribution 
of partners and customers was VND 68.3 million and 
contribution from monthly income of staffs was VND 1.3 
billion. DHG Pharma made a VND 600 million contribution 
to the Association of Poor Patients of Cantho City and the 
Association of Handicapped, Orphans and Poor Patients 
of Hau Giang Province, and continues to  
expand meaningful activities. The Company also paid for 
hospitalized cases including its staff, their relatives and 
locally disadvantaged people as well as those who are 
from other provinces. During the year, 255 cases were 
supported with the amount of VND 1.9 billion.

5 The Company’s Labor Union also organized monthly 
visits and cared to the elderly at Binh Thuy Nursing 

Home and provided each with a nutritious portion. Weekly, 
the union prepared nutritious porridge for children at Cantho 
City Homeless Children Center. 

6 On 25 Mar 2017, DHG Pharma supported 300 family 
medical packages to local people affected by the 

serious fire badly damaging Kwong Lung - Meko Company 
situated in Cantho - based Tra Noc Industrial Zone.

7 DHG Pharma took great care of Vietnamese heroic 
Mothers, helped victims of agent orange in Ninh 

Kieu and Cai Rang Districts, Cantho City quarterly and 
offered gifts on Lunar New Year 2017. 

8 DHG Pharma has taken the lead and made 
“differences” to accompany people locating in 

naturally disastrous areas by prioritizing to support 
colleagues working as medical officers in 8 places that 
were affected by storms and floods, especially for Van Ninh 
district and Ninh Hoa town in Khanh Hoa province.  
DHG Pharma donated more than VND 1 billion to support 
colleagues in Khanh Hoa province. Specifically,  
DHG Pharma offered financial support and medicine 
specializing in treating cold, fever, skin infection, and 
digestion-related diseases. 

9 DHG Pharma also visited and offered gifts to more 
than 60 orphans at Buu Tri Temple on the occasion 

of Lunar New Year and Mid-Autumn festival. 120 children 
(orphans at Buu Tri pagoda, homeless children and 
children at Hoa Mai kindergarten) participated in the 
program “Weekend experience” at Funny Land.

INVESTMENT 
FOR COMMUNITYDEVELOPMENT
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Targets
Energy Water Waste

BEHAVIOUR  
CHANGES 

Raising awareness of 
electricity-savings at any 
time, anywhere. Encouraging 
people to use energy-saving 
light bulbs. Switching off 
electricity and fans when 
leaving offices, etc.

Encouraging employees 
to contribute initiatives - 
innovations and rewarding 
innovations.

Raising awareness of water-
saving. Promoting to use 
water responsibly and 
encouraging workers to take 
account of water-savings 
and making reports as soon 
as leakages occur. 

Encouraging employees 
to contribute initiatives - 
innovations and rewarding 
innovations.

Limiting the use of plastic 
bags. Saving paper by 
reading documents carefully 
before printing. Reusing 
one-sided paper. Classifying 
waste (organic waste, plastic 
recycling, and paper recycling).

Encouraging employees 
to contribute initiatives - 
innovations and rewarding 
innovations.

OPERATIONAL 
PROCESS 
IMPROVEMENT 

Improving the operational 
process to increase productivity 
of production lines.

Checking monthly energy 
consumption. 

Reusing treated water for 
irrigation.

Implementing batch size 
expansion and continuous 
production to reduce cleaning 
time, water consumption and 
wastewater. 

Minimizing waste and 
reusing/recycling waste for 
proper use.

EQUIPMENT 
INVESTMENTS

Investing in energy-saving 
equipment.

Investing in water-saving 
equipment.

Investing in low-emission 
equipment.  

With regards to critical environmental issues, DHG Pharma has set out strategic solutions to develop a detailed plan  
in relating to targeted orientation:

WITH A PROFOUND AWARENESS 
THAT TODAY’S ACTION WILL 
AFFECT FUTURE GENERATIONS, 
DHG PHARMA ALWAYS COMMITS 
TO IMPLEMENT AND  COMPLIES 
WITH POLICIES ON ENVIRONMENT 
AS WELL AS CONTRIBUTE TO 
COMMUNITY HEALTH...

BEAUTIFUL &  
HEALTHIER LIFE 

FOR A MORE 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

BETTER

W    RLD
FOR A 

RAW
MATERIALS

ENERGY
CONSUMPTION

WATER
RESOURCES

Nowadays, the living environment is severely polluted which is a 
common concern of all countries around the world. Vietnam is 
among the top 10 countries most affected by climate change.  

As a leading enterprise, apart from focusing on effective solutions for 
business growth, improved production capacity and reputation in the 
market, DHG Pharma always pays attention to environmental protection, 
aiming to become an environmentally friendly enterprise who is joining 
hands “For a better world”.
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Supplier evaluation steps

No. Criteria evaluation Evaluation bases

1. Quality system, legal entity 

• Sample inspection results.
• Quality control evidence.
• Business certificate.
• Other standards.

2. Delivery time, delivery service, 
credit price, payment method

• On-time delivery.
• Satisfying the contract requirements and being convenient.
• Reasonable prices.
• Profitable payment.

3. Types of goods,  
after-sale services

• Good after-sale services.
• Technical consultancy.
• Diversity.

4. Handling of complaints  Effective handling of complaints.

.5. Brand reputation A great number of products are provided to units in the same industry due 
to good quality.

6. Production

• Procedures on operation, cleaning and maintenance.
• Controlling system.
• Records.
• Labor protection clothing.
• Staff training.

7. Warehouses • Pest control program.
• Storage conditions.
• Hygience conditions.
• Fire Preventing and Fighting system.
• Goods are stored on shelves and/or pallets.
• Applied FIFO (First in, first out), FEFO (First expired, first out) principles.
• Spacious, wide aisle racking.
• Staff training programs.
• Delivery and distribution system.

After reviewing and evaluating the potential of each supplier, assignees shall classify 
suppliers based on supplier evaluation criteria, selection standards, evaluation standards 
and re-evaluation standards.

Carrying out on-site visits and direct evaluation on facilities, establishment and business 
certificates and capabilities of suppliers. 

Listing of official suppliers: the list of selected suppliers must be in order of evaluation results.

Submitting to the Board of Management for the approval of the list of official suppliers. 

Archiving: the list of selected suppliers is regularly updated and periodically evaluated based 
on previous evaluation results in accordance with regulations as follows:
• Level A supplier: 3 years/time.
• Level B supplier: 2 years/time.
• Level C supplier: 1 year/time.

1

2

3

4

5

1

2

3

4

5

RAW MATERIALS

Raw materials demands in 2017 are as follows: 2,580 tons of raw materials and 
adjuvant; 537 million empty capsules of various kinds, 411 tons of aluminum, 
aluminum blister foil, PVC; 7 million boxes + tubes; 77,423 kg of shrink film, other 
packagings and 198 million paper of all kinds. In which, the value of product 
loss experienced a drop of 24%, PVC losses decreased by 5.2% and aluminum 
losses dropped by 2.6% compared to 2016. 

Simultaneously, product quality has always been considered the Company’s top 
priority for customers and consumers. Consequently, raw materials are always 
carefully reviewed by the Company and chosen from reputable suppliers in the 
world and in Vietnam.

of raw materials & adjuvant

Value of product loss

PVC losses

Aluminum losses 

2,580
ê24%

ê5.2%

ê2.6%

tons

No. Types of materials Importing countries

1 Raw materials + adjuvant

Europe: Spain, Germany, Italy, 
France, Sweden, England, 
Belgium etc.
Asia: Japan, China, India, 
Vietnam, etc.

2 Empty capsules USA, France, Indonesia, India, etc.

3 PVC + aluminum + plastic paper Vietnam

4 All kinds of labels, label bins, 
paper manuals and bags

Vietnam

CRITERIA FOR 
SUPPLIER EVALUATION

In order to select and evaluate suppliers in a scientific manner and to fully meet 
the objectives that the enterprise is aiming for, DHG Pharma has developed 
a criteria framework for supplier selection and evaluation, which is tested and 
controlled by the Quality Management Department. 

Approved suppliers will be assessed on an ad hoc basis if supplying processes 
shows signs of changes in quality or commitments compared to the original. 
Suppliers will not be included in the accepted list or will be eliminated from the 
list if violate one of the following errors:

• Product quality does not meet the Company’s requirements (affecting 
product quality). 

• Suppliers are non-cooperative and resolve complaints inappropriately. 

• Suppliers receive warning letters from competent authorities in which 
the reasons are related to the raw materials the Company is using or  
manufacturing certificate.

The selection and evaluation 
of suppliers increasingly 
play an important role in 
business and production 
activities of an enterprise. 
Selecting suppliers with 
high reliability, competitive 
prices, good quality and etc 
helps the Company increase 
competitiveness, enhances 
reputation and reduces risks. 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
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WATER RESOURCES 

DHG Pharma’s water resources are clean water sources supplied by Water 
Supply and Sewerage Company in Cantho City and Hau Giang Province,  
for the purpose of production (RO water use, distilled water for eye drops, 
cleaning machines and factories) and daily living (cooking, washing, cleaning, 
watering plants)...

Contents Figures in 2015 2016 2017

Productivity Millions of units/
year 4,156 4,414 3,948

Water usage m3/year 268,023    211,046 240,568

Intensity m3/ Millions of 
units 64 48 61

Total water bills VND Billion/year 2.1 1.7 2.1

% water recycle/total waste water % 10 6 6

Assessment method: the water consumption is measured in accordance with monthly water bills and monthly  
detailed productivities.

Suppliers

Volume and intensity of water consumption

The Beta-lactam plant has come into operation since 
Oct 2016. In order to meet water amount supplied to 
the air conditioning system and the cold center, water 
consumption experienced an increase compared to 2016.

Recycled and reused water

Faced with saltwater intrusion, drought occurred across 
the country, the water shortages for normal living 
and production is a big concern for social community 
interests, therefore, water resources currently are 
extremely valuable. DHG Pharma recognized this matter 
early and had prepared for the recovery and reuse of 
wastewater after treatment to meet the prescribed 
standards. Thus, when constructing the wastewater 
treatment system, the Company also built a reservoir 
of treated water to reuse, as well as using rainwater for 
irrigation instead of tap water. 

WATER-SAVING SOLUTION IN 2017

In order to use and save water efficiently,  
DHG Pharma standardized its water pipes, 
installed new water meters certified by the City 
Water Suppliers at all units using water. Monthly 
statistics are supervised, switching on/off in using 
water for the right purpose is reminded and water 
conservation awareness is educated. 

The Company is on track to set norms for water 
uses on each production line and factory. 

In the coming years, the Company shall continue 
to arrange a production plan in a logical manner, a 
batch size expansion and a continuous production 
plan. It is projected to reduce cleaning time, water 
consumption and sanitary waste-water as well 
as to increase labor productivity, which shall 
result to a reduction in water consumption/units 
of product. Simultaneously, DHG Pharma uses 
water efficiently by designing a complete water 
supply system and ensuring no leakage, easy 
control and easy repair in case of incidents.

1

2

3

6%
The total amount of  
reused wastewater in 2017 was 

Small actions
BIG IMPACTS

WATER SAVING

ENERGY CONSUMPTION

Electricity Consumption for production and daily living

Environmental protection is the 
result of energy savings actions. 

It is an original action to show 
responsibilities to the community, and 
this is not only a cultural beauty, but 
also the most practical and effective 
way to protect the environment 
“GREEN - CLEAN - BEAUTIFUL”. 

Furthermore, energy costs affect the Company’s 
operating costs, thus energy-saving is the primary 
principle of manufacturing leading to higher profits.  
The Company always reminds its employees to comply 

Contents Figures in 2015 2016 2017

Productivity Millions of units 4,156 4,414         3,948   

Electricity consumption Kwh 19,746,658 23,147,168 25,156,034   

Intensity Kwh/ Millions of 
units         4,751         5,244 6,372

Total electricity bills VND Billion 32.02 36.80 40.66

Gas consumption Kg 27,265 22,960       19,556   

Total gas bills VND Million 387 296             314   

(The electricity and gas consumption are measured in accordance with total monthly electricity and gas bills)

The total electricity consumption in 2017 is 25,156,034 
Kwh/year, higher than that of 2016 and 2015 due to 
the operation of Betalactam Plant since Oct 2016. The 
Betalactam Plant contributed only 9% in productivity, 
but 30% in value. Therefore, the intensity in electricity 
consumption per product unit in 2017 witnessed an 
increase of 21.5% compared to 2016. 

To reduce the pressure on electricity costs, DHG Pharma 
is investing in a steam boiler system, which shall be 
put into operation in the coming time. Investing in the 
steam boiler system will help the Company save costs. 
In addition to cost savings, the steam boiler system 
shall reduce impacts on the environment such as the 
amount of dust generated by operating the steam boiler 
system, which is thoroughly treated through the dust 
cleaning process and exhaust stack system. The system 
must ensure its emission requirements approved by 
management authorities.

with regulations on energy usage such as using electricity 
at the right time, in the right place, turning off when not 
in use, applying science and technology to adjust energy 
consumption in refrigeration and transportation, etc. 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
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FACTORIES IMPLEMENTATION

• Promoting propagandas on environmental protection, 
minimizing the amount of waste and exhaust fumes into 
the environment, classifying waste before treatment. 

• Strengthening factory cleaning and regular 
maintenance of equipment and machinery. 

• Propagating awareness of energy, electricity and 
water savings. 

• Through internal communication and factory briefings.

• The factory Management Board issues strict control 
procedures on environmental protection. 

• Saving electricity and water, utilizing rainwater to water 
plants, etc.

OFFICE IMPLEMENTATION

• Raising awareness of minimizing office waste, using 
emails to forward information in case of non-printing 
information. 

• Propagating awareness of electricity and water 
savings.

• Classifying waste before treatment.

• Prioritizing using emails to forward information, minimizing 
using printing paper and discharges into the environment.

• Notifying office staffs about water and electricity savings. 
Turning off electricity and air conditioning when not in use 
and leaving offices. 

• Equipping trash cans to classify recyclables, inorganic 
waste, organic waste, and etc before treatment.

• Launching a movement to create a healthy and beautiful 
environment through the “Green, clean and beautiful 
working corners” activity. Departments have improved 
their working corners in accordance with “5S” criterion, 
which are Sort - Set in order - Shine - Standardize - 
Sustain. 

In 2017, the Company did not record any violations on environmental laws:

• Number of fines: 0 time.

• Amount of fines: VND 0.

In 2018, DHG Pharma will continue to 
actively join and encourage employees 

to participate in environmental movements 
such as planting trees at factories, walking  
for the environment and etc. Besides, the 
Company will continue to study and improve 
machinery and equipment in production to 
minimize impacts and discharges into the 
environment as well as to raise the spirit of 
anti-wastefulness throughout the Company.”

To further standardize sustainable values in the Company’s activities, DHG Pharma has made the specific steps  
in 2017 as follows:: 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND CONTROL  
OF EMISSION, EXHAUST GAS AND WASTE 

COMPLIANCE WITH  
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION LAWS

Anti-pollution policies 

The Company complies with regulations on anti-pollution  
in accordance with ISO 9001: 2008 and GMP, GLP, 
GSP-WHO standards. Furthermore, the Company 
has implemented measures to prevent environmental 
pollution through the guidance of local environmental 
agencies such as environmental impact assessments 
and commitments to comply with regulations. Annually, 
the Company conducts environmental monitoring  
4 times. Environmental monitoring results are evaluated in 
accordance with current Vietnamese standards (QCVN).

DHG Pharma has a department specialized in the 
environment with appropriate professional qualifications. 
All staff of the Company, especially factory workers, 
are regularly disseminated about waste and garbage 
classification, regulations on economical use of electricity 
and water, etc. in production and office activities as well as 
regulations on environmental sanitation and labor safety. 

Regular Emission Monitoring 

DHG Pharma regularly monitors environmental production 
at least twice a year and the monitoring results are  
within the allowable limits, ensuring production activities  
of DHG Pharma have little impact on the surrounding 
environment.

As a leading company in the 
industry, besides concentrating on 

effective business solutions, increasing 
the production capacity and business 
prestige in the market, DHG Pharma 
always pays attention to environmental 
protection, aiming to being an 
environmentally friendly enterprise and 
ensuring health and safety of workers.”

All factories at DHG Pharma conduct environmental 
impact assessments and commitments to protect the 
environment before going into operation. In the process of 
operation, the factories strictly comply with environmental 
laws, conduct environmental measurements and 
monitoring and report to relevant competent authorities 
every quarter.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
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In 2017, given the challenges it encountered in the economy 
and the pharmaceutical industry, DHG Pharma has not 
achieved its planned objectives. Yet, the Company, in four 
successive years, maintained its position in the Top 50 best 
listed company in Vietnam. In six years in a row, DHG Pharma 
has been enlisted in the Top 50 most effective enterprises in 
Vietnam with utmost stability. The Company has continued 
to refine the trust from investors, shareholders, partners and 

customers in a prosperous and long-standing future. 

REACHING 
             TARGETS

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

184 Corporate information
186 Independent auditor’s report
188 Consolidated balance sheet
190 Consolidated income statement
191 Consolidated cash flow statement
193 Notes to the consolidated financial statements

PROFIT AFTER TAX

VND Billion



STATEMENT OF THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS IN RESPECT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board of Directors of DHG Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company (“the Company”) is responsible for preparing the 
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) which give a true and fair view 
of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017 and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then 
ended. In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is required to:                                    

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
• prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company 

and its subsidiaries will continue in business.

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept which disclose, with reasonable 
accuracy at any time, the financial position of the Group and which enable the consolidated financial statements to be prepared 
which comply with the basis of accounting set out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. The Board of Directors is 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection 
of fraud and other irregularities.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We hereby approve the accompanying consolidated financial statements set out on pages 188 to 234 which give a true and 
fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017 and of the results of operations and cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the Vietnamese Corporate Accounting System and 
applicable regulations on preparation and presentation of consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Le Chanh Dao
Deputy General Director
Authorised signatory 
 
Cantho City, SR Vietnam 
12 March 2018

Establishment decision No. 2405/QD-CT.UB dated 5 August 2004 issued by the People’s Committee of Cantho City.

Business 
registration  
certificate

No. 5703000111 dated 15 September 2004 issued by the Planning and Investment Department of 
Cantho City.
The Business registration certificate has been amended several times and its latest 24th amendment 
dated 1 September 2017 was issued by the Planning and Investment Department of Cantho City.
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Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group as at 
31 December 2017, its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting 
Standards, the Vietnamese Corporate Accounting System and applicable regulations on the preparation and presentation of 
consolidated financial statements.

Other Matters

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 were audited by another auditor who 
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 20 March 2017.

As part of our audit of the 2017 consolidated financial statements, we also audited the adjustments described in Note 41 that were 
applied to amend the 2016 consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, such adjustments are appropriate and have been 
properly applied. We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 2016 consolidated financial statements 
of the Group other than with respect to the adjustments and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of 
assurance on the 2016 consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.

The independent auditor’s report is prepared in Vietnamese and English. Should there be any conflict between the Vietnamese 
and English versions, the Vietnamese version shall take precedence.

For and on behalf of PwC (Vietnam) Limited

 
 
 

 
Quach Thanh Chau  Pham Thi Xuan Mai
Audit Practising Licence  Audit Practising Licence 
No. 0875-2018-006-1 No. 1771-2018-006-1 
Authorised signatory 

Report number: HCM6637
Ho Chi Minh City, 12 March 2018

As indicated in Note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, the accompanying consolidated financial statements are not 
intended to present the financial position and results of operations and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles 
and practices generally accepted in countries and jurisdictions other than SR Vietnam, and furthermore their utilisation is not 
designed for those who are not informed about SR Vietnam’s accounting principles, procedures and practices.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF DHG PHARMACEUTICAL JOINT STOCK COMPANY

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of DHG Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company (“the 
Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) which were prepared on 31 December 2017 and approved by the Board of 
Directors on 12 March 2018. The consolidated financial statements comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 
2017, the consolidated income statement, the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and explanatory notes 
to these consolidated financial statements including significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 188 to 234.

The Board of Directors’ Responsibility 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the Vietnamese Corporate Accounting System and applicable 
regulations on the preparation and presentation of consolidated financial statements and for such internal control which the 
Board of Directors determines necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with Vietnamese Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical standards and 
requirements and plan and perform the audit in order to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including an assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the Group’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Board of Directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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VND

Code RESOURCES Note
As at 31 December

2017
2016  

(Restated - Note 41)

300 LIABILITIES 1,328,385,577,037 1,075,559,068,116
310 Short-term liabilities 1,264,936,829,442 1,017,958,653,484 
311 Short-term trade accounts payable 15 262,986,735,355 291,703,470,691 
312 Short-term advances from customers 10,627,043,023 17,652,215,300 
313 Tax and other payables to the State Budget 11(b) 23,613,683,701 47,454,390,698  
314 Payable to employees 170,969,066,081 170,798,955,402 
315 Short-term accrued expenses 16 50,418,119,261 29,959,680,555 
318 Short-term unearned revenue 17 9,479,895,138 31,687,812,617 
319 Other short-term payables 18 204,083,490,483 6,558,475,458 
320 Short-term borrowings 19 469,800,000,000 354,765,428,463 
322 Bonus and welfare funds 20 62,958,796,400 67,378,224,300 
330 Long-term liabilities 63,448,747,595 57,600,414,632 
342 Provision for long-term liabilities 22 38,386,466,419 33,379,107,808 
343 Science and technology development funds 21 25,062,281,176 24,221,306,824 
400 OWNERS’ EQUITY 2,759,094,413,820 2,869,782,907,814
410 Capital and reserves 2,759,094,413,820 2,869,782,907,814  
411 Owners’ capital 23, 24 1,307,460,710,000 871,643,300,000 

411a - Ordinary shares with voting rights 1,307,460,710,000 871,643,300,000 
412 Share premium 23, 24 6,778,948,000 6,778,948,000 
418 Investment and development fund 24 1,112,177,317,110 1,220,561,708,767 
421 Undistributed earnings 24 321,006,296,742 736,638,702,184

421a - Undistributed post-tax profits of previous years 21,204,089,359 50,993,468,583 
421b - Post-tax profit of current year 299,802,207,383 685,645,233,601 
429 Non-controlling interests 26 11,671,141,968 34,160,248,863
440 TOTAL RESOURCES 4,087,479,990,857 3,945,341,975,930 

  
Tran Ngoc Hien Ho Buu Huan Le Chanh Dao
Preparer  Chief Accountant Deputy General Director
  Authorised signatory 
  12 March 2018

The notes on pages 193 đến to 232 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. The notes on pages 193 đến to 232 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

VND

Code ASSETS Note
As at 31 December

2017 2016  
(Restated - Note 41)

100 CURRENT ASSETS 2,939,184,938,924 2,746,072,800,225
110 Cash and cash equivalents 3 549,777,216,585 603,188,961,343 
111 Cash 88,442,815,647 270,265,069,467 
112 Cash equivalents 461,334,400,938 332,923,891,876 
120 Short-term investments 4(a) 930,615,143,091  703,731,000,000 
123 Investments held-to-maturity 930,615,143,091 703,731,000,000 
130 Short-term receivables 799,556,214,859 692,280,925,032 
131 Short-term trade accounts receivable 5 739,281,053,856 622,748,103,096 
132 Short-term prepayments to suppliers 21,016,649,661 23,277,764,848 
135 Short-term lending 6 16,239,970,057 34,213,970,916 
136 Other short-term receivables 7 44,731,373,224 25,533,168,273 
137 Provision for doubtful debts - short-term 8 (21,712,831,939) (13,492,082,101) 
140 Inventories 9 633,807,876,593 732,860,670,514 
141 Inventories 636,264,032,772 734,557,083,279 
149 Provision for decline in value of inventories (2,456,156,179) (1,696,412,765) 
150 Other current assets 25,428,487,796 14,011,243,336  
151 Short-term prepaid expenses 10(a) 9,715,813,993 4,212,568,934 
152 Value Added Tax to be reclaimed 7,972,889,195 1,488,901,617
153 Other taxes receivable 11(a) 7,739,784,608 8,309,772,785
200 LONG-TERM ASSETS 1,148,295,051,933 1,199,269,175,705 
210 Long-term receivables 3,509,997,935 5,099,472,109 
215 Long-term lending 6 3,449,997,935 5,099,472,109 
216 Other long-term receivables 60,000,000 -
220 Fixed assets 1,026,999,503,625 1,103,433,387,404
221 Tangible fixed assets 12(a) 785,209,377,724 841,468,707,693 
222 Historical cost 1,377,975,628,774 1,356,813,642,277 
223 Accumulated depreciation (592,766,251,050) (515,344,934,584) 
227 Intangible fixed assets 12(b) 241,790,125,901 261,964,679,711 
228 Historical cost 269,846,865,042 284,512,652,922 
229 Accumulated amortisation (28,056,739,141) (22,547,973,211)
240 Long-term assets in progress 13 36,307,709,778 17,160,871,337 
242  Construction in progress 36,307,709,778 17,160,871,337
250 Long-term investments 4(b) 14,537,718,549 15,744,151,251
252 Investments in associates 3,129,548,349 4,335,981,051
253 Investments in other entities 27,908,170,200 27,908,170,200 
254 Provisions for long-term investments (16,500,000,000) (16,500,000,000) 
260 Other long-term assets 66,940,122,046 57,831,293,604
261 Long-term prepaid expenses 10(b) 31,156,425,691 22,760,003,178 
262 Deferred income tax assets 14 35,783,696,355 35,071,290,426
270 TOTAL ASSETS 4,087,479,990,857 3,945,341,975,930

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
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 VND

Code Note
Year ended 31 December 

2017
2016  

(Restated - Note 41)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

01 Net profit before tax 719,249,119,395 756,657,014,613 

Adjustments for:

02 Depreciation and amortisation 92,010,389,406 93,720,931,417 

03 Provisions 16,053,758,031 6,788,343,273 

04 Unrealised foreign exchange (gains)/losses (464,083,555) 467,459,783 

05 Gains from disposal of fixed assets (2,081,319,802) (6,892,268,341)

05 Interest and dividend income 28(b) (81,590,212,108) (54,963,916,458) 

05 Gains from disposal of investment in subsidiaries 28(b) (3,992,308,108) -

05 Loss sharing from investments in associates 4(b) 1,206,432,702 187,904,291 

06 Interest expenses 30 24,541,141,037 12,492,351,845 

07 Appropriation to science and technology 
development funds 21 8,705,231,445 -

08 Operating profit before changes in working capital 773,638,148,443  808,457,820,423

09 Increase in receivables (126,642,627,881) (49,383,172,892)

10 Decrease/(increase) in inventories 98,293,050,507 (91,499,661,090) 

11 (Decrease)/increase in payables (46,446,885,927) 148,508,813,932 

12 Increase in prepaid expenses (11,597,356,933) (1,466,899,682)

14 Interest paid (24,677,425,925) (12,355,359,094) 

15 Business income tax paid 11 (95,788,362,968) (64,844,697,715) 

17 Other payments on operating activities (106,470,431,383) (92,225,802,806) 

20 Net cash inflows from operating activities 460,308,107,933 645,191,041,076 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

21 Purchases of fixed assets and other long-term assets (63,484,311,476) (136,172,500,824) 

22 Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets 20,184,454,559 10,271,648,184 

23 Loans granted and term deposits at bank (1,523,238,571,667) (1,439,479,585,457) 

24 Collection of loans granted and term deposits at bank 1,315,098,077,111 1,241,729,070,545 

25 Investments in other entities (19,440,000,000) -

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
(Indirect method)

CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The notes on pages 193 đến to 232 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. The notes on pages 193 đến to 232 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

VND

Code Note
Year ended 31 December

2017
2016  

(Restated - Note 41)

01 Sales 4,569,014,010,206 4,153,858,990,854

02 Less deductions (506,260,545,711) (370,814,214,454)

10 Net sales 28(a) 4,062,753,464,495 3,783,044,776,400 

11 Cost of sales 29 (2,279,637,916,449) (2,070,058,537,405)

20 Gross profit 1,783,115,548,046 1,712,986,238,995 

21 Financial income 28(b) 88,779,692,278 57,818,264,184

22 Financial expenses 30 (97,684,683,909) (84,755,578,873) 

23 - Including: Interest expenses (24,541,141,037) (12,492,351,845) 

24 Loss sharing from investments in associates (1,206,432,702) (187,904,291) 

25 Selling expenses 31 (732,085,284,498) (631,639,529,721) 

26 General and administration expenses 32 (318,385,523,755) (297,318,503,446) 

30 Net operating profit 722,533,315,460 756,902,986,848 

31 Other income 6,756,814,138 15,121,096,000

32 Other expenses (10,041,010,203) (15,367,068,235)

40 Net other expenses 33 (3,284,196,065) (245,972,235)

50 Net accounting profit before tax 719,249,119,395 756,657,014,613 

51 Business income tax - current 35 (77,572,213,560) (89,002,442,744) 

52 Business income tax - deferred 35 712,405,929 20,986,730,153 

60 Net profit after tax 642,389,311,764 688,641,302,022 
Attributable to:

61 Owners of the parent company 24 642,407,977,142  685,645,233,601 

62 Non-controlling interests 26 (18,665,378) 2,996,068,421

70 Earnings per share 36 4,367 4,485 

71 Diluted earnings per share 36 4,367 4,485 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

  
Tran Ngoc Hien Ho Buu Huan Le Chanh Dao
Preparer  Chief Accountant Deputy General Director
  Authorised signatory 
  12 March 2018
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION

On 2 September 2004, DHG Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company (“the Company”) was equitised from Hau Giang 
Pharmaceutical United Factory in accordance with Decision No.2405/QD-CT.UB dated 5 August 2004 issued by the 
People’s Committee of Cantho City. The Company was officially incorporated as a joint stock company according to 
the Business registration certificate No.5703000111 dated 15 September 2004 issued by the Planning and Investment 
Department of Cantho City with the initial charter capital of VND80,000,000,000.

The Company’s shares are listed on the Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange.

In 2017, the Company increased the share capital to VND1,307,460,710,000 by issuing bonus shares to existing 
shareholders at ratio 2:1. The Company was granted the 23rd amended Business registration certificate dated 28 July 
2017 for the increase in share capital.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries are to produce, trade in pharmaceutical products, providing 
domestic travelling services and general clinic.

The Group’s normal business cycle is within 12 months.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had 3,205 employees (as at 31 December 2016: 2,944 employees).

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 comprise of the financial statements of the 
Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in an associate as listed below:

Name Principal activities Business  
registration certificate

% of ownership and 
voting rights

2017 2016

Subsidiaries:

Song Hau 
Pharmaceutical Joint 
Stock Company

Trade pharmaceuticals, medical 
equipment, dietary supplements 
and pharmaceutical cosmetics

No. 6403000044 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Hau Giang province 
on 20 July 2007

99.6% 51%

DHG Pharmaceutical 
One Member Limited 
Company

Manufacture and trade 
pharmaceuticals, dietary 
supplements and pharmaceutical 
cosmetics

No. 6300124430 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Hau Giang province 
on 16 August 2010

100% 100%

DHG Packaging 
and Printing 1 One 
Member Limited 
Company 

Manufacture and trade packaging, 
plastic, aluminum, paper for 
pharmaceutical industry; provide 
printing services

No. 6300215818 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Hau Giang province 
on 28 September 2012

100% 100%

Fuji Medic Limited 
Liability Company

Activities of polyclinics, specialty 
and dental clinics

No. 1801472944 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Cantho City on 27 
July 2016

51% 51%

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 December 2017

CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

VND

Code Note
Year ended 31 December 

2017 2016  
(Restated - Note 41)

26 Proceeds from disposals of investments in 
subsidiaries 9,000,000,000 -

27 Dividends and interest received 69,676,354,237 46,066,915,316 

30 Net cash outflows from investing activities (192,203,997,236) (277,584,452,236) 

 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

31 Proceeds from capital contributed by non-controlling 
shareholders and reissues of treasury shares - 36,104,098,020

33 Proceeds from borrowings 19 2,516,213,007,337 1,561,815,329,559 

34 Repayments of borrowings 19 (2,401,178,435,800) (1,477,761,107,833) 

36 Dividends paid 25, 26 (436,556,226,000) (305,521,825,000) 

40 Net cash outflows from financing activities (321,521,654,463) (185,363,505,254) 

50 Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 
equivalents (53,417,543,766) 182,243,083,586 

60 Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3 603,188,961,343 420,712,811,918 

61 Effect of foreign exchange differences 5,799,008 233,065,839 

70 Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 3 549,777,216,585  603,188,961,343 

Major non-cash transactions in the year were disclosed in Note 39.

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (continued) 
(Indirect method)

The notes on pages 193 đến to 232 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

  
Tran Ngoc Hien Ho Buu Huan Le Chanh Dao
Preparer  Chief Accountant Deputy General Director
  Authorised signatory 
  12 March 2018
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Name Principal activities Business  
registration certificate

% of ownership and 
voting rights

2017 2016

VL Pharmaceutical 
One Member Limited 
Company (*)

Trade pharmaceuticals, 
medical equipment and dietary 
supplements and pharmaceutical 
cosmetics

No. 1500971019 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Vinh Long province 
on 19 December 2012

- 100%

TOT Pharmaceutical 
One Member Limited 
Company (**)

Trade pharmaceuticals, medical 
equipment, dietary supplements 
and pharmaceutical cosmetics

No. 1801113085 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Cantho City on 25 
February 2009

- 100%

DHG Travel One 
Member Limited 
Company (***)

Domestic travel services

No. 5704000134 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Cantho City on 26 
December 2007

100% 100%

Associate:

Vinh Hao Algae 
Processing Joint 
Stock Company

Manufacture and  
trade spirulina algae

No. 4803000150 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Binh Thuan 
province on 4 February 2008

31.36% 31,36%

(*) On 3 October 2016, the Board of Management of the Company approved the conversion of subsidiaries into  
 branches as below:

• Approved the dissolution of subsidiaries.
• Approved the establishment of branches under the parent company to continue the entire operation of the subsidiaries 

after the dissolution.
• The conversion date is 31 December 2016. From 1 January 2017, these subsidiaries operate as branches under the 

parent company.
 
At the approval date of these consolidated financial statements, the dissolution procedures for B&T Pharmaceutical 
One Member Limited Company are still in process and the dissolution procedures for remaining subsidiaries have been 
completed.

(**) On 19 June 2017, the Board of Management of the Company approved to change the policy for dissolution to  
 the policy on transfer of the whole charter capital of TOT Pharmaceutical One Member Limited Company  
 through an open bidding.

On 31 July 2017, the Company transferred all rights and obligations associated with the equity holding of the Company at 
TOT Pharmaceutical One Member Limited Company to the transferee.

(***) On 14 July 2017, the Board of Management of the Company approved the dissolution of DHG Travel One Member  
 Limited Company. The dissolution date is 31 December 2017. At the approval date of these consolidated financial  
 statements, the dissolution procedures for DHG Travel One Member Limited Company are still in process.

1. GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

Name Principal activities Business  
registration certificate

% of ownership and 
voting rights

2017 2016

B&T Pharmaceutical 
One Member Limited 
Company (*)

Trade pharmaceuticals, medical 
equipment, dietary supplements 
and pharmaceutical cosmetics.

No. 1300917335 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Ben Tre province 
on 5 October 2012

100% 100%

DT Pharmaceutical 
One Member Limited 
Company (*)

Trade pharmaceuticals, medical 
equipment, dietary supplements 
and pharmaceutical cosmetics.

No. 5104000057 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Dong Thap 
province on 28 August 2008

- 100%

HT Pharmaceutical 
One Member Limited 
Company (*)

Trade pharmaceuticals, medical 
equipment, dietary supplements 
and pharmaceutical cosmetics.

No. 5604000048 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Kien Giang 
province on 16 May 2008

- 100%

CM Pharmaceutical 
One Member Limited 
Company (*)

Trade pharmaceuticals, medical 
equipment, dietary supplements 
and pharmaceutical cosmetics.

No. 6104000035 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Ca Mau province 
on 8 April 2008

- 100%

A&G Pharmaceutical 
One Member Limited 
Company (*)

Trade pharmaceuticals, medical 
equipment, dietary supplements 
and pharmaceutical cosmetics.

No. 1601171629 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of An Giang province 
on 17 June 2009

- 100%

ST Pharmaceutical 
One Member Limited 
Company (*)

Trade pharmaceuticals, 
medical equipment and dietary 
supplements and pharmaceutical 
cosmetics.

No. 5904000064 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Soc Trang 
province on 11 April 2008

- 100%

TG Pharmaceutical 
One Member Limited 
Company (*)

Trade pharmaceuticals, 
medical equipment and dietary 
supplements and pharmaceutical 
cosmetics.

No. 1200975943 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Tien Giang 
province on 25 February 2009

- 100%

Bali Pharmaceutical 
One Member Limited 
Company (*)

Trade pharmaceuticals, 
medical equipment and dietary 
supplements and pharmaceutical 
cosmetics.

No. 1900455594 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Bac Lieu province 
on 29 March 2011

- 100%

TVP Pharmaceutical 
One Member Limited 
Company (*)

Trade pharmaceuticals, 
medical equipment and dietary 
supplements and pharmaceutical 
cosmetics.

No. 2100510569 issued by 
the Planning and Investment 
Department of Tra Vinh province 
on 19 October 2012

- 100%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Increases in a parent’s ownership interest after control is obtained are accounted for as equity transactions. Any difference 
between the carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary and the consideration paid is recorded directly in the equity 
(no additional goodwill is recorded). In this case, the parent company will not revaluate and recognise the net assets of the 
subsidiary at fair value as when the control is obtained.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying 
a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.  Investments in associates are accounted for using the 
equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s investment in associates includes goodwill 
identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated income statement, 
and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in consolidated reserves.  The cumulative post-
acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment.  When the Group’s share of losses 
in a associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has 
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the associates. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

2.4 Use of estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with Vietnamese Accounting Standards requires the Board of 
Directors to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosures of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of financial statements and the amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
year.  Although these estimates are based on the Board of Directors’ best knowledge of current events and actions, actual 
results may differ from those estimates.
 

2.5 Currency

The consolidated financial statements are measured and presented in Vietnamese Dong (“VND”). 

Transactions arising in foreign currencies are translated at exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.  Foreign 
exchange differences arising from these transactions are recognised in the income statement. 

2 SUMMARIES OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Vietnamese Accounting Standards, the 
Vietnamese Corporate Accounting System and applicable regulations on preparation and presentation of consolidated 
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are not intended to present the financial position and results 
of operations and cash flows in accordance with accounting principles and practices generally accepted in countries 
and jurisdictions other than Vietnam. The accounting principles and practices utilised in Vietnam may differ from those 
generally accepted in countries and jurisdictions other than Vietnam.

2.2 Fiscal year

The Group’s fiscal year is from 1 January to 31 December.

2.3 Basis of consolidation

The Group prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with Circular 202/2014/TT-BTC - Guidance on 
the preparation and presentation of consolidated financial statements issued by the Ministry of Finance on 22 December 
2014.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies generally 
accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.  The existence and effect of potential voting rights 
that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  They are de-consolidated 
from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group.  The cost of an 
acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed 
at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.  Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, 
irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest.  The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the 
Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.  If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair 
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling transactions and interests

The Group applies a policy for transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with external parties to 
the Group. 

Non-controlling interests (“NCI”) are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at date 
of acquisition. 
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For the year ended 31 December 2017

(c) Investments in equity of other entities

Investments in equity of other entities are investments in equity instruments of other entities without controlling rights or 
co-controlling rights, or without significant influence over the investee. These investments are initially recorded at cost. 
Provision for diminution in value of these investments is made when the entities make losses, except when the loss was 
anticipated in their business plan before the date of investment.

2.10 Fixed assets

Tangible and intangible fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation/amortisation.  Historical cost includes expenditure 
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the fixed assets.

Depreciation and amortisation

Fixed assets are depreciated and amortised using the straight-line method so as to write off the cost of the assets over 
their estimated useful lives or over the term of the project if shorter.  The estimated useful lives of the assets are as follows:

Building and structures  3 - 50 years
Machinery and equipment 3 - 20 years
Motor vehicles 3 - 10 years 
Office equipment 3 - 10 years
Software 3 - 8 years

 
Land use rights with definite terms are amortised using the straight-line method over the terms indicated in the land use 
right certificates. Land use rights with indefinite useful life are recorded at historical cost and are not amortised.

Disposals

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing net disposal proceeds with the carrying amount and are 
recognised as income or expense in the income statement.

Construction in progress 

Properties in the course of construction for production, rental or administrative purposes, or for purposes not yet 
determined, are carried at cost. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs dealt with in 
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other fixed assets, 
commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. 

2 SUMMARIES OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Currency (continued)

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are respectively translated 
at the buying and selling exchange rates at the balance sheet date of the commercial bank where the Group regularly 
trades. Foreign currencies deposited in bank at the balance sheet date are translated at the buying exchange rate of 
the commercial bank where the Group opens the foreign currency accounts. Foreign exchange differences arising from 
these translations are recognised in the income statement.

2.6 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash at bank, cash in transit, demand deposits and other short-term 
investments with an original maturity of three months or less.

2.7 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are carried at the original invoice amount less an estimate made for doubtful receivables based on a 
review by management of all outstanding amounts at the year end. Bad debts are written off when identified.

2.8 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost is determined by the weighted average method 
and includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their 
present location and condition.  In the case of manufactured products, cost includes all direct expenditure and production 
overheads based on normal levels of operating activity.  Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the normal 
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.  Provision is made, where necessary, for 
obsolete, slow-moving and defective inventory items.

2.9 Investments

(a) Investments held-to-maturity 

Investments held-to-maturity are investments which the Group’s management has positive intention and ability to hold 
until maturity.
 
Investments held-to-maturity include term deposits for interest earning. Those investments are accounted for at cost less 
provision.

Provision for diminution in value of investments held-to-maturity is made when there is evidence that part or the whole of 
the investment is uncollectible.

(b) Investments in associates

Investments in associates are accounted using the equity method when preparing the consolidated financial statements 
(Note 2.3).
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2.17 Provision for severance allowances

In accordance with Vietnamese labour laws, employees of the Group who have worked regularly for full 12 months or 
longer, are entitled to a severance allowance. The working period used for the calculation of severance allowance is the 
period during which the employee actually works for the Group less the period during which the employee participates 
in the unemployment insurance scheme in accordance with the labour regulations and the working period for which the 
employee has received severance allowance from the Group. 

The severance allowance is accrued at the end of the reporting period on the basis that each employee is entitled half 
of an average monthly salary for each working year. The average monthly salary used for calculating the severance 
allowance is the employee’s average salary for the year prior to the balance sheet date. 

This allowance will be paid as a lump sum when the employees terminate their labour contracts in according with current 
regulations. 

2.18 Provision for dismantling and restoration costs

According to Circular 200, since 1 January 2015, the Group is required to provide for dismantling and restoration costs of 
the Group’s leased premises and lands. This provision is determined based on the estimated dismantling and restoration 
costs incurred at the time of returning the premises and lands in future and recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
period from 1 January 2015 to the time of returning the premises and lands.

2.19 Unearned revenue

Unearned revenue represents the fair value of goods and services provided to customers for free or at discount 
in the customer loyalty programs. The Group records unearned revenue for the future obligations that the Group 
has to conduct.  

2.20 Current and deferred income tax

Income taxes include all income taxes which are based on taxable profits including profits generated from production 
and trading activities in other countries with which the Socialist Republic of Vietnam has not signed any double taxation 
agreement. Income tax expense comprises current tax expense and deferred tax expense.

Current income tax is the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the current year taxable profits at 
the current year tax rates. Current and deferred tax should be recognised as an income or an expense and included in the 
profit or loss of the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from a transaction or event which is recognised, in the 
same or a different period, directly in equity.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax is not accounted for 
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time 
of occurrence affects neither the accounting nor the taxable profit or loss.  Deferred income tax is determined at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the financial year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

2 SUMMARIES OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Leased assets

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases.  Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis 
over the period of the lease.

2.12 Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses include short-term and long-term prepayments on the balance sheet. Prepaid expenses are recorded 
at historical cost and allocated using the straight line method over estimated useful lives.

2.13 Payables
 
Classifications of payables are based on their nature as follows: 

• Trade accounts payable are trade payables arising from purchase of goods and services.
• Other payables including non-trade payables and not relating to purchase of goods and services.

Payables are classified into long-term and short-term payables on the balance sheet based on remaining period from the 
balance sheet date to the maturity date.

2.14 Accrued expenses 

Accrued expenses include liabilities for goods and services received in the period but not yet paid for due to pending 
invoice or insufficient records and documents. Accrued expenses are recorded as expenses in the reporting period. 

2.15 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the construction or production of any qualifying assets are capitalised 
during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use.  Other borrowing costs 
are recognised in the income statement when incurred.

2.16 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. 
Provision is not recognised for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.  If the time value of money 
is material, provision will be measured at the present value using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.  The increase in the provision due to passage of time is 
recognised as an interest expense.
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2.24 Revenue recognition

(a) Sales of goods 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the income statement when all five (5) following conditions are 
satisfied:
• The Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
• The Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor 

effective control over the goods sold;
• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and
• The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

No revenue is recognised if there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due or the possible 
return of goods. 

Revenue is recognised based on principle of “substance over form” and allocated to each sales obligation. In case 
that the Group gives promotional goods to customers associated with customers’ purchase, the Group allocates total 
consideration received for goods sold and promotional goods. Cost of promotional goods is recognised as cost of sales 
in the income statement. 
 

(b) Rendering of services 

Revenue from rendering of services is recognised in the income statement when the services are rendered, by reference 
to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the total 
services to be provided. Revenue from the sale of services is only recognised when all four (4) following conditions are 
satisfied:

• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group;
• The percentage of completion of the transaction at the balance sheet date can be measured reliably; and
• The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

(c) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an earned basis.    

(d) Dividend income 

Income from dividend is recognised when the Group has established the receiving right from investees.

2.25 Sales deductions

Sales deductions include trade discounts, sales returns and allowances. Sales deductions incurred in the same period of 
the related sales of products, goods and services are recorded as deduction of revenue of that period.

Sales deductions for products, goods or services which are sold in the period but are incurred after the balance sheet date 
but before the issuance of the financial statements are recorded as deduction of revenue of the period. 

2 SUMMARIES OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised.  

2.21 Owners’ capital

Contributed capital of the shareholders is recorded according to actual amount contributed and is recorded according to 
par value of the share.
 
Share premium is the difference between the par value and the issue price of shares and the difference between the 
repurchase price and re-issuing price of treasury shares.

Undistributed earnings record the Group’s results (profit, loss) after business income tax at the reporting date.

2.22 Funds

The Group’s funds are as below:

(a) Development and investment fund

Development and investment fund is appropriated from net profit of the Group and approved by shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting.

(b) Bonus and welfare funds

Bonus and welfare fund is appropriated from the net profit of the Group and approved by shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting.

2.23 Dividend distribution

The Group’s net profit after tax could be distributed to shareholders after approval by shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting, and after appropriation to other funds in accordance with the Company’s charter and Vietnamese regulations.

Interim dividends are declared and paid based on the estimated earnings of the year.  Final dividends are declared and paid 
in the following year from undistributed earnings based on the approval of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

Appropriation of the Group’s net profit after tax of the year 2016 was approved by shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting as follows:

• Dividends declared for year 2016: 35% of par value. 
• Appropriation to the bonus and welfare fund: 12% of net consolidated profit after tax.
• Remuneration payment for Board of Management, sub-committees under Board of Management and Board of 

Management secretary: VND5 billion. 
• Bonus for Board of Management, Supervisory Board, sub-committees under Board of Management and Board of 

Management secretary, Board of Directors and key management personnel: 5% of the increase in net consolidated 
profit after tax attributable to owners of the parent company.

• Remaining net consolidated profit after tax was appropriated to the investment and development fund.
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2.31 Related parties

Enterprises and individuals that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control,  or are under common 
control with, the Group, including holding companies and fellow subsidiaries are related parties of the Group.  Associates 
and individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Group that gives them significant 
influence over the enterprise, key management personnel, including directors of the Group and close members of the 
family of these individuals and companies associated with these individuals also constitute related parties.

The State Capital Investment Corporation holds the largest shareholding in the Company and accordingly is regarded 
as a related party.  However, enterprises which are controlled or significantly influenced by the State Capital Investment 
Corporation are not considered as related parties of the Group for the purposes of disclosure since they do not influence, 
or are not influenced by, the Group.

In considering the related party relationship, the Group considers the substance of the relationship not merely the legal 
form.

2.32 Segment reporting

A segment is a component which can be separated by the Group engaged in providing products or services (business 
segment), or providing products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical segment). Each 
segment is subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other segments. A reportable segment is the 
Group’s business segment.

Segment reporting is prepared and presented in accordance with accounting policies applied to the preparation and 
presentation of the Group’s financial statements in order to help users of financial statements understand and evaluate 
the Group’s operations in a comprehensive way. 

3 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

VND

2017 2016 

Cash on hand 20,721,551,877 17,132,249,688 

Cash at bank 67,721,263,770 253,132,819,779 

Cash equivalents (*) 461,334,400,938 332,923,891,876

549,777,216,585  603,188,961,343

(*) Cash equivalents included term deposits with an original maturity of 3 months or less.

2 SUMMARIES OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Customer loyalty programs

Revenue is recognised at total consideration received less fair value of goods and services which are provided to 
customers for free or at discount. Fair value amounts of goods and services provided for free or at discount are recognised 
as unearned revenue. If customers do not meet the required conditions stated in the customer loyalty programs at the 
end of the programs and hence, are not entitled to the free or discounted goods and services, the unearned revenue is 
realised into the income statement. 

When customers meet all the required conditions and the Group is the one providing the free or discounted goods and 
services to customers, the unearned revenue is realised into the Group’s income statement at the time that obligations to 
customers are fulfilled, which means, goods are delivered and services are renderred to customers. 

When customers meet all the required conditions and the obligations of providing the free or discounted goods and 
services to customers are carried out by a third party: If the Group does not act as an agent of the third party, the unearned 
revenue is realised into the Group’s income statement at the time that the third party provides the free or discounted 
goods and services to customers. If the Group acts as an agent of the third party, the Group recognises revenue for the 
difference between the unearned revenue amount and the amount payable to the third party for providing such free or 
discounted goods and services to customers. 

2.27 Cost of sales

Cost of goods sold or cost of services are cost of finished goods, merchandises, materials sold or services provided 
during the period and recorded on the basis of matching with revenue and on prudent concept.

2.28 Financial expenses

Financial expenses are expenses incurred in the period for financial activities including expenses or losses relating to 
financial investment activity, expenses of lending and borrowing, provision for diminution in value of investments in 
other entities, losses incurred when selling foreign currencies, losses from foreign exchange differences and payment 
discounts.

2.29 Selling expenses

Selling expenses represent expenses that are incurred in the process of selling products, goods, and providing services, 
which mainly include salary expenses for salesman, publicity expenses, goods display and introduction expenses, 
advertising expenses, sales commission, maintenance charges, costs of packing and transportation.

2.30 General and administration expenses

General and administration expenses represent expenses for administrative purposes which mainly include salary 
expenses for administrative staff (salaries, wages, allowances, etc.); social insurance, medical insurance, labour union 
fees, unemployment insurance of administrative staff, expenses of office materials, tools and supplies, depreciation of 
fixed assets used for administration, land rental, licence tax, provision for bad debts, outside services and other expenses.
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(**) Details of other long-term investments as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 are as follow:
VND

Historical cost

ATP Packaging JSC 20,000,000,000 

Binh Duong Pharmaceutical & Medical Equipments JSC 4,286,800,000 

Tra Vinh Pharmaceutical JSC 2,575,315,200 

Ninh Thuan Pharmaceutical & Medical Equipments JSC 796,675,000 

Tay Ninh Pharmaceutical JSC 221,960,000 

Cuu Long Pharmaceutical JSC 27,420,000 

27,908,170,200 

5       SHORT-TERM TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
VND

2017 2016 

Third parties 739,281,053,856 622,748,103,096

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, there was no balance of short-term trade accounts receivable from third 
parties accounting for 10% or more of total short-term trade accounts receivable balance.

6 LENDING

The balances of short-term lending and long-term lending as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 represent 
interest free loans granted to customers in accordance with the Group’s capital support scheme.

7 OTHER SHORT-TERM RECEIVABLES 
VND

2017 2016

Value Provision Value Provision

Interest income receivable 27,502,424,293 - 15,588,566,422 - 

Receivables from employees 7,443,741,219 - 1,837,560,698 -

Prepaid trade discounts 243,590,918 - 197,969,103 -

Other receivables 9,541,616,794 - 7,909,072,050 - 

44,731,373,224 - 25,533,168,273 -

 

4       INVESTMENTS

(a) Short-term investments

Investments held-to-maturity
VND

2017 2016

Cost Book value Cost Book value

Term deposits 930,615,143,091 930,615,143,091 703,731,000,000 703,731,000,000

As at 31 December 2017, investments held-to-maturity of VND246 billion were used as collateral assets for short-term 
loans from bank (Note 19).

(b) Long-term investments
VND

2017 2016

Cost Provision Cost Provision

Investments in associates (*) 3,129,548,349 -  4,335,981,051 -

Investments in other entities 
(**) 27,908,170,200 (16,500,000,000) 27,908,170,200 (16,500,000,000)

31,037,718,549 (16,500,000,000) 32,244,151,251 (16,500,000,000)

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, fair values of long-term investments in other entities were not available 
as these entities’ shares are not publicly traded, except for Cuu Long Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company as this entity’s 
shares are listed on Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange since 2008. Fair values of this investment as at 31 December 2017 and 
31 December 2016 were VND162,288,000 and VND165,110,400 respectively.

(*) Percentages of ownership and voting rights in associates are presented in Note 1. Details of investments in  
 associates are as follow:

VND

2017 2016 

Vinh Hao Algae Processing Joint Stock Company 3,129,548,349  4,335,981,051 

Movements in investments in associates in the year were as follows:
VND

2017 2016 

Beginning of year 4,335,981,051 4,523,885,342

Loss sharing (1,206,432,702) (187,904,291)

Ending of year 3,129,548,349 4,335,981,051 
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Movements in the provision for decline in value of inventories during the year were as follows:
VND

2017 2016 

Beginning of year 1,696,412,765 3,011,372,184  

Increase/(reversal) 759,743,414  (1,314,959,419) 

End of year 2,456,156,179   1,696,412,765 

The provision of inventories was made for inventories of which costs were higher than net realisable value and expired 
raw materials.

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the Group did not have any slow moving, damaged or sub-standard 
inventories.

10 PREPAID EXPENSES 

(a) Short-term prepaid expenses  
VND

2017 2016 

Operating leases 39,409,097 30,818,180 

Others 9,676,404,896 4,181,750,754

9,715,813,993 4,212,568,934

Short-term prepaid expenses are allocated within 12 months or a normal business cycle since the time of prepayment.

(b) Long-term prepaid expenses
VND

2017 2016 

Tools and supplies 12,535,021,407 6,810,300,852

Prepaid land rental fees 10,713,316,530 11,059,114,850 

Leasehold improvements 167,682,780 111,109,236 

Others 7,740,404,974 4,779,478,240

31,156,425,691    22,760,003,178

Long-term prepaid expenses are allocated in a period of more than 12 months or a normal business cycle since the time 
of prepayment.

8 DOUBTFUL DEBTS
VND

2017

Historical cost Recoverable 
amount Provision

Total amount of receivables past due 195,352,900,453   173,640,068,514 (21,712,831,939)
 
   VND

2016

Historical cost Recoverable 
amount Provision

Total amount of receivables past due 157,309,867,394 143,817,785,293 (13,492,082,101)

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, there was no balance of receivables that was not past due 
but doubtful.

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, there was no balance of receivables accounting for 10% or more of total 
past due receivable amount.

Movements in provision for doubtful debts during the year were as follows:
VND

2017 2016 

Beginning of year 13,492,082,101 10,987,369,519

Increase 8,220,749,838 2,695,803,165

Reversal - (191,090,583)

End of year 21,712,831,939  13,492,082,101

9 INVENTORIES
VND

2017 2016

Historical cost Provision Historical cost Provision

Goods in transit 41,560,218,649 - 60,597,811,325 -

Raw materials 285,333,766,326 (1,320,277,628) 235,989,641,851 -

Work in progress 54,916,072,790 - 32,650,192,227 -

Finished goods 209,547,370,635 (1,135,878,551) 259,215,081,061 (1,348,938,937) 

Merchandises 44,906,604,372 - 146,104,356,815 (347,473,828) 

636,264,032,772 (2,456,156,179) 734,557,083,279  (1,696,412,765) 
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11 TAX AND OTHER RECEIVABLES FROM/PAYABLES TO THE STATE BUDGET 
VND

As at 1.1.2017 Payable during the year Refunded during the year Payment during the year As at 31.12.2017

a. Receivables

VAT on domestic sales 6,812,843,726 (7,835,618,270) - 1,048,850,952 26,076,408 

VAT on import sales 9,120,020 (9,120,020) - - -

Business income tax 88,214,504  - - 68,472,042 156,686,546 

Personal income tax 703,410,883 (236,384,250) (70,268,175) 5,608,366,368 6,005,124,826 

Import - export duties 696,183,652 (12,943,469,741) - 13,783,500,598 1,536,214,509 

Other taxes - - - 15,682,319 15,682,319

8,309,772,785  (21,024,592,281)  (70,268,175) 20,524,872,279  7,739,784,608

b. Payables

VAT on domestic sales 15,519,770,388 87,253,322,647 - (90,738,405,510) 12,034,687,525 

VAT on import sales - 43,360,668,006 - (43,357,206,466) 3,461,540

Business income tax 28,602,987,542 77,572,213,560 538,338,330 (95,719,890,926) 10,993,648,506 

Personal income tax 3,331,632,768 47,363,423,521 349,531,290 (50,462,701,449) 581,886,130 

Land tax, land use tax - 5,654,256,882 - (5,654,256,882) -

Import - export duties - 2,926,931 - (2,926,931) -

Other taxes - 206,610,756 - (206,610,756) -

47,454,390,698  261,413,422,303 887,869,620 (286,141,998,920) 23,613,683,701

10 PREPAID EXPENSES (continued)

(b) Long-term prepaid expenses (continued)

Movements in long-term prepaid expenses during the year are as follows:
VND

2017 2016 

Beginning of year 22,760,003,178 28,312,322,417 

Increase 18,636,482,446 10,064,079,501 

Allocation (10,240,059,933) (15,547,138,374) 

Disposal - (69,260,366)

End of year 31,156,425,691 22,760,003,178
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12 FIXED ASSETS

(a) Tangible fixed assets
VND

Buildings and structures Machinery and equipment Motor vehicles Office equipment Total 

Historical cost 

As at 1 January 2017 520,491,998,475 584,082,620,408 176,281,285,316 75,957,738,078 1,356,813,642,277

New purchases - 6,265,059,301 - - 6,265,059,301

Transfers from construction in progress (Note 13) 1,526,733,357 27,043,377,510 3,603,176,486 543,975,079 32,717,262,432

Disposals (41,671,313) (8,782,295,927) (3,981,828,229) (2,002,929,672) (14,808,725,141) 

Write-off - (175,883,862) (381,912,000) - (557,795,862)

Reclassification - (548,900,000) - (1,904,914,233) (2,453,814,233)

As at 31 December 2017 521,977,060,519 607,883,977,430 175,520,721,573 72,593,869,252 1,377,975,628,774 

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1 January 2017 126,281,350,476 234,752,559,219 98,531,254,030 55,779,770,859  515,344,934,584 

Charge for the year 29,892,119,063 45,276,214,217 13,823,766,067 5,857,592,388 94,849,691,735

Disposals (41,671,313) (8,768,212,578) (3,767,366,821) (2,002,929,672) (14,580,180,384)

Write-off - (175,883,862) (381,912,000) - (557,795,862) 

Reclassification - (441,288,936) - (1,849,110,087) (2,290,399,023) 

As at 31 December 2017 156,131,798,226  270,643,388,060  108,205,741,276  57,785,323,488 592,766,251,050 

Net book value

As at 1 January 2017 394,210,647,999 349,330,061,189 77,750,031,286 20,177,967,219 841,468,707,693 

As at 31 December 2017 365,845,262,293 337,240,589,370 67,314,980,297 14,808,545,764 785,209,377,724 

Historical cost of fully depreciated tangible fixed assets but still in use as at 31 December 2017 was  
VND 180,764 million (as at 31 December 2016: VND152,963 million).

Historical cost of fully depreciated tangible fixed assets awaiting for disposal as at 31 December 2017 was  
VND 6,540 million (as at 31 December 2016: VND5,654 million).
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Movements in the construction in progress during the year were as follows:
VND

2017 2016 

Beginning of year 17,160,871,337 15,722,551,016 

Additions 56,940,741,775 118,095,065,265 

Transfers to tangible fixed assets (Note 12(a)) (32,717,262,432) (109,839,029,974) 

Transfers to intangible fixed assets (Note 12(b)) (2,930,291,720) (6,205,435,000) 

Transfers to prepaid expenses (2,146,349,182) (520,799,970)

Disposals - (91,480,000) 

End of year 36,307,709,778 17,160,871,337  

14 DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS  

The deferred income tax assets mainly arise from deductible temporary differences relating to provisions and unrealised 
gains arising from consolidation.

 VND

2017 2016 

Business income tax rate used for determining deferred income tax 
assets 20% 20%

Deductible temporary differences 178,918,481,775 175,356,452,130

Deferred income tax assets 35,783,696,355 35,071,290,426

15      SHORT-TERM TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
VND

2017 2016

Value Able-to-pay
amount Value Able-to-pay

Amount

Third parties (*) 262,982,235,355 262,982,235,355 291,492,270,691 291,492,270,691

 Related parties  
(Note 37 (b)) 4,500,000 4,500,000 211,200,000 211,200,000  

262,986,735,355  262,986,735,355 291,703,470,691 291,703,470,691  

(*) Suppliers accounting for 10% or more of total trade accounts payable balance are as follows:
VND

2017 2016 

Develing Trade B.V. 36,157,842,392 23,703,336,181

Truong Tin Pharmaceutical Limited Company 35,135,876,027 56,484,958,549 

Mega Lifesciences (Viet Nam) Limited Company 33,450,431,047 26,633,640,634 

Nomura Trading Co., Ltd 25,762,165,250 46,661,401,500 

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, there was no balance of short-term trade accounts payable that was 
past due.

12 FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(b) Intangible fixed assets
VND

Land use rights
with indefinite 

term 

Land use rights
with definite 

term 
Software Total

Historical cost 

As at 1 January 2017 113,033,150,046 158,390,565,071 13,088,937,805 284,512,652,922 

New purchases - - 278,510,400 278,510,400

Transfers from construction in 
progress (Note 13) - 666,206,720 2,264,085,000 2,930,291,720

Disposals (17,874,590,000) - - (17,874,590,000)

As at 31 December 2017 95,158,560,046 159,056,771,791 15,631,533,205  269,846,865,042  

Accumulated amortisation

As at 1 January 2017 - 15,399,463,694 7,148,509,517 22,547,973,211 

Charge for the year - 3,321,730,798 2,187,035,132 5,508,765,930 

As at 31 December 2017 - 18,721,194,492  9,335,544,649 28,056,739,141 

Net book value 

As at 1 January 2017 113,033,150,046 142,991,101,377 5,940,428,288 261,964,679,711 

As at 31 December 2017 95,158,560,046  140,335,577,299 6,295,988,556 241,790,125,901 

Historical cost of fully amortised intangible fixed assets but still in use as at 31 December 2017 was VND5,861 million (as 
at 31 December 2016: VND2,917 million). 

13 LONG-TERM ASSETS IN PROGRESS

Construction in progress
 VND

2017 2016 

Effervescent tablet production factory 16,658,486,842 6,267,835,000 

Office and auxiliary works at DHG Pharmaceutical One Member 
Limited Company 11,596,485,312 2,141,843,739

Machinery and equipment 7,353,145,816 8,115,425,642

Branches’ offices 699,591,808 635,766,956

36,307,709,778 17,160,871,337 
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The movements of short-term borrowings during the year were as follows:
VND

As at 1.1.2017 Increase Decrease As at 31.12.2017

Loans from banks (*) 323,700,000,000 2,512,300,000,000 (2,366,200,000,000) 469,800,000,000

Loans from the 
Company’s 
employees (**)

31,065,428,463 3,913,007,337 (34,978,435,800) -

354,765,428,463 2,516,213,007,337 (2,401,178,435,800) 469,800,000,000 

(*) These loans are secured by term deposits at bank (Note 4(a)) and bear interest at 0.32% to 0.42% per month   
(2016: from 0.32% to 0.38% per month).

(**) These loans are unsecured and bear interest at 0.375% to 0.57% per month (2016: from 0.375% to 
 0.57% per month).

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, there was no short-term borrowing that was past due.

20       BONUS AND WELFARE FUNDS

The funds are established through appropriation from retained earnings upon approval of shareholders at the Annual 
General Meetings (“AGM”). The funds are used to pay bonus and welfare to the Group’s employees in accordance with 
the bonus and welfare policies and to the Board of Management in accordance with the AGM resolution.

Movements of bonus and welfare funds during the year were as follows:
VND

Bonus and 
welfare fund 

Bonus fund 
for Board of 

Management 

Welfare fund in 
form of assets Total

As at 1.1.2017 29,226,348,693 7,069,439,369 31,082,436,238 67,378,224,300

Appropriation to the funds 86,125,998,705 14,836,474,553 - 100,962,473,258

Transfers from welfare fund 
in form of assets 7,519,442,000 - (7,519,442,000) -

Depreciation of assets 
formed from funds - - (3,277,288,932) (3,277,288,932)

Utilisation (88,101,443,672) (14,003,168,554) - (102,104,612,226)

As at 31.12.2017 34,770,345,726 7,902,745,368 20,285,705,306  62,958,796,400 

18 OTHER SHORT-TERM PAYABLES

VND

2017 2016 

Dividends payable (Note 25) 196,119,106,500 -

Insurance and union fees 800,645,116 988,977,577

Other payables 7,163,738,867 5,569,497,881

204,083,490,483 6,558,475,458 
 

19 SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

VND

2017 2016

Value Able-to-pay
amount Value Able-to-pay

Amount

Loans from banks (*) 469,800,000,000 469,800,000,000 323,700,000,000 323,700,000,000 

Loans from the 
Company’s employees 
(**)

- - 31,065,428,463 31,065,428,463 

469,800,000,000 469,800,000,000 354,765,428,463 354,765,428,463 

16 SHORT-TERM ACCRUED EXPENSES
VND

2017 2016 

Market research 10,429,270,479 -

Payment discounts 8,261,692,934 4,309,118,694

Marketing and customer care expenses 6,660,719,815 2,984,753,722 

Interest expenses 452,849,861 589,134,749 

Others 24,613,586,172 22,076,673,390

50,418,119,261 29,959,680,555  

17 SHORT-TERM UNEARNED REVENUE
VND

2017 2016

Unearned revenue from customer loyalty programs   
(Note 2.19 and 2.26) 9,479,895,138 31,687,812,617 
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23 OWNERS’ CAPITAL

(a) Number of shares
VND

2017 2016 

Ordinary shares Ordinary shares

Number of shares issued 130,746,071 87,164,330

Number of existing shares in circulation 130,746,071 87,164,330

(b) Details of owners’ shareholding
VND

2017 2016

Ordinary shares % Ordinary shares %

State Capital Investment 
Corporation (“SCIC”) 56,626,237 43.31 37,750,825 43.31

Other shareholders 74,119,834 56.69 49,413,505 56.69

Number of shares 130,746,071   100 87,164,330 100

(c) Movement of share capital
VND

2017 2016

Number 
of shares Ordinary shares Number 

of shares Ordinary shares

Beginning of year 87,164,330 871,643,300,000 86,941,950 855,522,270,000

Bonus shares issued 43,581,741 435,817,410,000 - -

Treasury shares  
re-issued - - 222,380 16,121,030,000

Ending of year 130,746,071 1,307,460,710,000 87,164,330 871,643,300,000

Par value per share: VND10,000.

22 PROVISIONS FOR LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
VND

Provision for 
dismantling

and restoration costs
of the Group’s leased
premises or lands (*)

Provision for
Severance

allowances
Total

As at 1.1.2017 7,593,479,308 25,785,628,500 33,379,107,808

Provision 3,970,878,728 3,102,386,051 7,073,264,779

Utilisation - (2,065,906,168) (2,065,906,168) 

As at 31.12.2017 11,564,358,036 26,822,108,383 38,386,466,419

(*) As at 31 December 2017, the estimated dismantling cost and restoration costs incurred at the time of returning  
 the premises and lands in future is VND 159,409,010,028.

21 SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY DEVELOPMENT FUNDS

In accordance with Circular 12/2016/TTLT-BKHCN-BTC dated 28 June 2016, entities are allowed to establish the science 
and technology development funds for research and development activities. Provision made during the year is charged to 
expenses. Funds are utilised when disbursements are paid for research and development activities.

Movements of the science and technology development funds during the year were as follows:
VND

Science and 
technology 

development fund

Science and 
technology 

development fund in 
form of assets

Total

As at 1.1.2017 (5,446,864,017) 29,668,170,841 24,221,306,824

Appropriation to the funds 8,705,231,445 - 8,705,231,445

Utilisation (2,793,477,766) - (2,793,477,766)

Assets formed from science and 
technology development fund (2,243,810,364) 2,243,810,364 -

Disposal of assets formed from science 
and technology development fund 1,778,920,702 (1,778,920,702) -

Depreciation of assets formed from 
science and technology development fund - (5,070,779,327) (5,070,779,327)

As at 31.12.2017 - 25,062,281,176 25,062,281,176 
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24 MOVEMENTS IN OWNERS’ EQUITY 
 VND    

Owners’ capital Share premium Treasury
shares

Investment and 
development fund 

Undistributed  
earnings Total

As at 1 January 2016 871,643,300,000 - (16,121,030,000) 1,039,479,185,578  605,911,345,691 2,500,912,801,269

Profit for the year - - - - - 685,645,233,601 685,645,233,601

Dividends paid - - - - - (304,296,825,000) (304,296,825,000) 

Appropriation to reserves - - - - 181,082,523,189 (181,082,523,189) -

Appropriation to bonus and welfare fund - - - - (61,607,669,990) (61,607,669,990) 

Appropriation to bonus fund for Board of Management - - - - (7,930,858,929) (7,930,858,929) 

Treasury shares re-issued - 6,778,948,000 16,121,030,000 - - 22,899,978,000

As at 31 December 2016 871,643,300,000  6,778,948,000 - 1,220,561,708,767  736,638,702,184 2,835,622,658,951

Bonus shares issued (*) 435,817,410,000 - - (435,817,410,000) - -

Profit for the year - - - - 642,407,977,142 642,407,977,142

Dividends declared for the year 2016 - - - - (305,075,155,000) (305,075,155,000) 

1st interim dividend declared for the year 2017 - - - - (130,746,071,000) (130,746,071,000)

2nd interim dividend declared for the year 2017 - - - - (196,119,106,500) (196,119,106,500)

Appropriation to reserves - - - 310,436,650,781 (310,436,650,781) -

Appropriation to bonus and welfare - - - - (85,678,223,316) (85,678,223,316) 

Appropriation to bonus fund for Board of Management - - - - (14,660,275,620) (14,660,275,620) 

Others (**) - - - 16,996,367,562 (15,324,900,367) 1,671,467,195

As at 31 December 2017 1,307,460,710,000 6,778,948,000 - 1,112,177,317,110  321,006,296,742 2,747,423,271,852 

 

(*) In April 2017, the Company declared the bonus share issuance to existing shareholders at ratio 2:1 to increase  
 the share capital from the owners’ equity and the share capital increase was completed in June 2017. 

(**) This is the difference between the carrying amount of net assets of Song Hau Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Company  
 - a subsidiary and the consideration paid to acquire additional shares in this subsidiary which is recorded  
 directly in the owners’ equity.
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(b)  Foreign currencies   

Included in cash and cash equivalents were balances held in foreign currencies as follows:
VND

2017 2016

USD 651,982 651,214

EUR 5,646  46,884 

MOP - 20 

 28 REVENUE

(a) Net sales
VND

2017 2016

Sales 

Sales of finished goods  3,533,519,681,783 3,380,790,607,602 

Sales of merchandises 977,679,844,675 718,698,231,331 

Others 57,814,483,748 54,370,151,921

4,569,014,010,206 4,153,858,990,854

Sales deductions 

Trade discounts (493,892,478,558) (355,747,658,516)

Sales returns (12,368,067,153) (15,066,555,938)

(506,260,545,711) (370,814,214,454)

Net sales 4,062,753,464,495 3,783,044,776,400

In which: 

Sales of finished goods  3,053,877,958,826 3,026,517,926,448 

Sales of merchandises 951,061,021,921 702,156,698,031 

Others 57,814,483,748 54,370,151,921

4,062,753,464,495 3,783,044,776,400  
 

(b) Financial income
 VND

2017 2016

Interest income from deposits at bank 81,400,481,744 54,650,166,838

Gains from disposal of investments in subsidiaries 3,992,308,108 -

Foreign exchange gains 3,197,172,062 2,588,416,127

Dividend income 189,730,364 313,749,620 

Others - 265,931,599

88,779,692,278 57,818,264,184

25 DIVIDENDS

In 2017, the Company has declared dividends of 35% in cash for the year 2016, equivalents to VND305,075,155,000 
which were paid on 17 May 2017.

On 23 August 2017, the Board of Management of the Company approved the 1st interim dividends of 10% in cash for the 
year 2017 based on the year-to-date consolidated financial performance, equivalents to VND130,746,071,000 which 
were paid on 4 October 2017.

On 14 December 2017, the Board of Management of the Company approved the 2nd interim dividends of 15% in cash for 
the year 2017 based on the year-to-date consolidated financial performance, equivalents to VND196,119,106,500 which 
were paid on 25 January 2018.

26 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Movements in the non-controlling interests during the year were as follows:
VND

2017 2016

Beginning of year 34,160,248,863 20,323,225,971

Net (loss)/profit for the year (18,665,378) 2,996,068,421

Capital contribution - 13,204,120,020

Appropriation to bonus and welfare fund (447,775,389) (597,631,764)

Appropriation to bonus fund for Board of Management (176,198,933) (540,533,785)

Dividends declared (735,000,000) (1,225,000,000)

Change in interests (21,111,467,195) -

Ending of year 11,671,141,968  34,160,248,863
 

27 OFF BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

(a)  Operating lease commitments  

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows:
VND

2017 2016

Within 1 year 5,422,028,378 5,481,993,358 

Between 1 and 5 years 21,688,113,512 21,927,973,432 

Over 5 years 115,731,722,192 122,558,946,522 

  142,841,864,082 149,968,913,312
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32 GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES

Major item included in general and administration expenses was:
  VND

2017 2016

Staff costs 244,848,095,072 238,566,839,903 

33 OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES
   VND

2017 2016

Other income

Gains from disposals of fixed assets 2,081,319,802 5,820,571,285

Commision income - 110,988,811 

Sundry income 4,675,494,336 9,189,535,904

6,756,814,138 15,121,096,000

Other expenses

Fines and penalties as results of tax audit 6,310,525,691 -

Losses of inventories - 8,295,694,967 

Sundry expenses 3,730,484,512 7,071,373,268

10,041,010,203 15,367,068,235
 
34  COST OF OPERATION BY FACTOR

VND

2017 2016

Raw materials (*) 1,909,463,543,610 1,671,352,166,776 

Staff costs 855,075,780,980 776,272,594,987 

Depreciation and amortisation 91,343,474,099 88,523,885,671 

Outside service expenses 189,577,870,958  343,569,376,383 

Others 277,583,371,236 90,487,878,474 

3,323,044,040,883  2,970,205,902,291
  
(*) Including value of merchandises sold in the year.

29 COST OF SALES
  VND

2017 2016

Cost of finished goods sold 1,365,666,336,398 1,392,600,918,874 

Cost of merchandises sold 900,526,104,705 668,325,648,349 

Cost of services renderred 12,685,731,932 10,446,479,601

Provision for decline in value of inventories 759,743,414  (1,314,509,419) 

2,279,637,916,449 2,070,058,537,405
 

30 FINANCIAL EXPENSES

 VND

2017 2016

Payment discounts 68,749,374,613 66,663,910,134

Interest expenses 24,541,141,037 12,492,351,845

Foreign exchange losses 4,273,238,405 5,485,354,448

Others 120,929,854 113,962,446

97,684,683,909 84,755,578,873 

31 SELLING EXPENSES

Major items included in selling expenses were:
 VND

2017 2016

Staff costs 355,449,954,624 300,631,057,260 

Advertising expenses 152,591,701,912 162,943,769,507 
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The subsidiaries

DHG Packaging and Printing 1 One Member Limited Company (“DHG Packaging and Printing 1’)

Pursuant to its Business registration certificate, DHG Packaging and Printing 1 has an obligation to pay the BIT at rate of 
10% of taxable profits from 2014 to 2028. The company is entitled to the BIT exemption from 2014 to 2017 and a 50% BIT 
reduction from 2018 to 2026.

DHG Pharmaceutical One Member Limited Company (“DHG One Member”)

Pursuant to its Business registration certificate, DHG One Member has an obligation to pay the BIT at rate of 10% of taxable 
profits for 15 years since its operation. The company was entitled to the BIT exemption for 4 years commencing from 
the first year of making profits and a 50% BIT reduction for the following 9 years. The Company has registered to the tax 
department of Hau Giang province to apply the above tax incentive effective since the financial year 2015.

Except for DHG Packaging and Printing 1 One Member Limited Company and DHG Pharmaceutical One Member Limited 
Company which are entitled to tax incentives, other subsidiaries in the Group have an obligation to pay the BIT at the 
standard rate of 20% of taxable profits.

36 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)  Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders after deducting the bonus and 
welfare funds by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding ordinary shares 
repurchased by the Group and held as treasury shares.

2017 2016 (**)

Net profit attributable to shareholders (VND) 642,407,977,142 685,645,233,601 

Less amount allocated to bonus and welfare funds (VND) (*) (71,421,966,337) (99,930,498,936) 

570,986,010,805 585,714,734,665  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (shares) 130,746,071 87,010,624 

Basic earnings per share (VND) 4,367 6,732 

Revised weighted average number of ordinary shares in issuance by 
taking into account the bonus shares issued in June 2017, with the 
assumption that they were issued at 1 January 2016

130,746,071 130,592,365 

Revised basic earnings per share by taking into account the bonus 
shares issued in June 2017, with the assumption that they were 
issued at 1 January 2016 (VND)

4,367 4,485

(*) Amount appropriated to bonus and welfare funds for the year 2017 is estimated based on the plan for 2017  
 profit distribution of the Company and its subsidiaries approved by shareholders at the Annual General  
 Meetings. 

35 BUSINESS INCOME TAX

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the normal tax rate as 
regulated in current tax regulations as follows:
  VND

2017 2016

Net accounting profit before tax 719,249,119,395  756,657,014,613

Tax calculated at the normal tax rate of 20% 143,849,823,879 151,331,402,923 

Effect of:

Income not subject to tax (60,631,939) (62,752,505)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 5,107,379,879 2,772,313,223 

Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognised 735,245,491 -

Under-provision in the previous years 206,090,674 262,608,996 

Temporary differences for which no deferred income tax asset had 
been recognised before - (6,668,171,562)

Tax incentives (164,038,711,079) (107,120,114,912) 

Adjustments arising from consolidation (700,552,642) 3,044,231,863 

Business income tax charge before applying the market profit margin 
on related party transactions (14,901,355,737) 43,559,518,026

Increase in business income tax charge by applying the market profit 
margin on related party transactions 91,761,163,368 24,456,194,565

Business income tax charge (*) 76,859,807,631  68,015,712,591

Charged/(credited) to income statement:

Business income tax - current 77,572,213,560 89,002,442,744 

Business income tax - deferred (712,405,929) (20,986,730,153) 

76,859,807,631   68,015,712,591

(*) The Group’s business income tax charge for the year is based on estimated taxable income and is subject  
 to review and possible adjustment by the tax authorities.
 
Applicable tax rates

The Company

According to the Decision of 3044/QD-UBND of the People’s Committee of Cantho City, the Company is required to pay 
the business income tax (“BIT”) at rate of 20% from 2005 to 2014 and 22% for the following years. According to Circular 
78/2014/TT-BTC, the standard BIT is 20% since 1 January 2016. Accordingly, the applicable tax rate of the Company is 
20% in 2017.
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38 SEGMENT REPORTING

Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s business segment.  The primary format, business segment, is 
based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure.

Segment results include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable 
basis.  Unallocated items comprise assets and liabilities, financial income and expenses, selling, general and administration 
expenses, other gains or losses, and corporate income tax.

Business segments

In presenting information on the basis of product segments, segment revenue is disclosed for pharmaceutical products, 
functional foods and others.

 VND

2017 2016

Net sales

Pharmaceutical products 3,343,577,175,377 2,480,389,589,185 

Functional foods 378,846,948,365   384,319,038,415 

Others 340,329,340,753 918,336,148,800

4,062,753,464,495 3,783,044,776,400

Cost of sales

Pharmaceutical products (1,843,075,147,436) (1,068,977,808,142) 

Functional foods (224,960,245,426) (161,135,328,070) 

Others (211,602,523,587) (839,945,401,193)

 (2,279,637,916,449)  (2,070,058,537,405) 

Gross profit 

Pharmaceutical products 1,500,502,027,941 1,411,411,781,043 

Functional foods 153,886,702,939  223,183,710,345 

Others 128,726,817,166 78,390,747,607

1,783,115,548,046 1,712,986,238,995  

39 SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
 VND

2017 2016

a. Non-cash transactions affecting cash flow statement 

Appropriation to reserves 410,775,149,717 250,621,052,108

Issuance of bonus shares from investment and development fund 435,817,410,000 -

b. Proceeds from borrowings 

Proceeds from borrowings under normal contracts 2,516,213,007,337 1,561,815,329,559

Repayments of borrowings 

c. Repayments of borrowings under normal contracts 2,401,178,435,800 1,477,761,107,833

(**) Basic earnings per share of the year 2016 were recalculated for comparative purpose as follows:

 For the year ended 31 December 2016 

As previously  
reported Adjustments As restated

Net profit attributable to shareholders 
(VND) (Note 41) 710,101,428,166 (24,456,194,565) 685,645,233,601

Amount allocated to bonus and welfare 
funds (VND) (101,594,448,158) 1,663,949,222 (99,930,498,936)

Weighted average number of ordinary 
shares in issue (shares) 87,010,624 87,010,624

Basic earnings per share (VND) 6,993 6,732

b)  Diluted earnings per share  

The Group does not have potentially dilutive ordinary shares.

37 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The largest shareholder of the Company is the State Capital Investment Corporation (“SCIC”) which owns 43,31% of the 
Company’s share capital.  The SCIC is controlled by the Government of SR Vietnam.

(a) Related party transactions
 
 During the year, the following transactions were carried out with related parties:

VND

2017   2016 

i) Purchases of goods and services

Vinh Hao Algae Processing Joint Stock Company - an associate 2,443,371,600 2,253,860,000

ii) Dividend paid

SCIC 188,754,124,500 132,127,887,500 

Taisho Pharmaceutical Co,, Ltd 106,520,320,000 -

Franklin Templeton Investment Funds-Templeton Frontier Markets 
Fund 36,148,694,500 28,788,735,500

Portal Global Limited - 21,974,155,000 

iii) Compensation of key management

Gross salaries and other benefits 17,749,263,439 10,691,087,971

(b) Year end balances with related parties
    VND

2017   2016 

Short-term trade accounts payable (Note 15)

Vinh Hao Algae Processing Joint Stock Company - an associate  4,500,000 211,200,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2017

(b) Reclassifications
 
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with this year’s presentation.

The effect of these reclassifications on the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2016 is as follows:
 VND

2016
Increase in “Value Added Tax to be reclaimed” 789,328,791
Increase in “Other taxes receivable” 3,853,134,149
Increase in “Historical cost” of tangible fixed assets 190,909,090
Increase in “Construction in progress” 508,663,736
Increase in “Tax and other payables to the State Budget” 5,342,035,766
  
The effect of these reclassifications on the consolidated cash flow statement as at 31 December 2016 is as follows:
 VND

2016
Decrease in "Increase in receivables" 699,572,826
Increase in “Purchases of fixed assets and other long-term assets” (699,572,826)

The impact of these restatements and reclassifications on selected line items of the prior year financial statements is 
presented as follows:

Extracted from the Group’s consolidated balance sheet: 
VND 

Code
As at 31 December 2016

As previously  
reported Adjustments As restated

100 CURRENT ASSETS 2,747,174,092,202 (1,101,291,977) 2,746,072,800,225
150 Other current assets 15,112,535,313 (1,101,291,977) 14,011,243,336
152 Value Added Tax to be reclaimed 699,572,826 789,328,791 1,488,901,617
153 Other taxes receivable 10,200,393,553 (1,890,620,768) 8,309,772,785
200 LONG-TERM ASSETS 1,198,569,602,879 699,572,826 1,199,269,175,705
220 Fixed assets 1,103,242,478,314 190,909,090 1,103,433,387,404
221 Tangible fixed assets 841,277,798,603 190,909,090 841,468,707,693
222 Historical cost 1,356,622,733,187 190,909,090 1,356,813,642,277
240 Long-term assets in progress 16,652,207,601 508,663,736 17,160,871,337
242 Construction in progress 16,652,207,601 508,663,736 17,160,871,337
270 TOTAL ASSETS 3,945,743,695,081 (401,719,151) 3,945,341,975,930

300 LIABILITIES 1,051,504,592,702 24,054,475,414 1,075,559,068,116

310 Short-term liabilities 993,904,178,070 24,054,475,414 1,017,958,653,484

313 Tax and other payables to State 
budget 23,399,915,284 24,054,475,414 47,454,390,698

400 OWNERS’ EQUITY 2,894,239,102,379 (24,456,194,565) 2,869,782,907,814

410 Capital and reserves 2,894,239,102,379 (24,456,194,565) 2,869,782,907,814

421 Undistributed earnings 761,094,896,749 (24,456,194,565) 736,638,702,184

440 TOTAL RESOURCES 3,945,743,695,081 (401,719,151) 3,945,341,975,930

39 SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

d.  Cash held by the Group but restricted to use

As at 31 December 2017, the balance of cash at bank amounting to VND6,148,450,000 was held by the Group but restricted 
to use in order to fulfil the settlement requirement for letters of credit opened at bank (as at 31 December 2016: nil).
 

40 COMMITMENTS
 

 Capital expenditure approved for at the balance sheet date is as follows: 
 VND

2017 2016

Approved but not contracted 18,727,173,322 25,292,389,735 
Approved and contracted but not implemented 10,326,337,676 31,867,348,447 

29,053,510,998 57,159,738,182 
 

41 RESTATEMENTS AND RECLASSIFICATIONS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company made retrospective 
adjustments to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 as follows:

(a) Restatements

According to Decision No. 2255/QD-TCT dated 29 December 2017 of the General Department of Taxation on the tax-related 
violations for the tax year 2016, the Company is responsible for paying additional business income tax of VND24,404,012,746. 
Such violation is because the Company did not update new tax policies timely. In addition, the Company also identified 
certain errors with the total additional business income tax of VND52,181,819. The Board of Directors decided to correct 
these errors and restate the 2016 consolidated financial statements as follows:

The effect of the restatement on the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2016 is as follows:
 VND

2016

Decrease in “Other taxes receivable” (5,743,754,917)
Increase in “Tax and other payables to the State Budget” 18,712,439,648 
Decrease in “Undistributed earnings” (24,456,194,565)

The effect of the restatement on the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2016 is as follows:
VND

2016

Increase in “Business income tax - current” 24,456,194,565

The effect of the restatement on the consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2016 is as follows:
VND

2016

Decrease in "Increase in receivables" 401,719,151
Decrease in "Increase in payables" (401,719,151)
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writes the writes the futurefuture 

AUDITED SEPARATE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IN 2017

AUDITED CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IN 2017

Shareholders, please refer to this link: 
http://www.dhgpharma.com.vn/en/investor-relations-2/
financial-report-2/2098-audited-financial-statements-in-2017

41 RESTATEMENTS AND RECLASSIFICATIONS (continued)

Extracted from the Group’s consolidated income statement:
VND 

Code
Year ended 31 December 2016

As previously  
reported Adjustments As restated

51 Business income tax - current (64,546,248,179) (24,456,194,565) (89,002,442,744)

60 Net profit after tax 713,097,496,587 (24,456,194,565) 688,641,302,022

Attributable to

61 Owners of the parent company 710,101,428,166 685,645,233,601

62 Non-controlling interests 2,996,068,421 2,996,068,421

70 Earnings per share 6,993 4,485

71 Diluted earnings per share 6,993 4,485
 
Extracted from the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement:
   VND 

Code
Year ended 31 December 2016

As previously  
reported Adjustments As restated

09 Increase in receivables (50,484,464,869) 1,101,291,977 (49,383,172,892)

11 Increase in payables 148,910,533,083 (401,719,151) 148,508,813,932

20 Net cash inflows from operating 
activities 644,491,468,250 699,572,826 645,191,041,076

21 Purchases of fixed assets and 
other long-term assets (135,472,927,998) (699,572,826) (136,172,500,824)

30 Net cash outflows from investing 
activities (276,884,879,410) (699,572,826) (277,584,452,236)

      
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 12 March 2018.

  
Tran Ngoc Hien Ho Buu Huan Le Chanh Dao
Preparer  Chief Accountant Deputy General Director
  Authorised signatory 
  12 March 2018
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No. Name Address Tel Fax

19 Vinh Phuc 189 Phan Chu Trinh str., Khai Quang Ward,  
Vinh Yen City, Vinh Phuc. 0211. 3860 088 0211. 3721 052

20 Ninh Binh Resettlement zone of Electric factory, Trung Son str., 
Bich Dao Ward, Ninh Binh City, Ninh Binh 0229. 3896 772 0229. 3899 884

21 Thai Nguyen 97 Group 11, residential zone No. 6,  
Tuc Duyen Ward, Thai Nguyen City, Thai Nguyen 0208. 3652 299 0208. 3652 209

22 Thanh Hoa Lot 461 of Resettlement zone of Dong Tay avenue, 
Dong Ve Ward, Thanh Hoa City, Thanh Hoa 0237. 3853 120 0237.37222 213

23 Nghe An No. 06, 146B Hamlet, Nguyen Sy Sach str.,  
Hung Phuc Ward, Vinh City, Nghe An 0238. 3843 015 0238. 3523 363

24 Hue 153A Pham Van Dong str., Vy Da Ward,  
Hue City, Thua Thien Hue. 0234. 3813 479 0234. 3816 084

25 Da Nang 36-38 Trinh Dinh Thao str., Khue Trung Ward,  
Cam Le District, Da Nang 0236. 2242 406 0236. 6257 008

26 Quang Ngai 09 Le Thanh Ton str., Nghia Chanh Ward,  
Quang Ngai City, Quang Ngai 0255. 3823 266 0255. 3831 357

27 Binh Dinh Lot 1, Street 3, Bac Song Ha Thanh Area, Quy Nhon 
City, Binh Dinh 0256. 3793 768 0256. 3791 768

28 Gia Lai 179B CMT8 str., Group 10, Hoa Lu Ward,  
Pleiku City, Gia Lai 0269. 3887 080 0269. 3887 080

29 Dak Lak 23A Cong Quynh str., Tan An Ward,  
Buon Ma Thuot City, DakLak 0262. 3851 175 0262. 3843 084

30 Nha Trang 10A Me Linh str., Phuoc Tien Ward,  
Nha Trang City, Khanh Hoa 0258. 3513 137 0258. 3513 217

31 Binh Thuan 103 Phu Khanh Hamlet,  
Ham Thuan Nam Village, Binh Thuan 0252. 222 0 879 0252. 3898 050

32 Dong Nai 73 - 78 Group 7, Vo Thi Sau str.,  
Thong Nhat Ward, Bien Hoa City, Dong Nai 0251. 3825 167 0251. 3819 161

33 Binh Duong Lot 32 - 33 D11 str., Chanh Nghia urban area,  
Chanh Nghia Ward, Thu Dau Mot City, Binh Duong 0274. 3897 316 0274. 3842 351

34 Vung Tau 60 Nguyen Manh Ky str., Long Toan Ward,  
Ba Ria Town, Ba Ria - Vung Tau 0254. 3741 888 0254. 3741 968

35 Tay Ninh A24 Binh Hoa Hamlet, Thai Binh Ward,  
Tay Ninh City, Tay Ninh 0276. 6272 057 0276. 6272 075

36 Ho Chi Minh 37 Street 53, Quarter 2, Tan Quy Dong residential 
zone, Tan Phong Ward, District 7, Ho Chi Minh City 028. 3771 8799 028. 3771 8779

 

DISTRIBUTION SITES

No. Name Address Tel Fax

1 Hau Giang 82 Le Quy Don street, Area 1,  
Ward 3, Vi Thanh City, Hau Giang. 0293. 3876 409 0293. 3580 432

2 Ca Mau 5 - 7 Street 14, Ward 5,  
Ca Mau City, Ca Mau 0290. 3831 908 0290. 3811 587

3 Kien Giang G08-G09 Huynh Thuc Khang str.,  
Vinh Quang Ward, Rach Gia City, Kien Giang 0297. 3867 625 0297. 3946 344

4 Dong Thap 14 Nguyen Van Troi str., Ward 2,  
Cao Lanh City, Dong Thap 0277. 3854 837 0277. 3854 837

5 Soc Trang 649 Tran Hung Dao str., Cluster 8, Ward 3,  
Soc Trang City, Soc Trang 0299. 3625 151 0299. 3625 150

6 An Giang 288 Pham Cu Luong str., Tan Phu Cluster,  
My Quy Ward, Long Xuyen City, An Giang 0296. 3841 438 0296. 3944 664

7 Tien Giang 463A Nguyen Thi Thap str.,  
Ward 6, My Tho City, Tien Giang 0273. 6255 177 0273. 6255 176

8 Can Tho 13 Cach Mang Thang 8 str., An Thoi Ward,  
Binh Thuy Dist., Cantho City 0292. 6253 579 0292. 6253 539

9 Bac Lieu 6A Ba Huyen Thanh Quan str., Cluster 2,  
Ward 8, Bac Lieu City, Bac Lieu 0291. 3822 290 0291. 3956 156

10 Ben Tre 34D, Street 3, My Tan Quarter,  
Ward 7, Ben Tre City, Ben Tre 0275. 381.8529 0275.381.8529

11 Vinh Long 327C/23 Phuoc Nguon A Hamlet,  
Phuoc Hau Village, Long Ho Dist., Vinh Long 0270.385.3179 0270. 3853 179

12 Tra Vinh 77A Nguyen Dang str., Cluster 1,  
Ward 7, Tra Vinh City, Tra Vinh 0294. 3850 950 0294. 3850 950

13 Ha Noi Apartment N2 – 10, 89 Nguyen Van Troi str.,  
Phuong Liet Ward, Thanh Xuan Dist., Ha Noi 024. 36687 064 024. 36648 272

14 Hai Phong 91B Mang str., An Dong,  
An Duong Dist., Hai Phong City. 0225. 391 3638 0225. 391 3839

15 Hai Duong 229 Bui Thi Xuan str., Hai Tan Ward,  
Hai Duong City, Hai Duong 0220. 3550 079 0220. 3550 039

16 Nam Dinh 123 – 125 Truong Han Sieu str.,  
Hoa Vuong Quarter, Nam Dinh City, Nam Dinh 0228 3677 301 0228 3682 347

17 Thai Binh Lot 243 m2 Group 34, Tran Lam Ward,  
Thai Binh City, Thai Binh 0227. 3847 231 0227. 3641 433

18 Bac Ninh 39 Ly Dao Thanh str., Ninh Xa Ward,  
Bac Ninh City, Bac Ninh 0222. 3812 281 0222. 3812 281
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